
AB
AUDIT COMMITTEE

MONDAY 26 MARCH 2018
7.00 PM

Bourges/Viersen Room - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Head of Legal 
Services. 

3. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 12 February 2018 5 - 12

4. External Audit Progress Report 13 - 22

The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with a report on the 
progress of our audit of the Council’s 2017/18 statement of accounts.

5. Sector Update (2018 Q1 Audit Committee Briefing) 23 - 36

To provide the Committee with a Sector Update.

6. Changes to Constitution 37 - 102

The purpose of this report is to outline options for changes to Peterborough 
City Council’s constitution for Audit Committee to provide comments and 
opinion for recommendation to Full Council.

7. Consultant, Interim and Agency Worker Policy 103 - 120

The purpose of this report is to note and recommend for approval the 
revised Consultant Interim and Agency Worker Policy.

8. Risk Management - Strategic Risks 121 - 126

THE CHAIRMAN WILL ASSUME THAT MEMBERS HAVE READ THEIR PAPERS PRIOR 
TO THE MEETING TO AVOID UNNECESSARY INTRODUCTIONS TO REPORTS. IF ANY 
QUESTIONS ARE APPARENT FROM THE REPORTS THEY SHOULD BE PASSED TO 

THE REPORT AUTHOR PRIOR TO THE MEETING

Public Document Pack



To provide the Committee with an update on the role of the Risk 
Management Board.

9. Internal Audit Strategy, Charter and Audit Plan 127 - 164

The purpose of this report is to ensure that the Council reviews and agrees 
the audit activity for the next audit year. 

10. Review of Committee Effectiveness 165 - 186

To provide Members with details of an internal assessment of the operations 
of the Audit Committee against best practice.

11. Counter Fraud Policies 187 - 258

This report sets out the Councils approach to tackling fraud and corruption.

12. Annual Audit Committee Report 259 - 272

INFORMATION AND OTHER ITEMS

13. Use of Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)

The Committee is asked to NOTE that there have been no RIPA 
authorisations in this quarter.

14. Approved Write-Offs Exceeding £10,000

The Committee is asked to NOTE that there have been no approved write-
off amounts to report since 12 February 2018, which exceed the Council’s 
Financial Regulation threshold of £10,000.

15. Feedback Report 273 - 276

There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact Dan 
Kalley on 01733 296334 as soon as possible.

Did you know? All Peterborough City Council's meeting agendas are available 
online or via the modern.gov app. Help us achieve our environmental protection 
aspirations and view this agenda online instead of printing it. 

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is 
available at: 



http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recor
ding&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385  

Committee Members:

Councillors: S Nawaz, Mahabadi, D Over (Vice Chairman), Bull, Aitken (Chairman), K Sharp and 
A Shaheed

Substitutes: Councillors: R Ferris, Lillis, King and B Saltmarsh

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Dan Kalley on telephone 01733 
296334 or by email – daniel.kalley@peterborough.gov.uk

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385


This page is intentionally left blank



 

MINUTES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING
HELD AT 7:00PM, ON

MONDAY, 12 FEBRUARY 2018
BOURGES/VIERSEN ROOM, TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH

Present: Councillors Aitken (Chairman), Mahabadi, Casey, Over, S Nawaz, Shaheed 

Officers in
Attendance: Peter Carpenter, Service Director Financial Services

Steve Crabtree, Chief Internal Auditor
Ben Stevenson, Compliance Manager (Governance)
Fiona McMillan, Interim Director Law and Governance
Dan Kalley, Senior Democratic Services Officer

Also in 
Attendance: Suresh Patel, Director, Ernst & Young 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Bull and Councillor 
Seaton. Councillor Casey attended as substitute.

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

     No declarations of interest were received.

3. MINUTES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 20 
NOVEMBER 2017

The minutes of the meeting held on 20 November 2017 were agreed as a true 
and accurate record with the following amendments:

ITEM 30 - ERNST & YOUNG PROGRESS REPORT ON 2017/18 AUDIT 

That the following wording is amended from:

All the audit progress letters would appear on the Council’s web site.  Ernst & 
Young would be challenged by other auditing companies to ensure that the 
audit process for the Council was being conducted effectively.

To:

All the audit progress letters would appear on the Council’s web site.  Ernst & 
Young would be challenged by the FRC to ensure that the audit process for the 
Council was being conducted effectively.

5



 

And the following sentence changed from:

Anti-fraud risk assessments undertaken in regards to services which were 
outsourced such as payroll were captured in the external audit by ensuring that 
there had been no material misstatements.  

To:

Anti-fraud risk assessments undertaken in regards to services which were 
outsourced such as payroll were captured by external audit ensuring that there 
had been no material misstatements.  

And the following sentence changed from:

External contracts outside of the Council’s control such as academies or care 
providers would not show in Council’s accounts.

To:

External contracts outside of the Council’s control such as academies or 
foundation schools would not show in Council’s accounts.

ACTIONS FROM PREVIOUS MEETING:

Members were directed to the feedback report in relation to feedback on the 
HR IT Self-Serve strategy.

A briefing note was circulated to Members on the following actions under Item 
33:
1. A breakdown of the pre and post 2007/08 debt figures.
2.   A further breakdown of the supported and unsupported borrowing totals.
3.  An analysis of what loans entered into with the PWLB had been used for in 

order to identify the amount spent by highway, schools and rolling 
programme investments.

4. A full analysis on Private Finance Initiative funding.

With regards to the information around safeguarding assurance the Committee 
were informed that a number of mitigating actions had been taken including:

1) Implementation and continuing development of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Hub

2) Permanent team managers recruited across Childrens Services to provide 
continuity and permanent leadership team recruited to/in place - recruitment 
and retention package for social workers developed and to be implemented.

3) Scrutiny by the Children and Education Scrutiny Committee
4) Quality Assurance function strengthened and operating across Children’s and 

Adults Services
5) New Quality Improvement service established to support commissioned 

providers to improve practice.
6) Workforce Development training programme including targeted approach to 

build skills of team managers

6



 

7) Continued strengthening of Safeguarding children’s and adults boards, now 
covering both Cambridgeshire and Peterborough

8) Continuing focus of high priority areas including domestic violence, neglect and 
child sexual exploitation

4.   ERNST & YOUNG AUDIT PLAN FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

The Audit Committee received a report in relation to determining the audit 
approach and to identify any additional issues.

The Director of Ernst & Young introduced the report and requested the 
Committee to note the key risks set out by Ernst & Young and to note that the 
Public Sector Audit Appointments scale fee will apply unless additional work 
was requested. Members were informed that in terms of the risks to the 
Authority these had not altered significantly over the past year. The Committee 
were highlighted to the fact that one of the risks was the change in date to 
prepare and approve its accounts, which now needed to be in draft by 31 May 
2018 and signed off by 31 July 2018. Ernst and Young were confident that 
officers at Peterborough City Council would meet these new deadlines.

Members were directed to the Council’s Value for Money. Ernst and Young 
commented that the Council was taking action to address longer term financial 
resilience issues as identified in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

The Audit Committee debated the report and in summary, key points raised 
and responses to questions included:

● The Combined Authority had a separate auditing process to 
Peterborough. Members were informed that the statutory instruments 
within the Combined Authority had not yet been set up. It was 
therefore difficult at this time to ascertain how much information could 
be presented to Committee. 

● It was vital that Peterborough sat on as many of the Combined 
Authority Committee’s as possible to ensure Peterborough had a 
strong voice.

● The risk assessment graph as outlined in the report was the first time 
Ernst and Young had used information in this way. The matters 
identified as red were the most likely risks to Peterborough.

.

The Audit Committee considered and RESOLVED (Unanimously) to note the 
report. 

5.   CERTIFICATION OF CLAIMS AND RETURNS ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17 

The Audit Committee received a report in relation to the Grants Certification 
from 2016-17.

The purpose of the report was to introduce the certification of claims and returns 
annual report from Ernst & Young.

7



 

The Service Director Financial Services introduced the report and requested 
that Members note the report. The Committee were informed that the Council 
was to receive the full housing benefit subsidy. It was essential that internal 
processes were looked into and improved were necessary.

The Audit Committee debated the report and in summary, key points raised 
and responses to questions included:

● Certification could be done in house, however an external accountant 
would need check to ensure the processes were followed correctly.

● The sampling methodology was determined nationally. In terms of 
learning the external auditors do provide feedback to Council officers 
and expect improvements to be made if advised. In terms of 
performance against other authorities Peterborough is on par with 
other similar unitaries.

● Officers were looking at doing the certification in house, however this 
would need to be looked at in terms of the contract with Serco.

The Audit Committee considered and RESOLVED (Unanimously) to note the 
report.

6.   INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2018/2019: PLANNING APPROACH AND 
EMERGING THEMES 

The Audit Committee received a report in relation to the Internal Audit Plan 
2018/19.

The purpose of the report was to provide Members with an update on progress 
in developing the plan.

The Chief Internal Auditor introduced the report and requested Members to 
note the contents. Members were informed that the plan would be brought back 
to Committee in March.  

The Audit Committee debated the report and in summary, key points raised 
and responses to questions included:

● There was currently one vacancy that needed to be filled, once this 
had been filled it would be reflected in the Internal Audit Plan.

● Brexit had not be noted as an issue within the plan, however this could 
be added as an issue on discussion with Members, along with a 
number of other potential issues.

The Audit Committee considered and RESOLVED (Unanimously) to note the 
report.

7.   CONSULTATION ON 2018/19 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

The Audit Committee received a report in relation to the consultation on the 
2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy.

8



 

The purpose of the report was to review and approve the 2018/19 Treasury 
Management Strategy before being approved as part of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy at Full Council in March 2018.  

The Service Director Financial Services introduced the report and requested 
the Committee, who saw draft in November, noted that the additions apart from 
the completed figures were set out in sections 4 and 5 of the covering report. 
The Committee was informed that a Capital Review Group had been setup with 
Officers to look at the capital programme and borrowing. Members were 
informed that membership of this group would be expanded in the future, date 
to be confirmed, to involve Councillors. The aim of the Council was to bring the 
capital programme down to make sure services were deliverable.

The Audit Committee debated the report and in summary, key points raised and 
responses to questions included:

● There was no guarantee from any of the banks that they would have 
enough capital to deal with any major financial issues.

● The Council was close to getting back the final monies from the 
Icelandic Bank crash. The Council would only deal with banks that had 
the same rating as country and were UK banks. 

● The Council would be precluded from using companies such as 
bitcoin as this was seen as a form of gambling.

● Members were advised that the Council did have a risk matrix setting 
out treasury management issues and the monitoring of them.

● In terms of investment strategies members would be asked a series of 
questions to ascertain possible investment strategies going forward.

● There would need to be a look at the Capital Programme to see if 
there would be a strong business case to borrow to deliver council 
objectives.

● Officers had not yet looked into a local currency system, but that is 
something that could be explored further.

● Officers would set up a Training Session on investments, banking, and 
risk for the committee.

The Audit Committee considered and RESOLVED (Unanimous) to approve 
and note the report.

AGREED ACTIONS

1. Members of the Audit Committee to be invited to sit on any Capital 
Review Group once it was expanded further than the present Officer 
base.

 
8.   CONSULTATION ON 2018/19 ASSET INVESTMENT STRATEGY

The Audit Committee received a report in relation to the consultation on 
2018/19 Asset Management Strategy.

The purpose of the report was to review and approve the Asset Management 
Strategy 2018/19. 

9



 

The Service Director Financial Services introduced the report and asked 
Members to review and comment on the draft 2018/19 Asset Management 
Strategy (AMS). This had been simplified over the past year and highlighted 
principles and how funding had been maximised. The report set out how the 
Council was going to manage, evaluate and approve projects.

The Audit Committee debated the report and in summary, key points raised 
and responses to questions included:

● The Council spend most of its money on school places, roads, waste 
management and ICT. There had been little in the way of investments, 
however the Council had been looking at ways of increasing this. 

● It was the Council’s priority to obtain other sources of funding before 
using the Council’s own resources.

● With the advances in IT and social media it was now easier to be kept 
updated on central government funding streams and opportunities.

● It was important to foster good relationships with government 
departments and to make sure that Peterborough had a strong voice 
on Combined Authority committees.

● It was important to look at investing money in the city that will attract 
big businesses to Invest money. There were unique selling points to 
achieve this, such as super-fast broadband.

The Audit Committee considered and RESOLVED (Unanimously) to approve 
and note the draft 2018/19 Asset Management Strategy.

INFORMATION AND OTHER ITEMS

9.   USE OF REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA)

The Compliance Manager (Governance) introduced the report and confirmed 
that RIPA was not often used. The use in this case related to fly-tipping and the 
use of cameras in a known hotspot. Members were informed that nothing was 
caught on camera on this occasion. In addition the Committee were informed 
that the policy was to be reviewed and brought back to Committee.

The Audit Committee debated the report and in summary, key points raised 
and responses to questions included:

● In terms of drug usage this would be better served being investigated 
by the Police.

● The cost of using cameras versus using enforcement officers would be 
investigated.

The Audit Committee considered and RESOLVED (Unanimously) to note the 
report.

AGREED ACTIONS:

1. To ascertain the cost of using RIPA and cameras for the fly-tipping 
investigation.

10



 

10.   APPROVED WRITE-OFFS EXCEEDING £10,000

The Service Director Financial Services introduced the report and confirmed 
the write off was less than 0.3 % of the total debt raised for the period. Members 
were informed that Peterborough had delivered the highest in year collection 
rate increase between 2015/16 and 2016/17 for non-domestic rates for our 
Local Authority comparator group.

Members were informed that bankruptcy was the biggest reason for unclaimed 
debts. In addition the Committee were informed that a more regular report into 
unclaimed debt would be provided and that the Council was looking at 
becoming more proactive in collecting debt.

The Audit Committee considered and RESOLVED (Unanimously) to note the 
report.

 11.   FEEDBACK REPORT
 

The Audit Committee considered and RESOLVED (Unanimously) to note the 
report.

12.   WORK PROGRAMME

The Audit Committee RESOLVED (Unanimously) to note the report.

              
 7:00pm – 8.10pm       

                      Chairman

11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 4

DATE: 26 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Ernst & Young
Contact Officer(s): Kay McClennon, Manager, Government and Public Sector 

Audit
Tel. 01223 
394403

EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Kay McClennon, Manager, Government and Public 
Sector Audit

Deadline date: N/A

     It is recommended that the Audit Committee:

1. Notes the report from EY

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Board under its terms of reference.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with a report on the progress of our audit 
of the Council’s 2017/18 statement of accounts and is part of our commitment to ensuring that 
our audit is aligned with the Committee’s service expectations. 

2.2 This report is for the Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 2.2.1.5

To consider the external auditors annual letter, relevant reports and the report to those charged 
with governance.

and Terms of Reference No. 2.2.1.7

To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives value for money

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 Our 2017/18 Audit Plan was presented at the February 2018 committee.

13



This page is intentionally left blank

14



Peterborough City Council
Audit Progress Report

March 2018

15



14 March 2018

Dear Members of the Audit Committee

This document provides the Committee with a report on the progress of our audit of the
Council’s 2017/18 statement of accounts and is part of our commitment to ensuring that
our audit is aligned with the Committee’s service expectations.

Our 2017/18 Audit Plan was presented at the February 2018 committee.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss this report with you as well as understand whether
there are other matters which you consider may influence our audit.

Yours faithfully

Suresh Patel
Associate Partner

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

United Kingdom

16



Executive Summary01

17



Executive Summary

1

► We audit the Council’s Statement of Accounts in line with the NAO Code of Audit Practice (the
Code), the Statement of Responsibilities issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA)
Ltd, auditing standards and other professional requirement.

► We presented our audit plan to the Audit Committee in February 2018, which detailed the
significant risks related to our opinion audit.

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 introduced a significant change in statutory deadlines
from the FY18 financial year.  From that year the timetable for the preparation and approval of
accounts will be brought forward with draft accounts needing to be prepared by 31 May 2018 and
the publication of the audited accounts by 31 July 2018. As an update to our plan which was
presented in February, we no longer consider faster close as a risk at the Council; but it will
continue to be an area of additional audit focus.

Following the completion of the FY17 audit we met with the finance team to identify what worked
well and areas for improvement. We also agreed areas of focus for supporting the achievement of
the earlier deadlines, and we presented at the Council’s closure workshop in January.

Our planned interim audit work in January-March 2018, comprised:
► Undertaking walkthroughs of key financial systems and test of controls where applicable.

► Early work on valuations and depreciation, accounting policies, month 1 to 9 testing of income
and expenditure, payroll sampling, and other areas that the finance team made available for an
early audit. We are still completing some work on valuations and depreciation,  I&E testing,
payroll and capital grants. However we have completed other areas including assessment of the
requirement for group accounts, accounting policies, VFM planning and exit packages.

► Early use of analytics, to enable us to capture whole populations of your financial data, in
particular journal entries. Analytics help identify specific exceptions and anomalies which we
can then focus substantive audit tests.

We have agreed with the finance team to commence the final accounts audit visit on 14 May 2018.

Audit of the statement of accounts

In December we completed our planning
procedures for the 2017/18 (FY18) audit,
comprising:
► Meetings with key staff to discuss the

significant risks facing the Council; and

► Updating our understanding of the Council and
its business.

The work we undertake at the planning stage
informs our approach to the opinion audit and our
value for money conclusion as set out in our audit
plan. We issued the audit plan for discussion with
officers in December 2017, and we presented it to
the subsequent Audit Committee in February
2018.

The plan included our assessment of the
significant risks related to our 2017/18 audit.

Audit Planning

As part of our planning procedures, we consider
the Council’s significant risks in respect of value
for money arrangements.
We anticipate that the budget pressures facing the
Council will be a significant risk and we will
complete appropriate procedures to understand
the Council’s arrangements for managing the
associated risks.

Value for money conclusion

18



2 | P a g e

Timetable02

19



Timetable

3

Audit phase Timetable Deliverables

Fee letter April 2017 Fee letter (issued 20 April 2017)

Planning, risk assessment and
setting of scopes

November – December 2017 Audit plan (presented to February 2018 committee)

Walk through of processes, and early
accounts audit work

January – March 2018 Interim report (by exception)

Value for money conclusion March 2018 Interim report (by exception)

Year-end audit May - June 2018 Audit results report (to those charged with governance) in July 2018.
Audit report (including our opinion on the financial statements and a conclusion as
to whether the Council has put in place proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources).
Audit completion certificate
Whole of government accounts submission to NAO based on their group audit
instructions (deadline still to be confirmed).

Reporting October 2018 Annual audit letter

Grants reporting January 2019 Grants Certification report

► We have set out below a timetable showing the key stages of the audit, including the value for money work and the whole of government accounts, and
the deliverables we have agreed to provide to you through the 2017/18 Audit Committee cycle.

► We will provide formal reports to the Audit Committee throughout our audit process as outlined below. From time to time matters may arise that
require immediate communication with the Audit Committee and we will discuss them with the Audit Committee Chair as appropriate.

► Following the conclusion of our audit we will prepare an Annual Audit Letter in order to communicate to the Council and external stakeholders, including
members of the public, the key issues arising from our work.

Resources and Finance Committee timeline

20



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies the
world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to deliver on
our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, we play a
critical role in building a better working world for our people, for
our clients and for our communities.

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or more,
of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each of
which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a UK
company limited by guarantee, does not provide services to
clients. For more information about our organization, please visit
ey.com.

© 2017 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes only and is not
intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other professional advice. Please refer
to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

21



T
his page is intentionally left blank

22



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 5

DATE: 26 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Ernst & Young
Contact Officer(s): Kay McClennon, Manager, Government and Public Sector 

Audit
Tel. 01223 
394403

SECTOR UPDATE (2018 Q1 AUDIT COMMITTEE BRIEFING)

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Kay McClennon, Manager, Government and Public 
Sector Audit

Deadline date: N/A

     It is recommended that the Audit Committee:

1. Notes the briefing from EY

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Board under its terms of reference.
  

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 This sector briefing is one of the ways that we support you and your organisation in an 
environment that is constantly changing and evolving. It covers issues which may have an 
impact on your organisation, the Local Government sector, and the audits that we undertake.

The briefings are produced by our public sector audit specialists within EY’s national 
Government and Public Sector (GPS) team, using our public sector knowledge, and EY’s wider 
expertise across UK and international business. 

The briefings bring together not only technical issues relevant to the Local Government sector 
but wider matters of potential interest to you and your organisation.

Links to where you can find out more on any of the articles featured can be found at the end of 
the briefing.  We hope that you find the briefing informative and should this raise any issues that 
you would like to discuss further, please contact your local audit team. 

2.2 This report is for the Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 2.2.1.5

To consider the external auditors annual letter, relevant reports and the report to those charged 
with governance.

and Terms of Reference No. 2.2.1.7

To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives value for money

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

23



This page is intentionally left blank

24



Local 
Government 
Audit Committee 
Briefing

25



Contents 
at a glance

Government and 
economic news 

2

Accounting, 
auditing and 
governance

4

Regulation 
news

7

Key questions 
for the Audit 
Committee

8

Find out 
more

8

26



1 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

This sector briefing is one of 
the ways that we support you 
and your organisation in an 
environment that is constantly 
changing and evolving.

It covers issues which may have an impact on your 
organisation, the Local Government sector, and 
the audits that we undertake.

The briefings are produced by our public sector 
audit specialists within EY’s national Government 
and Public Sector (GPS) team, using our public 
sector knowledge, and EY’s wider expertise across 
UK and international business. 

The briefings bring together not only technical 
issues relevant to the Local Government sector 
but wider matters of potential interest to you and 
your organisation.

Links to where you can find out more on any of 
the articles featured can be found at the end of 
the briefing. 

We hope that you find the briefing informative 
and should this raise any issues that you would 
like to discuss further, please contact your local 
audit team.

27



2 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

Will the UK economy hold up as Brexit nears?
The latest forecast from the EY Item Club highlights that UK 
GDP growth in 2017 was 1.8%, which was better than expected. 
However, it does compare unfavourably with 2017 GDP growth 
of 2.5% for the Eurozone, 2.3% for the US and an estimated 
3.0% globally.

The momentum from 2017, an improving outlook for consumer 
spending, and the increased likelihood of a near-term Brexit 
transition arrangements are expected to support UK growth this 
year. With this, we have nudged up our UK GDP forecast for 2018 
to 1.7%, up from the 1.4% we predicted in our Autumn forecast in 
October last year.

However, further out, the UK’s limited productivity performance 
and ongoing Brexit and political uncertainties will see the UK 
achieve only mid-range growth. With this, we have slightly reduced 
our GDP growth projections for 2019 to 1.7% (down from 1.8%), 
1.9% for 2020 (down from 2.0%), and 2.0% for 2021 (down from 
2.2%). Although we have modestly downgraded our expectation of 
the UK’s productivity performance, it remains more optimistic than 
the Office for Budget Responsibility’s latest forecast. Specifically, 
we forecast output per hour to rise 0.9% in 2018 and then 1.3% 
annually during 2019–2021.

Much depends on how the Brexit negotiations develop. 
The expectation is that the UK and EU will make sufficient 
progress to agree a transition arrangement lasting at least two 
years, from late March 2019. Since this will have to be ratified 
across the EU, agreement essentially needs to be reached by 
October 2018. Progress towards a transition deal in late 2018 
should support business confidence and a gradual pick-up in 
investment, helping GDP growth accelerate.

Provisional 2018–19 Local Government 
Finance Settlement
On 19th December 2017 the Government set out the provisional 
funding plan for the 2018–19 financial year, which will be the third 
year of the four year multi-year settlement that was accepted 
by 97% of local authorities. The main themes of the provisional 
settlement were:

Council tax referendum principles — as a result of the financial 
settlement consultation process the government has decided to 
set the core referendum principle at 3% in 2018–19 and 2019–20, 
to match the higher than expected inflation. This change will give 
local authorities more flexibility in deciding how money will be 
raised to offset the increasing financial pressures and demand on 
services. Shire district councils will be allowed an increase of 3% 
or £5 whichever is higher.

Government and 
economic news

28



3 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

Continuation of the adult social care precept principle of a 2% 
increase, with the additional flexibility in 2018–19 to increase the 
precept by an additional 1%, from 2% to 3%, provided that the total 
increase across the three years 2017–18 to 2019–20 does not 
exceed 6%.

Analysis by the Local Government Association has estimated that 
the impact of increased flexibility in council tax precepts could be 
worth up to £540mn to local authorities by 2019–20. However 
local services are facing a total funding gap of £5.8bn in 2019–20. 
Therefore, the increased powers to raise council tax are not 
sufficient to meet the future funding gap.

Business rate retention — the Government’s continued intention 
to reform local government financing in the future by allowing 
authorities to retain a greater percentage of business rates instead 
of receiving certain grants (including RSG, public health grant) 
direct from central government. By 2020–21 it is estimated that 
the business rate retention across the local government system 
would be 75%, compared to the current level of 50% retention. 
It was also announced that the 100% business rates retention 
pilot schemes were going to be expanded to include a further 
10 local authorities. 

New homes bonus — since inception the new home bonus has 
allocated £7bn to local authorities to encourage the building of 
over 1.2 million new homes. The Government has decided to 
continue to set the national baseline (below which no bonus will 
be paid) at 0.4% for 2018/19. The national baseline represents 
the annual growth of Band D properties within a local authority 
above which the new homes bonus will be awarded. Government 
retained the option to adjust the baseline in future years based on 
housing statistics as reported through council tax base figures. 
This stability will provide some security for district authorities who 
have based their growth strategy on the New Homes Bonus.

Carillion liquidation
Major public sector building and support services contractor 
Carillion plc went into compulsory liquidation on 15 January 2018. 
Carillion’s sudden collapse is being felt across the country as a 
range of public services, from road building to school meals, have 
been unexpectedly terminated in a number of local authorities. 

The full extent of the affected services is yet to be determined 
as local authorities discuss existing contracts with the Official 
Receiver. Local authorities are implementing contingency plans 
where possible, including either finding alternative contractors 
or taking services back in house. For example the response from 
Oxfordshire County Council in relation to the provision of school 
meals at 90 schools supplied by Carillion was to guarantee 
Carillion staff who worked in schools that the county council would 
ensure that they were paid.

Although the Government has pledged that public services ‘will 
be protected’ after Carillion’s collapse, it is unclear how or when 
funding from central Government will be made available to the 
affected local authorities.

Public sector pay
Since 2013, the Government has implement a policy of a 1% 
annual pay increase cap for public sector workers; which was 
estimated to have saved approximately £5bn by 2019–20. In 
the Autumn Budget 2017 the Government confirmed the end of 
the 1% pay increase policy. Therefore from 2018–19, pay review 
bodies will be able award pay increases of greater than 1% as they 
determine to be appropriate. After the long freeze in real terms of 
public sector pay future increases above 1% have been welcomed; 
and it is thought that this has been needed to retain talent with in 
the public domain. However, this will be an additional cost pressure 
for local authorities that will require financing.

The national employers, who negotiate pay on behalf of 350 local 
authorities, suggested that most employees with salaries over 
£19,430 should receive a 2% increase for 2018–19 and a further 
2% for 2019–20. Lower salaried workers will received higher 
increases based on hourly pay; from £7.78 to £9.00 in April 2019 
and increase equivalent to 15.65%. National employers have said 
this would add another 5.6% to the national pay bill over the two 
years to 2020.

29



4 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

Accounting, 
auditing and 
governance

IFRS 15 — revenue from contracts 
with customers
The new revenue standard, IFRS 15, creates a single source of 
revenue requirements for all entities in all industries and is a 
significant departure from legacy IFRS. The new standard applies 
to revenue from contracts with customers and replaces all of the 
legacy revenue standards and interpretations in IFRS, including 
IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue. 

IFRS 15 is principles-based but provides more application guidance 
and increased judgement. IFRS 15 also specifies the accounting 
treatment for certain items not typically thought of as revenue, 
such as certain costs associated with obtaining and fulfilling a 
contract and the sale of certain non-financial assets. The new 
standard will have little effect on some entities, but will require 
significant changes for others.

The standard describes the principles an entity must apply 
to measure and recognise revenue. The core principle is that 
an entity will recognise revenue at an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring goods or services.

The principles in IFRS 15 are applied using the following five steps:

1. Identify the contract(s) with a customer

2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract

3. Determine the transaction price

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations 
in the contract

5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity 
satisfies a performance

Entities will need to exercise judgement when considering the 
terms of the contract(s) and all of the facts and circumstances, 
including implied contract terms. Entities will also have to apply 
the requirements of the standard consistently to contracts with 
similar characteristics and in similar circumstances.

The 2018/19 Code of practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom (the Code) will determine how IFRS 15 
revenue from customers with contracts will be adopted by local 
government bodies. The 2018/19 Code will apply to accounting 
periods starting on or after 1 April 2018 but has not yet been 
published. The CIPFA/LASAAC Local Authority Accounting Code 

30



5 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

Board met on 6 June 2017 and discussed the implication of 
IFRS 15 on Local Government entities. The minutes of this meeting 
corroborate our view that for most entities income streams from 
contracts with customers are likely to be immaterial. The vast 
majority of income streams are taxation or grant based which do 
not fall within the scope of IFRS 15 as they are not contractually 
based revenue from customers. 

However, this may not always be the case for some smaller English 
authorities or authorities where there is a high public interest in 
commercial activities. The following income streams are within the 
scope of IFRS 15 and will need special consideration if they are 
material to the users of the financial statements: 

 ► Fees and charges for services under statutory requirements 

 ► Sale of goods provided by the authority 

 ► Charges for services provided by a local authority 

EY — CIPFA Accounts Closedown Workshop 
2017–18
EY and CIPFA Financial Advisory Network (FAN) are continuing to 
work in partnership to deliver a programme of accounts closedown 
workshops to support local government finance professionals 
across the country with separate events for police bodies and 
English, Welsh and Scottish local authorities. The workshop 
programme covers the key changes impacting on the production 
of the 2017/18 financial statements and the outcomes of the 
‘telling the story’ changes to the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in 2016/17. Looking forward there are 
significant changes to IFRS that will come through in the 2018/19 
Code and later, so the workshops are also focused on the key risks 
in relation to the new Financial Instruments standard IFRS 9 and 
other future expected changes in the Code with potential to impact 
on the General Fund and the HRA. These workshops also aim to 
prepare local authority finance staff for a ‘faster, smarter and 
more accurate’ accounts closedown for 2017–18. 

By the end of this May, your local authority will need to publish 
its unaudited statement of accounts and publish audited 
accounts by the end of July. These changes provide risks for 

both the preparers and the auditors of the financial statements. 
Local Authorities will now have less time to prepare the financial 
statements and supporting working papers. As your auditor, 
we have a more significant peak in our audit work and a shorter 
period to complete the audit. Risks for auditors relate to delivery 
of all audits within same compressed timetable. Failure to meet 
a deadline at one client could potentially put delivery of others 
at risk.

To mitigate this risk we will require:

 ► Good quality draft financial statements and supporting working 
papers by the agreed deadline

 ► Appropriate staff to be available throughout the agreed 
audit period

 ► Complete and prompt responses to audit questions

If your authority is unable to meet key dates within our agreed 
timetable, we will notify you of the impact on the timing of your 
audit, which may be that we postpone your audit until later 
in the summer and redeploy the team to other work to meet 
deadlines elsewhere.

Of the 150 authorities we audit, we currently consider that around 
a quarter have left themselves a significant amount of work to do 
to get there and are running a real risk of missing the deadline 
because they will not have quality draft accounts and supporting 
evidence ready for their auditors by the end of May. 

In addition to our workshops with CIPFA, we have held events 
in each of our local offices and gathered insights from over 100 
practitioners and their local audit teams on the importance of what 
finance teams and auditors each need to do, and collaboratively, 
to achieve a successful faster closure. We have put together a 
comprehensive list of actions to streamline processes, work more 
collaboratively with their auditors and draw on EY’s analytics and 
innovative audit approach to achieve faster close. We include a 
summary below.

31



6 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

Summary of faster close activities
Finance teams are:

 ► Critically appraising the content of their accounts, removing 
unnecessary disclosures

 ► Closing the ledger earlier and encouraging greater discipline 
across the authority to comply with deadlines for accruals

 ► Preparing discrete sections of the accounts (e.g., narrative 
report and remuneration notes) and associated working papers 
earlier to facilitate early audit work

 ► Focusing on judgements and significant estimates earlier 
including engagement with auditors

 ► Reviewing the de-minimis level for accruals, including 
discussion with auditors

 ► Conducting a hard close for monthly reconciliations e.g., bank 
reconciliations, feeder systems, etc., with a zero-tolerance to 
reconciling items over a month old

 ► Undertaking weekly cut-off testing in April to ensure that the 
accounts are complete, retaining the evidence in case that item 
is selected for audit testing

Auditors are:

 ► Meeting regularly with finance staff, sharing details of the 
audit approach, agreeing a planned timetable of tasks, 
communicating changes and providing clarity on what is 
expected and when

 ► Bringing forward testing to reduce the amount needed to do 
in the summer. In particular, valuation of land and building and 
other high risk areas

 ► Increasing the use of analytics to interrogate ledger and payroll 
transaction data

 ► Using the online EY client portal to streamline communications 
with finance teams

 ► Attending workshops with finance teams on accounting issues 
and effective working papers

 ► Selecting items for sample testing earlier

Together finance teams and auditors are:

 ► Holding regular meetings throughout the year to share 
progress and discuss issues

 ► Planning respective activities to ensure sufficient capacity on 
both sides

 ► Revisiting audit issues from the prior year, agreeing how 
similar issues can be avoided

 ► Ensuring the client assistance schedule is 
appropriately tailored

We have produced a faster close briefing checklist that you can use 
to ensure that you are doing all you can, alongside working with 
us, to achieve the accelerated timetable. For more information 
please contact your local engagement lead.

32



7 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

Regulation 
news

EU General Data Protection Regulation: 
are you ready? 
On 17 December 2015, after more than three years of 
negotiations and several draft versions of the General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR), an informal agreement was reached 
between the European Parliament and Council of the European 
Union. The GDPR is a significant change for organisations. It 
introduces more stringent and prescriptive data protection 
compliance challenges, backed by fines of up to 4% of global 
annual revenue. The regulation replaces Directive 95/46/EC, 
which has been the basis of European data protection law since it 
was introduced in 1995. 

The Regulation has a significant impact on organisations in all 
sectors, bringing with it both positive and negative changes in 
terms of cost and effort. 

Key changes proposed by the EU GDPR include:

 ► Regulators can impose fines of up to 4% of total annual 
worldwide turnover or €20,000,000

 ► Data Protection Officers (DPOs) — DPOs must be appointed if 
an organisation conducts large scale systematic monitoring or 
processes large amounts of sensitive personal data 

 ► Accountability — organisations must prove they are 
accountable by establishing a culture of monitoring data 
processing procedures, minimising data retention and building 
safeguards, and documenting data processing procedures

 ► Organisations must undertake Privacy Impact Assessments 
when conducting risky or large scale processing of personal data

 ► Consent to process data must be freely given, explicit and 
individuals must be informed of their right to withdraw 
their consent

 ► Organisations must notify supervisory authorities of data 
breaches ‘without undue delay’ or within 72 hours, unless the 
breach is unlikely to be a risk to individuals

 ► Introduction of new rights — right to be forgotten, right to data 
portability and right to object to profiling

 ► Organisations should design data protection into the 
development of business processes and new systems and 
privacy setting should be set a high level by default

 ► Data processors become an officially regulated entity

Whilst organisations may welcome the harmonisation of laws 
across the 28 EU member states which will make the complex data 
protection landscape easier to navigate, the introductions of new 
rights for individuals are likely to increase the regulatory burden 
for organisations.

Organisations need to review their current data protection 
compliance programmes to determine next steps and decide on 
the level of investment they need to make before 2018 to address 
the changes.

Organisations need to act now to ensure that they are ready 
to comply with the new Regulation when it comes into force on 
25 May 2018.

33



8 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

Key questions for the Audit Committee
Has your local Authority considered the changes to council 
tax flexibilities into the 2018–19 budget And the impact of 
changes to business rate retention into your Medium Term 
Financial Strategy? 

Has your local authority been affected by the collapse of 
Carillion plc? How have contingency plans been implemented 
to maintain public services? What (if any) is the local 
authority’s financial exposure to this event?

Has your local authority included in its budget any likely 
increases of employee wages above 1%?

Has your Authority considered how IFRS 15 might impact your 
revenue streams?

How has the local authority prepared for the accelerated 
accounts closedown timetable for 2017–18?

Has the Authority considered the implications of the new 
GDPR, and is the Authority confident that it comply with its 
requirements when it comes into force?

Find out more
EY ITEM Club Forecast

http://www.ey.com/uk/en/issues/business-environment/financial-
markets-and-economy/item---forecast-headlines-and-projections 

2018–19 Local Government Finance Settlement

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/provisional-local-
government-finance-settlement-england-2018-to-2019 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/669538/LGFS_consultation_2018-19.pdf

https://www.local.gov.uk/parliament/briefings-and-responses/
provisional-local-government-finance-settlement-201819-day 

http://www.cipfa.org/about-cipfa/press-office/archived-press-
releases/2017-press-releases/cipfa-responds-to-the-provisional-
local-government-finance-settlement?crdm=0 

Carillion collapse

http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2018/01/public-sector-
looks-ways-plug-gap-left-carillion

http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2018/01/public-services-
will-be-protected-after-carillion-collapse

Public sector pay

http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-
8037/CBP-8037.pdf

http://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2017/12/local-employers-
issue-2-pay-offer-each-next-two-years

IFRS 15 — revenue from contracts with customers

http://www.ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/ey-applying-revenue-
october-2017/$FILE/ey-applying-revenue-october-2017.pdf

EY — CIPFA Accounts Closedown Workshop 2017–18

For Faster Close Activities Checklist: please contact your local 
engagement lead

For a full list of locations and dates available search for 
‘Accounts Closedown Workshop’ at http://www.cipfa.org/training

34



9 Local Government Audit Committee Briefing

35



EY  |  Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory services. 
The insights and quality services we deliver help build trust and confidence 
in the capital markets and in economies the world over. We develop 
outstanding leaders who team to deliver on our promises to all of our 
stakeholders. In so doing, we play a critical role in building a better 
working world for our people, for our clients and for our communities.

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer to one or more, of 
the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, each of which is a 
separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global Limited, a UK company limited 
by guarantee, does not provide services to clients. For more information 
about our organization, please visit ey.com. 

Ernst & Young LLP
The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales 
with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, More London Place, London, SE1 2AF.

© 2018 Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK.  
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

EY-000055804.indd (UK) 02/18. Artwork by Creative Services Group London.

In line with EY’s commitment to minimise its impact on the environment, this document 
has been printed on paper with a high recycled content.

Information in this publication is intended to provide only a general outline of the subjects covered. 
It should neither be regarded as comprehensive nor sufficient for making decisions, nor should it 
be used in place of professional advice. Ernst & Young LLP accepts no responsibility for any loss 
arising from any action taken or not taken by anyone using this material.

ey.com/uk

36



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 6

26 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Fiona McMillan, Interim Director of Law and Governance
Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Seaton, Cabinet Member for Resources

Contact Officer(s): Pippa Turvey, Democratic and Constitutional Services 
Manager

Tel. 452460

CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Governance Board Deadline date: N/A

     It is recommended that Audit Committee recommend that Council approve:

1. The updated Petitions Scheme set out in Appendix 1 to the report.

2. Changes to Council Standing Orders set out in Appendix 2 to the report.

3. Changes to the Combined Authority Questioning Protocol set out in Appendix 3 to the 
report.

4. Changes to the Member Officer Protocol set out in Appendix 4 to the report.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Audit Committee in anticipation of the matters being considered 
and referred by the Governance Board.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to outline options for changes to Peterborough City Council’s 
constitution for Audit Committee to provide comments and opinion for recommendation to Full 
Council.

2.2 This report is for Audit to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 2.2.1.10 ‘To maintain an 
overview of the Council’s constitution with the exception of those matters under the remit of the 
Executive or a regulatory committee.’

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

N/A

37



4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

Petitions Scheme

4.1 The process for the debate of petitions at Full Council added into the Petitions Scheme by Council 
on 26 June 2017. Since this time the debate procedure has been followed twice, regarding 
Rhubarb Bridge and a 20mph speed limit in Werrington.

4.2 The current process sets out that a petition will be debated and then, once debate is finished, 
proposals will be sought from the relevant Cabinet Member, and then alternative proposals 
sought from the floor. Each proposal will then be voted on in turn until one is agreed.

4.3 This is at odds with the normal debate procedure of the Council (and generally), which requires 
a motion or proposal to be moved and seconded prior to any debate.

4.4 As such, it is proposed to amend the Petitions Scheme to reflect this existing debate procedure. 
This will ensure that Members and the public can more easily follow petition debate within the 
context of a Council meeting. 

4.5 The procedure proposed involves the Petition opening the item with a five minutes address to 
Council. The relevant Cabinet Member will then move a proposal, which will be seconded. The 
Mayor will then open the floor to any alternative proposals. The proposals will be debated and 
voted upon in the order they were received until a proposal is agreed.

Questions on the Combined Authority

4.6 Following Annual Council in 2017 it was agreed that a report would be submitted to each Council 
meeting outlining the decisions taken by the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined 
Authority Board and Committees in the intervening period. 

4.7 Members would have the opportunity to ask questions without notice of the Combined Authority 
representatives on the decisions made. Separately, Members also have the ability to ask 
questions on notice of Combined Authority representatives on any matter within their remit.
 

4.8 After an initial six month period these arrangements are to be reviewed.

4.9 The questions on notice provision has been utilised six times in the past six months. The 
questions without notice provision has also been utilised six times in the past six months.

4.10 It is suggested that the questions in relation to the Combined Authority be amalgamated going 
forward. Members would still be provided with a report of all the decisions taken by the Combined 
Authority to note at the Council meeting. This report would be included in the agenda, in full.

4.11 Members would be able to submit questions on notice prior to the meeting. The deadline for 
submission falls after the publication of the the agenda. Questions can be submitted on any area 
within the Combined Authority remit, whether this is the subject of previous decision or not.

4.12 This amendment is suggested in order to ensure that the answers provided to Members at the 
meeting are as comprehensive as possible. Answers to questions that have been provided with 
notice will have had greater opportunity to develop their answers for a more robust response.

Full Council Public Speakers

4.13 Peterborough City Council’s Constitution currently requires any members of the public wishing 
to ask a question at Council to provide notice of their question to officers by 12noon five working 
days before the meeting. 

4.14 The question asking public are permitted three minutes in which to put their question. This time 
is often used to provide Members with background information surrounding their question.

38



4.15 It is suggested that the Council’s Standing Orders are amended to require members of the public 
to provide their preamble alongside their question. This would ensure that those Members 
answering questions are given the full context of the issue and can cover all arising issues when 
responding. 

4.16 No changes are proposed to the rules in relation to supplementary questions.

Voting Procedure

4.17 A simple change is proposed to the Council’s Standing Orders to reflect the new use of the 
electronic voting system. This will retain the ability to use a ‘show of hands’ system should the 
electronic system fail.

4.18 Also included, following an agreed motion at by Council, is the additional standing order that all 
votes cast using the electronic voting system be taken as recorded votes. This change to the 
standing orders can be approved as a consequential change by the Monitoring Officer, as it has 
already been agreed by Council. It is included here for context and completeness.

Time Limits for Motion Debates

4.19 In order to preserve the flow of the meeting and ensure that all items are able to be discussed in 
a meeting, it is proposed to add the following time limits to debates on motions on notice:

● 30 minutes for each individual Motion on Notice
● 2 hours for debate of all Motions on Notice

Postponing Meetings - Extenuating Circumstances

4.20 At the current time there is no provision set out in standing orders to allow for the postponement 
of a meeting in extenuating circumstances, for which papers have already been published. An 
amendment is suggested to allow for such a circumstance in agreement with the Chairman and 
in consultation with Group Representatives.

Member Officer Protocol - Cross Ward Working

4.21 An additional sentence has been proposed for inclusion in to the Member Officer Protocol to 
ensure that ward councillors work within their relevant ward boundaries:
Ward councillors should “Refer any issues put to them by constitution not in their ward to the 
relevant local ward councillors.”

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The Council’s cross party Governance Board are due to be consulted on the proposals set out 
in this report following publication has been consulted on all the proposals set out within this 
report. 

5.2 Any comments from the Governance Board will be provided to the Audit Committee at the 
meeting.

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 It is anticipated that the changes proposed to the constitution will ensure that it is clear and 
understable for the public, Members, and officers, and that the procedures set out within allow 
for equitable debate and consideration at meetings.

39



7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 The recommendations are proposed to provide clarity around the Council’s governance 
processes and to ensure that the procedures set out within the constitution accurately reflect 
those undertaken in practice. 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 To not update the constitution. This was dismissed, as leaving the documents as they are 
currently would mean that clarity around Governance processes was not provided and that the 
Council Standing Orders would not reflect the practice agreed for meetings.

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Legal Implications

9.2 There are no legal implications arising from this report.

Equalities Implications

9.3 There are no equalities implications arising from this report.

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 Peterborough City Council Constitution

11. APPENDICES

● Petitions Scheme - Appendix 1
● Council Standing Orders - Appendix 2
● Combined Authority Questioning Protocol - Appendix 3
● Member Officer Protocol - Appendix 4

40



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Petition Scheme 

 

Peterborough City Council 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

41

AAQ424
Typewritten text
Appendix 1A



Part 5 Section 9 – Petition Scheme 

 

Part 5 Section 9 – The Petition Scheme 

 
1. Introduction 

 

1.1      Peterborough City Council is always interested in feedback on our services and ideas  

           for improvement. 

 

1.2 There are local public consultations into matters affecting our city and details can be 

found on our website https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/consultations/. 

 

1.3 Our public meetings are published on our website at     
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/council-meetings/ and displayed in the 
noticeboards outside the Town Hall and Bayard Place. Please contact Democratic 
Services on 01733 747474 or email democratic.services@peterborough.gov.uk for 
further information. 

 
1.4 Often a telephone call or email is all it takes to get a matter investigated and our 

Customer Services Team can be contacted on 01733 747474 or by email at 

customer.services@peterborough.gov.uk. Your enquiry will be directed to the relevant 

department. They will listen to your concerns or suggestions, try to resolve them and 

explain the current situation. This will achieve the fastest response. 

 

1.5 A petition to the council should only be considered when all other avenues have been 

exhausted. This section of the constitution sets out what makes a valid petition, how to 

get the petition to the Council and what the Council will do once a petition is received. 

 
2.  Petitions that Cannot be Dealt with Through this Scheme – Planning and    

Licensing Decisions  

 

2.1 The following matters are excluded from this petition scheme: 

● Any matter relating to a planning decision, including a development plan 

document or community infrastructure levy (a new local levy that authorities 

can choose to introduce to help fund infrastructure in their area.) 

● Any matter relating to an alcohol, gambling or sex establishment licensing 

decision.*  

 

* A ‘Licensing Decision’ is: 

 

• Any decision in relation to an application for the grant, variation or review of any 

authorisation under Part 3 or 4 of the Licensing Act 2003 (premises licences and club 

premises licences) or any hearing or appeal in respect of any such application.  

 

• Any decision in relation to the application for the grant, renewal or transfer of a licence 

under Schedule 3 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

(control of sex establishments), a request for the variation of any term, condition or 

restriction contained in such a licence or the revocation of such a licence.  

 

• Any decision in relation to any application for a licence, permit or registration under 

the Gambling Act 2005, a request for a variation of any term, condition or restriction 

42

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/consultations/
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/council-meetings/
mailto:democratic.services@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:customer.services@peterborough.gov.uk


Part 5 Section 9 – Petition Scheme 

 

associated with any such licence, permit or registration or the revocation of any such 

licence, permit or registration.  

 

2.2 However, a petition that alleges a systematic failure to deliver services in the above 

areas is within the scope of this scheme (e.g. while a petition on an individual planning 

application could not be taken, a petition about the Council’s failure to deliver an 

effective service for planning applications would be within the scope of this scheme). 

 

2.3 Comments and inquiries on licensing and planning applications s including appeals 

should be made to licensing@peterborough.gov.uk and 

planningcontrol@peterborough.gov.uk respectively or by telephone to 01733 747474 

and asking for either the Licensing or Planning Department. 

3.        Guidelines for Preparing a Petition    

3.1      To qualify as a petition the submission must meet certain criteria. The petition must: 
 

● Clearly state the concern or problem to be addressed. 
● Clearly state what the Council is being asked to do. 
● State who the lead petitioner is and include their contact details. 
● Must not concern a planning or licensing application. 
● Must not be similar to, or a duplicate of a petition submitted within the previous 

12 months. Past petitions can be viewed on our website 
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/consultations/petitions/. 

● Contain at least 20 names, address and signatures of people living, working or 
studying in the area.  

 
3.2 If the petition does not contain 20 signatures it can still be considered if the issue relates 

to a small local area and is signed by the majority of people affected. Further 
information is available from Democratic Services, Town Hall, Bridge Street, 
Peterborough PE1 1HG 01733 747474 or by emailing petitions@peterborough.gov.uk 

 
3.3 The address given by those signing the petition must be within the Peterborough City 

Council area. People who work or study in Peterborough and are affected by the 
subject of the petition must use the address of their place of work or study to be 
counted. Email address are also required for online petitions. More information on e-
petitions submitted online via the Peterborough City Council website can be found in 
section 4. 

 
3.4 Petitions will not be considered if they are: 

● Abusive.  
● Vexatious (intending to cause only annoyance, frustration or worry) 
● Presented for the purpose of making mischief. 
● Otherwise inappropriate.  

 
3.5 Reasons for rejection will be given to the lead petitioner in writing or by email where 

possible. 
 
3.6 During the period before an election or referendum, known as Purdah, it could be 

necessary for a petition to be dealt with differently. Should this happen a full explanation 
will be given including any anticipated timescales. 

 
4. E-petitions 

43

mailto:licensing@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:planningcontrol@peterborough.gov.uk
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/consultations/petitions/
mailto:petitions@peterborough.gov.uk


Part 5 Section 9 – Petition Scheme 

 

        
4.1 Online petitions are the easiest way to submit a petition and can be created online via 

our website using the link: 
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/consultations/petitions/.  

 
4.2 The petition organiser will need to register using their own name, address and email 

address. 
 
4.3 The petition must give a clear indication of the issue and the action required by the 

Council and comply with the petitions criteria set out in item 3. 
 
4.4 The lead petitioner will decide how long the petition will remain open and available for 

signature.  
            
4.5 The petition will be published on the Council website within five working days. 
 
4.6 Should the petition not be suitable for publication the Council will contact the lead 

petitioner and will give advice on how the petition could be adapted and re-submitted. 
If the petition is not re-submitted within ten days the details will appear on our website 
and the status classified as “Rejected” or “Invalid”. 

  
 

4.7 Once an e-petition has closed for signature Democratic Services will automatically be 
notified. There is no need for the lead petitioner to contact them separately. 

 
4.8 E-petitions are signed by visiting our website www.peterborough.gov.uk/epetitions 

where current e-petitions are available to sign online. A  name, postcode and email 
address will be required and an email will be sent to the email address given to 
complete the process. It is important the information given is accurate. 

  
Caution: there are some online petitions which will not be accepted by this Council as they do 

not comply with the terms of our scheme. If you are in any doubt and require advice please 

contact us at petitions@peterborough.gov.uk or 01733 747474 and ask for Democratic 

Services and we will be happy to help. 

 
5. Paper Petitions 
            
5.1 Petitions can be collected on paper and a template is included at Appendix 1. Using 

the template will ensure all relevant information is included.   
               

6. Delivering a Petition to the Council 
 
6.1 E-petitions created through our website are automatically sent to us once the time limit 

set for the petition has expired and there is no need for you to take further action at this 
stage as we will contact you within 5 days of the petition closing. 

 
6.2      A paper petition can be presented to the Council in several ways:  
 

● It could be delivered by post to Democratic Services, Town Hall, Bridge Street, 
Peterborough PE1 1HG. 

 
● It could be handed in at the Town Hall. 

 
● It could be handed to a Councillor.  

44

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/consultations/petitions/
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/epetitions
mailto:petitions@peterborough.gov.uk


Part 5 Section 9 – Petition Scheme 

 

The contact details of all Councillors can be found on our website at:  
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1   

 
● It could be emailed to petitions@peterborough.gov.uk. 

 
● It could be delivered in person at a meeting of the Full Council or Cabinet. Dates 

of the Council meetings are on the Council’s website and displayed on the 
notice boards outside the Town Hall and Bayard Place. Council meetings take 
place approximately every six weeks. Details can be found at 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1. 
Democratic Services must be informed 10 working days before the meeting of 
your intention to present a petition. Full details must be received in writing or by 
email to petitions@peterborough.gov.uk by 12:00 noon on the working day 
before the meeting. 

 
6.3 If delivered a meeting the lead petitioner can present the petition themselves or ask 

someone else, such as a Councillor, to do so on their behalf. An officer in Democratic 
Services will be available to talk through the process beforehand. 
 

6.4 The lead petitioner or their representative will have one minute to present the petition 
to the Council. The petition will be received without comment. 

 
7. What Will the Council do when a Petition is Received? 
 

7.1 An acknowledgment will be sent to the lead petitioner by letter or email within five 

working days of receipt. This will provide details of what we intend to do with the petition 

and when further information can be expected. 

 

7.2 If the petition does not comply with the criteria  set out in section 3 and the Council is 

unable to proceed, an explanation will be given in the acknowledgment letter. The 

petition will be published on the website with the status “Invalid” or “Rejected” together 

with a copy of the letter to the lead petitioner explaining why this decision has been 

taken. 

 

7.3 The petition will be published on the Council’s website unless it is inappropriate to do 

so. 

 

7.4 A response will be provided to the lead petitioner within 15 working days of the 

acknowledgment being sent and a copy will be published on our website. 

 

7.5 A petition containing over 50 validated signatures will be eligible for submission to the 

Cabinet or Scrutiny Committee alongside or in advance of the business the petition is 

seeking to influence. This option will be offered after the response letter is received as 

it might not be necessary if the Council is able to comply fully with the wishes of the 

petitioners. 

 

7.6 A petition containing over 500 validated signatures will be eligible to be discussed at a 

meeting of the Full Council, Cabinet or Scrutiny Committee. This option will be offered 

after the response is received as it might not be necessary if the Council is able to 

comply fully with the wishes of the petitioners.   

45

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:petitions@peterborough.gov.uk
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:petitions@peterborough.gov.uk


Part 5 Section 9 – Petition Scheme 

 

 

7.7 The lead petitioner will be contacted after the response has been sent and asked if 

they wish to take one of these options.  

 
8.  Full Council Debates 

 
8.1 If a petition contains more than 500 signatures from people who live, work or study in 

the Peterborough area, it is eligible for debate at a meeting of the Full Council. If the 
lead petitioner chooses this option the petition will be discussed at the next Council 
meeting. The following protocol will apply: 

 
8.2 The Mayor will lead the debate. There is a 45 minutes time limit on the discussion of 

an individual petition. At the end of this period Council will move immediately to the 
remaining votes without debate. 

 
8.3 The lead petitioner, or their representative, will have five minutes to present their 

petition to the meeting to begin the debate. Times are strictly controlled and it is 
recommended to have a speech prepared in advance to ensure all relevant points are 
expressed. 

 
8.4 The relevant Cabinet Member will be offered the opportunity to propose a course of 

action (propose a motion) which could be one of the following: 
 

● To take the action requested in  the petition if it is possible to do so. 
● To refer the petition to either Cabinet, a Cabinet Member or the relevant 

Scrutiny Committee for consideration having regards to the comments made in 
the debate. 

● To note the petition and comments but take no action for the reasons given in 
the debate. 

 
8.5 The Mayor will ask for a seconder for the proposed motion. 
 
8.6 The Mayor will then ask if there is an alternative course of action and each proposed           

alternative will need to be seconded. 
 
8.7 All proposals must be provided in advance by Members to Democratic Services by 

12noon on the day before the meeting.  
 
8.8 Members will then debate the first proposal moved by the Cabinet Member, following 

the normal rules of debate. 
 
8.9 When the debate has finished the Mayor will offer the lead petitioner, or their 

representative, the “right of reply”. They can respond to any matters raised, speaking 
for up to three minutes. 

 
8.10 The Mayor will then offer the “right to reply” to the relevant Cabinet Member. 
 
8.11 If only one motion has been proposed and seconded the Mayor will call for a vote on           

that motion which can be either carried or defeated.  
 
8.12 When more than one motion has been proposed and seconded, the Mayor will only 

move on to the debate for subsequent motions if the first motion is defeated in the vote. 

46



Part 5 Section 9 – Petition Scheme 

 

Each subsequent motion will be debated in the format set out above and voted on in 
turn until a motion is carried and an outcome achieved.  

 
8.13 If no proposals are agreed, the Mayor will move that the petition be noted. 
 
8.14 The lead petitioner will be notified of the outcome of the debate in writing or by email 

within five working days. 
     

9. Outcome 
 
9.1 The lead petitioner will receive a written response by letter or email confirming the 

action the Council intends to take with a full explanation.              
 
9.2 The Council’s website will be updated to indicate that a decision has been taken and  

the petition status will be updated to reflect this.  
       
9.3 A copy of the response will be published on the council website. 
    
Further information about the Council, its services and meetings are available on our website 
at www.peterborough.gov.uk  
  

47

http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/


Part 5 Section 9 – Petition Scheme 

 

Appendix 1 
Peterborough City Council Petitions Scheme Template 
 
Those signing this petition must live, work, or study in the Peterborough area to be 
validated as a signatory. Those living outside the area can also sign the petition and will 
be taken into consideration but will not be counted.  Further details can be found on the 
Peterborough City Council website www.peterborough.gov.uk/epetitions 
 

Petition Subject: 

By signing this form we ask that the Council take the following action: 
 
 

Lead petitioner (who must live, work or study in Peterborough) 
Name: 
Address: 
 
 
Telephone number: 
Email address: 

 

 Name Address Signature 

1    

2    

3    

4    

5    

6    

7    

8    

9    

10    

11    

12    

13    

14    

15    

16    

17    

18    

19    

20    

 

48

http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/epetitions


Debate on second 
proposal.

End of item.

Vote on second 
proposal.

Continue until a 
proposal is agreed.

Lead Petitioner to 
Address Members

1st proposal to be moved 
by Cabinet Member, to be 

seconded.

Mayor to invite alternative 
proposals from Members, to 

be seconded.

Debate on first proposal. 
Leader Petitioner to have 3 

minute “Right of Reply” prior to 
summing up.

Vote on first proposal.

If carried If defeated

49



This page is intentionally left blank

50



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

CONTENTS 
 

Standing Order Page 
 
 
1. Annual meeting of the Council  

2. Ordinary meetings of Council  

3. 

4. 

Ordinary meetings of Council and Committees 

Extraordinary meetings and variations 

 

 

5. Private meeting to nominate the Mayor Elect  

6. Appointment of members of committee and sub-committees in 
year including substitute members 

 

7. Attendance at committees or sub-committees  

8. Committee and sub-committee powers and duties and 
delegation to committees and sub-committees 

 

9. Working parties for committees  

10. Time and place of meetings  

11. Notice of and summons to meetings  

12. Chair of meeting  

13. Quorum  

14. Duration of meeting  

15. Questions by the public at meetings of Council  

16. Petitions presented to Council  

17. Questions by Members at Council   

18 Motions on notice  

19. Motions without notice  

20. Standing orders of debate  

21. State of the city debate by Council  

22. Previous decisions and motions  

23. Voting  

24. Minutes  

25. Record of attendance  

26. Exclusion of press and public  

27. Members’ conduct  

28. Disturbance by public  

29. Suspension and amendment of Council Procedure Standing  

51

AAQ424_1
Typewritten text
Appendix 2



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

Orders 

30. Photography and audio/visual recording of meetings  

52



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

 
1. ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL  
 
1.1. Timing and business 
 
 In a year when there is an ordinary election of councillors, the annual 

meeting will take place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing 
councillors. In any other year, the annual meeting will take place in 
March, April or May.  

 
1.1.1 The Ceremonial Meeting (Mayor Making)  
 
 The Meeting will: 

 
i. elect a person to preside if the chair of Council (the Mayor) is 

not present;  
 

ii. elect the chair of Council (the Mayor);  
 

iii. elect the vice chair of Council (the Deputy Mayor); and 
 

iv. receive the retiring mayor’s report. 
 
1.1.2 The Business Meeting 
 
 The Meeting will: 
 

i. approve the minutes of the last meeting;  
 

ii. receive any announcements from the Mayor;  
 

iii. receive a report from the Returning Officer on the outcome of City 
Elections;  

 
iv. upon retirement of the previous Leader, which shall be at least 

once every four years, elect the Leader of the executive (the 
Cabinet)  

 
v. be notified by the Leader of  the number of members to be 

appointed to the Cabinet, those Members’ names and their 
intended portfolio of responsibilities;  

 
vi. appoint a licensing committee, a health and wellbeing board, at 

least one overview and scrutiny committee and such other 
committees as are required or the Council considers appropriate 
to deal with matters that are neither reserved to the Council nor 
are executive functions (as set out or will be set out in Part 3(2) of 
this Constitution). No member of the Executive will be allowed to 
be a member of a Scrutiny Committee or Commission;  

53



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

 
vii. receive the Leader’s scheme of delegation of executive functions 

(as set out at Part 3(3) of this Constitution);  
 

viii. approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the 
year; and 

 
ix. consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting. 

 
1.1.3 Unless otherwise determined by statute, the Mayor may vary the order 

of the agenda at his/her absolute discretion and may allocate or re-
allocate an appropriate time for the transaction of each item. 

 
1.2. Selection of Councillors on Committees and Outside Bodies 
 
1.2.1 At the annual (business) meeting, the council meeting will: 

 
i. decide which committees to establish for the municipal year;  

 
ii. decide the size and terms of reference for those committees; 

 
iii. decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance 

with the political balance requirements; 
 

iv. receive nominations of councillors to serve on each committee 
and outside body;  

 
v. appoint to those committees, standing sub-committees and 

outside bodies except where appointment to those bodies has 
been delegated by the Council or is exercisable only by the 
executive; and 

 
vi. appoint the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of all the Council’s 

committees, other than those which the Council has decided 
should be appointed by the committee itself.  

 
1.2.2 The Council may decide at subsequent meetings to dissolve 

committees, alter their terms of reference or to appoint new 
committees. 
 

1.2.3 The Council shall always have the power to exercise any power 
delegated to a committee, sub-committee or an officer. 
 

2. ORDINARY MEETINGS OF COUNCIL 
 
2.1 Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a 

programme decided at the Council’s annual meeting. The order of 
business at ordinary meetings will be as follows: 

 

54



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

i. elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are not 
present;  

 
ii. approve the minutes of the last meeting;  

 
iii. receive any declarations of interest from members;  

 
iv. receive any announcements from the Mayor and Leader (which, 

with the exception of the Mayor, will normally be limited to five 
minutes), followed by any question on the announcement from a 
leader of an opposition group (which will normally be limited to 
one minute); 

 
v. receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public in 

accordance with Standing Order 15;  
 

vi. receive petitions from the public and Members in accordance 
with Standing Order 16;  

 
vii. consider petitions in accordance with the Council’s petition 

scheme; 
 

viii. Receive questions from, and provide answers to, Members in 
accordance with Standing Order 17.2; 

 
ix. deal with any business from the last Council meeting;  

 
x. receive reports from the Cabinet for consideration, including 

consideration of proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the 
Council’s budget and policy framework and receive questions 
and answers on any of those reports;  

 
xi. receive any reports from the Council’s committees and overview 

and scrutiny committees for consideration and receive questions 
and answers on any of those reports;  

 
xii. receive reports about and receive questions and answers on 

decisions made by members of the Cabinet since the last 
meeting of Council;  

 
xiii. receive reports about decisions made by the Combined 

Authority since the last meeting of Council; 
 
xiv. receive any reports about and receive questions and answers 

on the business of joint arrangements and external 
organisations, including the Combined Authority; 

xiii.  
 

xiv.xv. consider motions; and 

55



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

 
xv.xvi. consider any other business specified in the summons to the 

meeting.  
 

56



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

3. ORDINARY MEETINGS OF COUNCIL AND COMMITTEES 
 

3.1 Business 
 

Unless otherwise determined by statute, the Mayor/Chairman may vary 
the order of the agenda at his/her absolute discretion and may allocate 
or re-allocate an appropriate time for the transaction of each item. 

 
3.2 Urgency 
 

The Mayor/Chairman may determine that an item of business that has 
not been open to public inspection, both as an item set out in the 
agenda and any accompanying published report, may be considered 
because he or she is of the opinion that, by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the item should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 
4. EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS AND VARIATIONS 
 
4.1. Calling extraordinary meetings of Council 
 

Those listed below may request the proper officer to call Council 
meetings in addition to ordinary meetings: 
 
(a) the Council by resolution;  
 
(b) the Mayor (or the Deputy mayor if the mayor is unable to act); 
 
(c) the Monitoring Officer; or 
 
(d) any five members of the Council if they have signed a requisition 

presented to the Mayor and he or she has refused to call a 
meeting or has failed to call a meeting within seven days of the 
presentation of the requisition.  

 
4.2 Calling an Extraordinary Meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee 
 
 In the case of Committee meetings, the Chairman of a Committee or 

Sub-Committee can, in consultation with the political group 
representatives, call an extraordinary meeting of the Committee at any 
time. A special meeting will also be called if three Members of the 
Committee or Sub-Committee ask the Chief Executive in writing to call 
a meeting.  

 
4.3 Business at an Extraordinary Meeting of Council or a Committee or 

Sub-Committee 
 

 The business to be conducted at an extraordinary meeting shall be 
restricted to the item of business contained in the request for the 

57



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

extraordinary meeting and there shall be no consideration of previous 
minutes or reports from committees etc. except that the Mayor/ 
Chairman may at his/her absolute discretion permit other items of 
business to be conducted for the efficient discharge of the Council’s 
business. 

 
4.4   Variation to the meeting schedule, timings and cancellation of meetings 
 
4.4.1 Variations to the meeting schedule will be determined by the Chairman 

after prior consultation with the Group representatives. The Mayor 
determines any variation to the Council schedule, in consultation with 
Group Leaders. 

 
4.4.2 If there is disagreement about the timing of an additional meeting 

between the Chairman and Group representatives, the meeting will 
start at the normal time for meetings of that Committee as identified 
within the Annual Calendar of meetings approved by Council. 

 
4.4.3 Any meeting may be cancelled if there is insufficient business to 

consider. This will be determined by the Chairman after prior 
consultation with the Group representatives. For Council, the Mayor will 
determine in consultation with Group Leaders. 

 
5.      PRIVATE MEETING TO NOMINATE THE MAYOR ELECT 
 
5.1 The Chief Executive will invite Members to hold a private meeting each 

year to nominate the Mayor Elect. This meeting will usually be held in 
February or March. The notice of the meeting will not be published and 
the proceedings will have no legal effect.  

 
5.2 There is a written protocol for the nomination of the Mayor Elect and 

this can be found within Part 5 Section 8 of the Council’s Constitution.  
  
6.      APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS OF COMMITTEES AND SUB-

COMMITTEES IN YEAR INCLUDING SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 
 

6.1  Appointment of Chair or Vice Chair in year vacancy 
 

The Council may remove the Chairman or Vice-Chairman or they can 
resign.  In the event that the Chairman or Vice-Chairman resigns or for 
some other reason becomes permanently incapacitated, the Council 
may appoint another Chairman or Vice-Chairman at its next meeting 
following the resignation or permanent incapacity and in the meantime 
the Committee may elect a temporary Chairman or Vice-Chairman until 
a new appointment is made by the Council. Unless otherwise stated in 
the Constitution, the Chair and Vice-Chair of a Committee or Sub-
Committees shall be a Councillor.  

 

6.2  Appointment of Members to Committees in year vacancy  

58

http://clients.bonddickinson.com/SmartPrecedentServer/control/SmartPrecedent/revisitText?id=0%40%2Ffiles%2Flogic%2FCounty+Council+Constitution+-+ALL+ARTICLES+-+05.11.12.lgc%23CouncilCeremonialMayor.yes&returndest=eXC_Paragraph_95&tag=1105298395


   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

 
If a vacancy arises on a Committee or Sub-Committee because a 
Member of a Committee or a Sub-Committee has resigned their seat 
by sending a written notice to the Chief Executive or because a 
Member has resigned, died or otherwise ceased to be a Member, the 
Chief Executive will appoint a Member to fill the vacancy if the relevant 
political group asks him or her to do so, in accordance with the seat 
allocations approved by Council under the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 and the Regulations made thereunder. 
 

6.3  Substitute Members 
 

6.3.1 Number 
  
For each Committee or Sub-Committee, the Council may appoint the 
same number of substitutes in respect of each political group as that 
group holds ordinary seats on that committee or sub-committee, 
however the total number of substitutes made by a political group at a 
meeting may not exceed 50% of the political group’s seat allocation on 
that committee.  
 

6.3.2  Powers and duties 
  
Substitute members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary 
member of the committee but will not be able to exercise any special 
powers or duties exercisable by the person they are substituting.  
  

6.3.3  Substitution 
  
Substitute members may attend meetings in that capacity only: 
  
(a)  to take the place of the ordinary member for whom they are the 

designated substitute;  
 
(b)  where the ordinary member will be absent for the whole of the 

meeting; and 
  
(c)  after notifying the monitoring officer by noon on the day of the 

meeting of the intended substitution.   
 
6.3.4 When the ordinary member and a designated substitute are unable to 

attend a meeting, a nominated substitute member of the same group 
may attend the meeting after notifying the Monitoring Officer by 12 
noon. 

 
7.      ATTENDANCE AT COMMITTEES OR SUB-COMMITTEES 

 
7.1 The Mayor and the political group leaders can join the debate at any 

meeting of a Committee but they cannot vote at them. 

59



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

 
7.2 A Cabinet Member can attend any meeting of a Scrutiny Committee or 

Scrutiny Commission at which a report under their portfolio is being 
considered, Cabinet Members can also be invited to attend a Scrutiny 
Committee meeting at the request of the Committee. The Member will 
not be allowed to vote. 

 
7.3 A Member who has moved a motion at a Council meeting which has 

been referred to any Committee or Sub-Committee will have notice of 
the meeting when the motion will be considered, at which they will be 
entitled to introduce the motion. The Member will not be allowed to 
vote. 

 
7.4 A Committee or Sub-Committee can invite any member who is not a 

member of the Committee to attend and speak at any one of their 
meetings. The Member will not be allowed to vote. 

 
7.5 Members representing wards in respect of which a report containing 

exempt or confidential information relates, can attend the meeting at 
which the report is considered, unless the Chief Executive or the 
Monitoring Officer advises that the report must remain confidential and 
it is not necessary for Members (other than Members of the Committee 
or Sub-Committee) to be at the meeting in order to carry out their 
duties as a ward member.  

 
8.      COMMITTEE AND SUB-COMMITTEE POWERS AND DUTIES AND 

DELEGATION TO COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES 
 
8.1 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for maintaining and updating the 

terms of reference of all the Council’s Committees. 
 
8.2  All Committees can appoint a sub-committee from within its own 

membership and can delegate any of their powers and duties to the 
sub-committees, subject to any conditions the Committee sets for the 
Sub-Committee. 

 
9. WORKING PARTIES FOR COMMITTEES  

 
9.1 Committees can only appoint working parties where it would not be 

appropriate to refer the matter to a Scrutiny Committee or Scrutiny 
Commission. The Committee will decide how many Members and 
officers working parties will have, and their terms of reference which 
will be time limited. A working party will not have any powers, but will 
make recommendations and a report to the Committee that appointed 
it. 

 
10. TIME AND PLACE OF MEETINGS 
 

60



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

10.1 The time and place of meetings will be determined by the monitoring 
officer and notified in the summons.  
 

11. NOTICE OF AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS 
 

11.1 The proper officer will give notice to the public of the time and place of 
any meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Standing 
Orders (Procedure Rules). At least five clear days before a meeting, 
the monitoring officer will send a summons signed by him or her by 
post to every member of the Council or leave it at their usual place of 
residence. The summons will give the date, time and place of each 
meeting and specify the business to be transacted (the agenda) and 
will be accompanied by the relevant reports.  
 

12. CHAIR OF MEETING 
 
12.1 The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of 

the Mayor/Chairman. 
 

13. QUORUM 
 
13.1 The quorum of a meeting of Council will be one quarter of the whole 

number of members.  
 
13.2 The quorum of an appointed Committee or Sub-Committee will be 

more than half of the Members present, apart from the Employment 
Committee and the Appeals Committee (Service Issues), where the 
quorum will be three. 
 

13.3 During any meeting if the Mayor/Chairman counts the number of 
members present and declares there is not a quorum present, then the 
meeting will adjourn immediately. Remaining business will be 
considered at a time and date fixed by the Mayor/Chairman. If he or 
she does not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered at 
the next ordinary meeting.  
 

14. DURATION OF MEETING 
 
14.1 Meeting recess 
 

The Mayor/Chairman will adjourn the meeting for a period of ten 
minutes at a convenient time after two hours. 
 

14.2 Interruption of the meeting 
 
Where four hours have elapsed after the commencement of any 
Council meeting (and in the case of an Extraordinary meeting when 
two hours have elapsed since commencement of the meeting) the 
Mayor/Chairman shall interrupt the meeting and call for the vote 

61



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

immediately on the item under discussion.  Any Member speaking must 
immediately cease doing so and sit down. The vote will be taken 
without further discussion. This rule will not apply to meetings of a 
quasi-judicial or regulatory nature.  
 

14.3 Motions and recommendations not dealt with 
 

If there are other motions or recommendations on the agenda that 
have not been dealt with within the four hour period (or two hour period 
in the case of an Extraordinary meeting), they are deemed formally 
moved and seconded (together with any amendments). No speeches 
will be allowed on these items and the vote will be taken in the usual 
way. This rule will not apply to meetings of a quasi-judicial or regulatory 
nature. 
 

14.4 Recorded vote 
 

If a recorded vote is called for during this process it will be taken 
immediately.  
 

14.5 Motions which may be moved 
 

During the process set out in Standing Order 14.2 above, the only 
other motions which may be moved are that a matter be withdrawn or 
that a matter be delegated or referred to an appropriate body or 
individual for decision or report. 
 

14.6 Close of the meeting 
 

When all motions and recommendations have been dealt with, the 
Mayor/Chairman will declare the meeting closed.  

 
15. POSTPONEMENT OF MEETING 
  
 15.1 Postponement of the meeting in extenuating circumstances 
  

 Once the proper officer has given notice and summons of a 
meeting, the meeting may be postponed in extenuating circumstances. 
Any postponement must be with the agreement of Mayor/Chairman 
and in consultation with Group Leaders/Group Representatives. 

  
15.16. QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC AT MEETINGS OF COUNCIL 
 
15.1 General 
 
15.1.1 Members of the public who are residents of the City may ask questions 

of Members of the Cabinet, the Chair of a Committee, the Chair of an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee/Commission or a leader of a political 
group on the Council at meetings of the Council, other than the Annual 

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.27 cm,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.63 cm,  No bullets or numbering

62



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

Meeting and, except at the discretion of the Mayor, Extraordinary 
Meetings. 

 
15.1.2 The total time allocated for Questions by the Public shall be limited to 

30 minutes. 
 

15.2 Order of questions 
 

The order in which questions shall be presented to the meeting shall be 
determined by a draw for each section of the meeting. The draws shall 
be conducted by the monitoring officer (or senior officer appointed for 
this purpose). The draws may be attended by any Member of the 
Council by prior notice delivered in writing to the monitoring officer 
before the deadline for submission of questions. 

 
15.3 Notice of questions 
 

A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it 
in writing or by electronic mail to the monitoring officer no later than 
midday five working days before the day of the meeting. Each question 
must give the name and address of the questioner and must name the 
member of the Council to whom it is to be put. Notice must be provided 
at this time of any accompanying preamble to be given when putting 
the question to Council. 
 

15.4 Number of questions 
 

At any one meeting no person may submit more than two questions 
and no more than two such questions may be asked on behalf of one 
organisation.  
 

15.5 Scope of questions 
 

If the monitoring officer considers a question: 
 

 is not about a matter for which the local authority has a 
responsibility or which affects the City;  

 is illegal, improper, defamatory, frivolous or offensive;  

 is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a 
meeting of the Council in the past six months; or 

 requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information 
 

he or she will inform the Mayor who will then decide whether or not to 
reject the question. 
 

15.6 Record of questions 
 

The monitoring officer will enter each question in a book open to public 
inspection and will immediately send a copy of the question to the 

63



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

member to whom it is to be put. Rejected questions will include 
reasons for rejection.  
 
Copies of all questions will be circulated to all members and will be 
made available to the public attending the meeting.  
 

15.7 Asking the question at the meeting 
 

The Mayor will invite the questioner to put the question to the member 
named in the notice. Three minutes are allowed for putting the 
question. If a questioner who has submitted a written question is 
unable to be present, they may ask the Mayor to put the question on 
their behalf. The Mayor may ask the question on the questioner’s 
behalf, indicate that a written reply will be given or decide, in the 
absence of the questioner, that the question will not be dealt with.  
 

15.8 Supplemental question 
 

A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one 
supplementary question without notice to the member who has replied 
to his or her original question. A supplementary question must arise 
directly out of the original question or the reply. The Mayor may reject a 
supplementary question on any of the grounds in Standing Order 15.5 
above. One minute is allowed for putting the supplementary question. 
 

15.9 Answers 
 

Three minutes are allowed for answering a question and two minutes 
are allowed for answering a supplementary question. Any question 
which cannot be dealt with, either because of lack of time or because 
of the non-attendance of the member to whom it was to be put, will be 
dealt with by a written answer.  
 

15.10 Reference of question to the Cabinet or a committee 
 

Unless the Mayor decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on 
any question, but any member may move that a matter raised by a 
question be referred to the Cabinet or the appropriate committee or 
sub-committee. Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on without 
discussion.  

 
15.11 There are no speaking rights at committee meetings other than those 

laid out in the Planning Speaking Scheme, which is available to view 
within the Committees terms of reference at Part 3 Section 2 of the 
Constitution. 
 

16. PETITIONS PRESENTED AT COUNCIL  
 

64



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

16.1 Petitions may be presented to the Council. The person presenting the 
petition will be allowed to address the meeting briefly (not exceeding 
one minute) to outline the aims of the petition. The Mayor will refer the 
matter to another appropriate body of the Council within whose terms 
of reference it falls without discussion and in accordance with the 
Council’s petition scheme, detailed in Part 5 Section 9 of the 
Constitution, unless a relevant item appears elsewhere on the Agenda. 

 
17. QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS AT COUNCIL  

 
17.1 On reports of Cabinet or Committees 
 

At a meeting of the Council, other than the Annual Meeting, a Member 
of the Council may ask the Leader or the chair of a committee or any 
representative of the Council on the Combined Authority any question 
without notice upon an item of the report of the Cabinet or a committee 
or from the Combined Authority when that item is being received or 
under consideration by the Council. 
 

17.2 Questions on notice at full Council 
 
17.2.1 Subject to Standing Order 17.4, a member of the Council may ask: 

 

 the Mayor;  
 

 the Leader or member of the Cabinet; 
 

 the chair of any committee or sub-committee; or 
 

 any representative of the Council on the Combined Authority. 
 

up to two questions on any matter in relation to which the Council has 
powers or duties or which affects the City and one question on any 
matter in relation to which the Combined Authority has powers or 
duties..  
 

17.2.2 The total time allocated for Questions under this item shall be limited to 
30 minutes for questions to the Mayor, Leader or member of the 
Cabinet, or the chair of any committee or sub-committee, and 15 
minutes for questions to any representatives of the Council on the 
Combined Authority. 

 
17.3 Questions on notice at committees and sub-committees 
 

Subject to Standing Order 17.4, a member of a committee or sub-
committee may ask the chair of it a question on any matter in relation 
to which the Council has powers or duties or which affect the City and 
which falls within the terms of reference of that committee or sub-
committee.  

Formatted: Underline

65

http://clients.bonddickinson.com/SmartPrecedentServer/control/SmartPrecedent/revisitQ?id=0%40%2Ffiles%2Flogic%2FCounty+Council+Constitution+-+ALL+ARTICLES+-+05.11.12.lgc%23LeaderMayorSmartPhrase&returndest=eXC_Paragraph_162&tag=513855776
http://clients.bonddickinson.com/SmartPrecedentServer/control/SmartPrecedent/revisitQ?id=0%40%2Ffiles%2Flogic%2FCounty+Council+Constitution+-+ALL+ARTICLES+-+05.11.12.lgc%23ExecutiveCabinetSmartPhrase&returndest=eXC_Paragraph_162&tag=1857307325


   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

 
17.4 Notice of questions 
 

A member may only ask a question under Standing Order 17.2 or 17.3 
if either: 
 
a) they have given at least five working days notice in writing of the 

question to the monitoring officer; 
 
b) the question relates to urgent matters, they have the consent of the 

Mayor to whom the question is to be put and the content of the 
question is given to the monitoring officer by noon on the day of the 
meeting; 

 
c) the question is not substantially the same as a question which has 

been put at a meeting of the Council in the past six months.  
 
17.5 Response 
 

An answer may take the form of: 
 
a) a direct oral answer of up to three minutes; 
 
b) by reference to published material of the Council which is readily 

available to Members; or 
 

c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written 
answer will be circulated later to the questioner.  

 
17.6 Supplementary question 
 

Every question, which will be limited to one part, will be asked and 
answered without discussion. Upon receiving the answer, the Member 
who put the question shall be allowed one supplementary question, of 
up to one minute, provided that it arises directly out of the original 
question or the reply and does not introduce any new subject matter.  
 
The supplementary question will be asked and answered orally, but the 
person to whom the supplementary question has been asked will have 
up to two minutes to answer or may decline to answer. 
 

18. MOTIONS ON NOTICE 
 

18.1 Notice 
 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Standing 
Order 19, written notice of every motion, must be delivered to [the 
proper officer] by ten o’clock six clear working days before the date of 

66



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

the meeting (not including the day of the meeting). These will be 
entered in a book open to public inspection.  
 

18.2 Motion set out in agenda 
 

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in 
the order in which notice was received, unless the member giving 
notice states, in writing, that they propose to move it to a later meeting.  
 

18.3 Scope 
 

If the monitoring officer considers that a motion: 
 

 is not about a matter for which the local authority has a 
responsibility or which affects the City;  

 

 is illegal, improper, defamatory, frivolous or offensive;  
 

 is substantially the same as a motion which has been put at a 
meeting of the Council in the past six months; or 

 

 requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information 
 

he or she will inform the Mayor who will then decide whether or not to 
reject the motion. 
 

18.4 Time Limits 
  

 Each individual motion on notice will be debated for a maximum 
of 30 minutes, including the debate of any amendments. At the end of 
the 30 minutes the Mayor will move directly to the vote.  
  
 The total time limit for all motions on notice is two hours. At the 
end of the two hours the Mayor will move directly to the vote on any 
remaining motions and amendments, without debate. 
 

19. MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 
 
19.1 The following motions may be moved without notice: 

 
a) to appoint a chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved;  
 
b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes;  

 
c) to change the order of business in the agenda;  

 
d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual;  

 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.82 cm,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.27 cm,  No bullets or numbering

67



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

e) to appoint a committee or member arising from an item on the 
summons for the meeting;  

 
f) to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of committees or 

officers and any resolutions following from them;  
 

g) to withdraw a motion;  
 

h) to amend a motion;  
 

i) to proceed to the next business;  
 

j) that the question be now put;  
 

k) to adjourn a debate;  
 

l) that the meeting continue beyond 4 hours in duration (2 in the case 
of an extraordinary meeting); 

 
m) to suspend a particular standing order;  

 
n) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 

Information Standing Orders;  
 

o) to not hear further a member named under Standing Order 27.3 or 
to exclude them from the meeting Standing Order 27.4; and 

 
p) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by 

this Constitution.  
 

68



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

20. STANDING ORDERS OF DEBATE 
 
20.1 No speeches until motion seconded 
 

No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and 
explained the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded.  
 

20.2 Right to require motion in writing 
 

Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Mayor may 
require it to be written down and handed to him/her before it is 
discussed.  
 

20.3 Seconder’s speech 
 

When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their 
speech until later in the debate.  
 

20.4 Content and length of speeches 
 
 Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a 

personal explanation, statement of accuracy or point of order.  
 

 No speech may exceed five minutes by the mover of the motion or by 
three minutes in all other cases without the consent of the Mayor.  
 

20.5 Budget Meetings 
 

Rule 20.4 above, in respect of the length of speeches, shall not apply 
to a debate on the Budget where speeches shall not be subject to any 
time limit. 

 

20.6 When a member may speak again 
 

A member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it 
is the subject of debate, except: 
 
a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another member;  
 
b) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended 

since he or she last spoke;  
 

c) if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another 
member, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the 
amendment on which he or she spoke was carried); 

 
d) in exercise of a right of reply;  

 
e) on a point of order;  

69



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

 
f) by way of personal explanation and 
 

g) statement of accuracy. 
 
20.7 Amendments to motions 
 

a) An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will 
either be: 

 
(i) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for 

consideration or reconsideration;  
 
(ii) to leave out words;  
 
(iii) to leave out words and insert or add others; or 
 
(iv) to insert or add words.  

 
as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to negate the motion.  
 

b) Except in relation to motions that can be moved without notice 
under Standing Order 19, written notice of every intended 
amendment to a motion or to recommendations from Cabinet or the 
Council’s committees: 

 
(i) must be delivered to the monitoring officer in its initial form not 

later than noon two working days before the date of the 
meeting (not including the day of the meeting) at which the 
motion is to be considered; and 

 
(ii) must be delivered to the monitoring officer in its intended final 

form not later than noon one working day before the date of 
the meeting (not including the day of the meeting) at which 
the motion is to be considered. If no withdrawal, confirmation 
or change is received by the monitoring officer, it will be 
assumed that the amendment is to be considered in its initial 
form. 

 
No other amendment may be moved at the meeting except where 
the Mayor may permit, at his or her absolute discretion and to 
ensure the efficient or proper discharge of the Council’s business, a 
further amendment or amendments to be moved. 
 

c) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one 
time. No further amendment may be moved until the amendment 
under discussion has been disposed of.  

 

70

http://clients.bonddickinson.com/SmartPrecedentServer/control/SmartPrecedent/revisitText?id=0%40%2Ffiles%2Flogic%2FCounty+Council+Constitution+-+ALL+ARTICLES+-+05.11.12.lgc%23CouncilCeremonialMayor.yes&returndest=eXC_Paragraph_95&tag=1105298395


   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

d) If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original 
motion may be moved.  

 
e) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place 

of the original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to 
which any further amendments are moved.  

 
f) After an amendment has been carried, the Mayor will read out the 

amended motion before accepting any further amendments, or if 
there are none, put it to the vote.  

 
20.8 Alteration of motion 
 

a) A member may alter a motion of which he or she has given notice 
with the consent of the meeting. The meeting’s consent will be 
signified without discussion.  

 
b) A member may alter a motion which he or she has moved without 

notice with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The 
meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion.  

 
c) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be 

made.  
 
20.9 Withdrawal of motion 
 

A member may withdraw a motion which he or she has moved with the 
consent of both the meeting and the seconder.  The meeting’s consent 
will be signified without discussion. No member may speak on the 
motion after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it unless 
permission is refused.  
 

20.10 Right of reply 
 

a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate 
on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.  

 
b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the 

right of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, but may 
not otherwise speak on it.  

 
c) The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on 

his or her amendment.  
 
20.11 Motions which may be moved during debate 
 

When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except 
the following procedural motions:  
 

71



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

a) to withdraw a motion;  
 
b) to amend a motion;  

 
c) to proceed to the next business;  

 
d) that the question be now put;  

 
e) to adjourn a debate;  

 
f) that the meeting continue beyond 4 hours in duration (or two hours 

if an extraordinary meeting); 
 

g) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 
Information Standing Orders;  

 
h) to not hear further a member named under Standing Order 27.3 or 

to exclude them from the meeting under Standing Order 27.4; and 
 

i) that a specific standing order be suspended 
 
20.12 Closure motions 
 

a) A member may move, without comment, the following motions at 
the end of a speech of another member;  

 
(i) to proceed to the next business;  
 
(ii) that the question be now put;  
 
(iii) to adjourn a debate; or 
 
(iv) to adjourn a meeting. 

 
b) If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Mayor 

thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, he or she will give 
the mover of the original motion a right of reply and then put the 
procedural motion to the vote.  

 
c) If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Mayor 

thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, he or she will put 
the procedural motion to the vote. If it is passed he or she will give 
the mover of the original motion a right of reply before putting 
his/her motion to the vote.  

 
d) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is 

seconded and the Mayor thinks the item has not been sufficiently 
discussed and cannot reasonably be so discussed on that 

72



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

occasion, he or she will put the procedural motion to the vote 
without giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply.  

73



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

 
20.13 Point of order 
 

A member may raise a point of order at any time.  The Mayor will hear 
them immediately. A point of order may only relate to an alleged 
breach of these Council Standing Orders or the law. The member must 
indicate the Standing Order or rule of law and the way in which he or 
she considers has been broken. The ruling of the Mayor on the matter 
will be final.  
 

20.14 Personal explanation 
 

A member may make a personal explanation at any time.  A personal 
explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech 
by the member which may appear to have been misunderstood in the 
present debate. The ruling of the Mayor on the admissibility of a 
personal explanation will be final.  
 

20.15 Statement of accuracy 
 

A member may make a request to the Mayor to make a statement of 
accuracy at any time.  If permitted, the statement will be limited to the 
accuracy of a fact cited by the member speaking and may not exceed 
thirty seconds.  The ruling of the Mayor on the admissibility of a 
statement of accuracy will be final.  

 
21.     STATE OF THE CITY DEBATE BY COUNCIL 
 
21.1 Calling of debate 
 

The Leader may call a state of the City debate annually on a date and 
in a form to be agreed with the Mayor.  
 

21.2 Form of debate 
 

The Leader will decide the form of the debate with the aim of enabling 
the widest possible public involvement and publicity. This may include 
holding workshops and other events prior to or during the state of the 
City debate.  
 

21.3 Chairing of debate 
 

The debate will be chaired by the Mayor.  
 

21.4 Results of debate 
 

The results of the debate will be: 
 

74



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

(a) disseminated as widely as possible within the community and to 
agencies and organisations in the area; and 

 
(b) considered by the Leader in proposing the budget and policy 

framework to the Council for the coming year.  
 
22. PREVIOUS DECISIONS AND MOTIONS 
 
22.1 Motion to rescind a previous decision 
 

A motion to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within the 
past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is signed 
by at least five members.  
 

22.2 Motion similar to one previously rejected 
 

A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected 
at a meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless 
the notice of motion or amendment is signed by at least five members. 
Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no one can propose a 
similar motion or amendment for six months.  

 
23.      VOTING 
 
23.1 Majority 
 

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided 
by a simple majority of those members voting and present in the room 
at the time the question was put.  
 

23.2 Mayor’s/Chairman’s casting vote 
 

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the 
Mayor/Chairman will have a second or casting vote. There will be no 
restriction on how the Mayor/Chairman chooses to exercise a casting 
vote.  
 

23.3 Show of handsElectronic Voting System 
 

Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Standing Orders 23.4 and 
23.5, the Mayor/Chairman will take the vote using the electronic voting 
systemby show of hands, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of 
the meeting. Should the electronic voting system fail, the vote will be 
taken by show of hands. 

 
23.4 Recorded vote  
 

If one quarter of members present and entitled to vote at the meeting 
demand it, the names for and against the motion or amendment or 

75



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

abstaining from voting will be recorded in writing and entered into the 
minutes. All votes cast using the electronic voting system will be 
recorded in writing and entered into the minutes. 

76



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

 
23.5 Budget decision 

 
At a budget decision meeting of the Council the names of the persons 
who cast a vote for the decision or against the decision or who 
abstained from voting will be recorded in writing and entered into the 
minutes of the proceedings of that meeting 
 
For the purposes of this Standing Order: 

(a) “budget decision” means a meeting of the Council at which it— 

(i) makes a calculation (whether originally or by way of substitute) 
in accordance with any of sections 31A, 31B, 34 to 36A, 42A, 
42B, 45 to 49, 52ZF, 52ZJ of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992; or 

(ii) issues a precept under Chapter 4 of Part 1 of that Act, 

and includes a meeting where making the calculation or issuing the 
precept as the case may be was included as an item of business 
on the agenda for that meeting; and 

(b) references to a vote are references to a vote on any decision 
related to the making of the calculation or the issuing of the precept 
as the case may be.  

 
23.6 Right to require individual vote to be recorded 

 
Where any member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, 
their vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they 
voted for or against the motion or abstained from voting.  
 

23.7 Voting on appointments 
 

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled 
and there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then 
the name of the person with the least number of votes will be taken off 
the list and a new vote taken. The process will continue until there is a 
majority of votes for one person.  

 
24.      MINUTES 
 
24.1 Signing the minutes 

 
The Mayor/Chairman will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the 
next suitable meeting. The Mayor/Chairman will move that the minutes 
of the previous meeting be signed as a correct record. The only part of 
the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy.  
 

24.2 There is no requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at 
extraordinary meeting 

77



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

 
Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of 
signing the minutes is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12 to the Local Government Act 1972 (an Extraordinary Meeting), then 
the next following meeting (being a meeting called otherwise than 
under that paragraph) will be treated as a suitable meeting for the 
purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of Schedule 12 relating to signing 
of minutes.  
 

24.3 Form of minutes 
 

Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the exact form and 
order the Mayor put them.  
 

25. RECORD OF ATTENDANCE 
 
25.1 All members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign 

their names on the attendance sheets before the conclusion of every 
meeting to assist with the record of attendance.  

 
26.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
26.1 Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in 

accordance with the Access to Information Standing Orders in Part 4 of 
this Constitution or Standing Order 28 (Disturbance by Public).  
 

27. MEMBERS’ CONDUCT 
 
27.1 Speaking and address system 
 

When a member speaks at full Council they must stand and address 
the meeting through the Mayor. If more than one member stands, the 
Mayor will ask one to speak and the others must sit. Other members 
must remain seated whilst a member is speaking unless they wish to 
make a point of order, a point of personal explanation or a statement of 
accuracy. This rule will not apply to Committee or Sub-Committee 
meetings. 
 

27.2 Mayor/Chairman 
 

When the Mayor/Chairman speaks or stands during a debate or 
otherwise indicates that the meeting should come to order, any 
member speaking at the time must stop and sit down. The meeting 
must be silent.  
 

27.3 Member not to be heard further 
 

If a member persistently disregards the ruling of the Mayor/Chairman 
by behaving improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs 

78



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

business, the Mayor/Chairman or another Member may move that the 
Member be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be voted on 
without discussion.  
 

27.4 Member to leave the meeting 
 

If the Member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is 
carried, the Mayor/Chairman or another Member may move that either 
the Member leaves the meeting or that meeting is adjourned a 
specified period. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without 
discussion.  
 

27.5 General disturbance 
 

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, 
the Mayor/Chairman may adjourn the meeting for as long as he or she 
thinks necessary. 
 

27.6 Conflicts of Interest 
 
Members of the Council are under a duty to base their decision making 
on a consideration of the public interest. Members must avoid conflict 
between personal interest and the public interest, declare any personal 
interest when it arises and resolve any conflict between the two 
interests, at once, and in favour of the public. 

 

28.     DISTURBANCE BY PUBLIC 
 
28.1 Removal of member of the public 
 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Mayor/Chairman 
will warn the person concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the 
Mayor/Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  
 

28.2 Clearance of part of meeting room 
 

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open 
to the public, the Mayor/Chairman may call for that part to be cleared.  
 

29.  SUSPENSION OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE STANDING ORDERS 
 

29.1 Suspension 
 

All of these Council Standing Orders of Procedure except Standing 
Order 23.5 and 24.2 may be suspended by motion on notice or without 
notice if at least one half of the whole number of members of the 
Council are present. Suspension can only be for the duration of the 
meeting.  

79



   Part 4, Section 1 – Council Standing Orders  
 

 
 

                                                          
                                                     

 

 
30. PHOTOGRAPHY AND AUDIO/VISUAL RECORDING OF MEETINGS 
 
30.1 Any member of the public may film, audio record, take photographs 

and use social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is 
open to the public.  

 

80



 
                                                               Part 5, Section 11 - Combined Authority Questioning Protocol 

 

 
 

 
CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH COMBINED AUTHORITY QUESTIONING 
PROTOCOL TO PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 
 
 
QUESTIONS REPORT ON THE ACTIVITIES AND DECISIONS OF THE COMBINED 
AUTHORITY SINCE THE LAST MEETING 
 
 

 The Council’s representatives on the Combined Authority will prepare a short 
paper for inclusion in the agenda setting out the activities and decisions of 
the Combined Authority, except at extraordinary or special meetings of the 
Council and the first annual meeting of a new Council. 

 

 Members will have an opportunity to ask questions of the Council’s 
representatives on the Combined Authority, in relation to the activities and 
decisions as set out in the report. This report will be for information and for 
Council to note. 
 

 

QUESTIONS ON NOTICE 
 

 

 Members will also have an opportunity to submit questions on notice to the 
Council’s representatives on the Combined Authority, in accordance with 
Peterborough City Council’s standing orders. 

 

81

AAQ424_2
Typewritten text
Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank

82



  

AB  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Peterborough City Council 
 

Member / Officer Protocol 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This document describes how city Councillors and employees should work 
together. Mutual respect and goodwill are important underlying themes. 
 
The protocols apply to city councillors, employees and co-opted members of 
council committees.  They recognise the contribution of politics and political 
groups, and complement other constitutional requirements such as Standing 
Orders, the Delegations Document and the Member and Officer Codes of 
Conduct. 
 
There are separate protocols relating to civic and media/pre-election publicity 
activity. 

 
 
 
 
 

83

AAQ424_3
Typewritten text
Appendix 4



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/23 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

MEMBER / OFFICER PROTOCOLS - A SUMMARY OF SECTIONS   
 

 
 
   How can I raise an issue? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What information may I have? 
 
 
 
 

What information 
can I give? 

 
 
 
How do I work with officers?          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
         How can I support members? 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

MEMBER 

8 Working with group 
representatives 

19 Officer appraisal, 
training & development 

18 Member appraisal, training & 
development 

16 Political groups 

15 - Support services for members 

14 - Officers' management arrangements 

9 Support for the 
ward member role 

7 Access to premises 

6 Confidentiality 

5 Open government 

4 Decision-making protocols: 
- Principles and advice 
- Administration policy 
- Cabinet business 
- Cabinet member business 
- Overview & scrutiny protocols 
- Regulatory committee business 

10 Member & officer roles 

11 - Working relationships, 
impartiality & conflict resolution 

12 - Meeting protocols 

13 - All Party Policy 
Planning briefings 

3 Councillor structures 

2 Use of titles in 
constitutional documents 
 

17 Members' offices 

 

OFFICER 

Annex A - Member roles 

84



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/24 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

 
 

2. USE OF TITLES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS 
 

Chairman and 
vice-chairman 

The person chairing a meeting, and their deputy, whether male or 
female. The councillor holding office may choose their version of the 
title (eg. chairwoman or chair).  Each chairman's choice of title should 
be respected. 
 

Mayor and 
Deputy Mayor 

The chairman and deputy of the full council meeting.  Further details 
in the Civic Protocol. 
 

Members   Councillors. The naming convention for councillors is 'Councillor' 
followed immediately by surname.  Some councillors insert an 
additional title such as 'Mrs' or ‘Dr’ before their surname.  Their choice 
of title format should be respected. 
 

Officers Council employees. 
 

The Executive The cabinet members, supported by officers. They deliver the 
Council's services, and make any decisions necessary within the 
Council's approved budget and major policy framework. 
 

Cabinet members Up to 9 councillors appointed annually by the Leader of the Council, 
plus the Leader.  Each makes decisions about their own service area. 
 

The Cabinet The cabinet members meeting to discuss and make decisions 
collectively. 
 

The Leader 
of the Council 

The leading councillor and the Cabinet’s chairman.  Appointed 
annually by Council. 
 

A political group Most councillors, soon after election, sign up to a political grouping 
which may, but does not need to, bear the same name as a 
recognised political party.  Each political group appoints a 'leader' and 
a 'group secretary'.  They may also appoint a 'deputy leader’ and 
make any other appointments which the group feels will help it 
conduct its affairs. 
 

The Administration The political group with the most seats is generally known as the 
Council’s Administration, although sometimes a coalition of groups 
may collectively take on this role.  Administration members form the 
Executive and are the chairmen for many or all committees. 
 

Group representatives Councillors identified by their political group to act as their main point 
of contact, for information or consultation, in relation to a particular 
subject. 
 

Directors First-tier officers responsible for a department; references to them in 
this protocol should also be taken to include the Chief Executive. 
 

Heads of service Second-tier officers responsible for a division within a department; 
they may also be known as ‘assistant directors’.  References in these 
protocols to heads of service include assistant directors and any other 
second-tier officers acting in a senior management role. 
 

 

85



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/25 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

 
3. COUNCILLOR STRUCTURES 
 
Each part of the Council's decision-making structure gets its authority from the law and the 
Council's Constitution.  For more detail see the Delegations Document, Standing Orders and 
Procedural Rules.  A summary of roles is: 
 

The Council All councillors collectively consider issues affecting Peterborough, 
and decide the major policy framework and the budget. 
 

Ward members Each councillor has a leading role and voice in their community, 
representing their constituents the Council and other public service 
agencies, and vice-versa. 
 

The Executive Within the major policy framework and budget: 
 

 provides public services, whether directly or through 
partnerships or contracts; 

 enforces regulations*;  

 decides local policies for service delivery and enforcement; 

 gives community leadership, a ‘voice’ for Peterborough. 
 
(*Some enforcement matters are governed by regulatory 
committees instead of the Executive.) 
 

Overview and 
scrutiny committees / 
commissions 

Contribute to policy development and review. Hold the Executive 
to account through scrutiny and challenge. 
 

Regulatory committees Decide quasi-judicial matters that are excluded by law from the 
Executive’s remit (such as planning applications). 
 

Officers Provide services and carry out enforcement in accordance with the 
law and the Council’s policies, using their delegated authority. 

 

86



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/26 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

 
4. DECISION-MAKING PROTOCOLS 
 
4.1 The principles of good decision-making are set out in Article 12 of the Constitution. 
 
4.2 Professional advice should be taken before making a decision, including:  

 relevant policy framework or previous decisions; 

 who has been consulted and relevant outcomes; 

 legal, financial/resource, equalities, community safety, human rights, etc implications; 

 alternative options. 
 

4.3 Administration policy The Executive is not bound by previous Administrations.   When the 
Executive wishes to make a decision contrary to past practice, officers will advise: 

 is the practice mandatory or discretionary? 

 does current practice derive from a policy statement or precedent/an earlier decision? 

 was it decided by the current or a previous Administration? 
 
4.4 Cabinet business: 

 

 A timetable of meetings is agreed in Council's annual schedule but the Leader of the 
Council may add, vary or cancel meetings to provide efficient conduct of business.  He 
or she will try to determine an arrangement that suits most Cabinet members. 
 

 Cabinet meetings deal mainly with cross-cutting, strategic issues. Democratic Services 
Officers, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and Chief Executive, draw up 
the agenda taking into account the Forward Plan, other items on Cabinet's work 
programme and referrals from members, directors and committees. Any member who 
wants to put an item to Cabinet should contact Democratic Services who will liaise with 
the Leader of the Council and the member about how it should be placed on the 
agenda; this does not remove the member's constitutional right to place an item on the 
agenda. 
 

 When a committee reports to the Executive the Leader of the Council may, for 
example, require preliminary consideration by the relevant cabinet member.  This does 
not remove the committee's right to refer a matter to the Cabinet without modification.  
The committee chairman or other representative(s) may attend to hear the debate and 
Cabinet's chairman may invite them to explain the recommendations briefly to Cabinet. 
 

 Officers will brief each cabinet member about any proposals relating to their service 
before the meeting.  Their recommendations will be reflected within the relevant report. 
 

 Ward councillors should be consulted about matters specific to their ward. Comments 
submitted by them are included in the Cabinet report or tabled at the meeting.  If they 
attend, the chairman may ask them to put their views briefly to the Cabinet meeting.  
 

 Directors usually attend all meetings.  Other officers may attend for specific reports. 
 

 The Leader of the Council may request a chairman's briefing before the meeting, 
generally provided by the Chief Executive or another director.  
 

 With the Leader’s agreement, an informal Cabinet briefing may discuss strategic 
issues faced by the Council.  No decisions will be made at such briefings. 

 
4.5 Cabinet member business: 

 

 Individual members take decisions either at briefings with directors/departmental 
management teams, or at any other time provided that appropriate notice of any ‘key 

87



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/27 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

decision’ has been given and that Democratic Services officers are informed. 
 

 

 Senior managers and cabinet members will build up regular contact to keep each 
other informed about developments, especially issues which may be sensitive or 
contentious. Briefings can be conducted in a variety of ways, the method being agreed 
between the member and officer to suit the subject matter and time constraints.  There 
should be regular meetings to discuss strategic issues. 
 

 Members should brief officers about their work in partnership or regional meetings, 
discussions held with outside organisations and constituents, conferences attended 
and any relevant training received. 
 

 Officers should brief members, to help them prepare for meetings and discussions. 
 

 Where it is unclear which cabinet member to brief about an issue, Democratic 
Services officers will ask the Leader of the Council to highlight the appropriate 
member(s). 
 

 The Leader of the Council meets the Chief Executive and Democratic Services officers 
Team regularly.   
 

 Other cabinet members may meet the Chief Executive or Democratic Services 
Officers as appropriate to discuss executive business. 
 

 The Leader or other cabinet member may ask the relevant director to arrange a joint 
briefing with group representatives, particularly when developing proposals. 

 
4.6 Overview and scrutiny protocols: 

 

 The Scrutiny Team maintains a work programme for each committee / commission 
including issues identified by the committee / commission for scrutiny or review, items 
on the Forward Plan likely to require consideration, requests from the Executive for 
policy development work, and items referred by Members or directors. 
 

 An informal quarterly co-ordination meeting of scrutiny chairmen and group 
representatives is convened by the Scrutiny Team, in consultation with Scrutiny group 
representatives.  It may include briefing and training. 
 

 The agenda for each committee meeting is prepared by the Scrutiny Team from the 
work programme, mostly in conjunction with the group representatives. Any Executive 
or director's referral will usually be reported to the next ordinary meeting but the 
chairman and group representatives may agree to postpone it if they believe that the 
next meeting’s agenda is already fully committed. 
 

 Any individual member referral will be reported to the next ordinary meeting unless the 
member agrees to defer (for example, the group representatives may believe that the 
agenda is already full or the matter could be dealt with better another way).  This does 
not remove the Member's constitutional right to place an item on the agenda. 
 

 Group representatives’ meetings are convened and supported by the Scrutiny Team 
for most committees/commissions, in a regular cycle or when needed.  They deal with 
agenda planning, adding/changing meeting dates, agreeing (where timescales are 
short) the final wording of a recommendation/report, and any other matters referred to 
them by the committee. Other relevant officers may attend. 
 

 Scrutiny aims to identify improvement and will be conducted constructively and 
courteously, so that anyone being questioned can make a positive contribution. When 

88



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/28 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

questioning officers the committee / commission should, as far as possible, confine 
itself to questions of fact and explanation, such as what policies are in force, the extent 
to which objectives are met and how services are being delivered.  Officers may be 
asked to explain and justify their own decisions. Questions about the Executive’s 
conclusions and political choices should be directed to the relevant Cabinet Member. 

 

 A guideline process for reviews will be maintained by the Scrutiny Team and promoted 
in training sessions for officers and members. The review scope, objectives and 
timetable should be set realistically, with regard to organisational capacity (member 
and officer) to sustain the likely workload. Agreed reviews will be supported by the 
Scrutiny Team, a lead officer from the relevant service and any necessary corporate 
support services (financial, human resources, policy, etc).  
 

 Research support for members can be co-ordinated by the Scrutiny Team related to 
a policy area or decision that a committee is examining.  The team can advise upon 
avenues of enquiry and help to identify useful contributors.  Other officers will provide 
support and briefings as necessary. If the Scrutiny Team or any other officer feels that 
an individual member request cannot be met without diverting time from priority work, 
they may through their director or head of service indicate to the requesting member 
that the research cannot be completed at present.   
 

 It can arise that an activity is proposed where the director believes there is insufficient 
resource available.  For example, there may be a conflict of priorities, or there may 
be no budget to carry out a survey or to commission an independent expert.  In such 
cases the director should explain the situation to the committee or member.  If priorities 
cannot be agreed, they should refer to the relevant cabinet member for guidance. If 
there is an irreconcilable difference between a committee or member's wishes and 
the relevant cabinet member's advice, this should be referred by the director to the 
Leader of the Council and Chief Executive for discussion. 

 
4.7 Regulatory committee business: 

 

 Democratic Services officers may prepare agenda plans, and an agenda planning 
meeting for the chairman and group representatives. The date should suit the majority 
of participants.  Directors will summarise each potential issue for report, to help the 
representatives consider its appropriateness and request any relevant information.  
 

 The agenda will try to ensure an appropriate length of meeting, so that members can 
retain concentration for dealing with complex applications and evidence, and to 
minimise the risk of participants and observers being kept waiting for items for 
unreasonably long periods.  The agenda may therefore include specific timings within it.  
 

 These committees often deal with matters involving consideration of applications and 
evidence.  Members and officers participating must have prior training in and comply 
with the relevant legislation, codes of conduct and constitutional rules. 
 

 When determining an application or appeal, the procedure will allow speakers for and 
against to hear the arguments put by others, all questions put and the answers given.  
Committee members should avoid suggesting any pre-formed opinion, bias or lack of 
openness and even-handedness during the sitting.  Any member voting upon the case 
should not vote if they have been unable to hear all of the discussion about the item. 
 

 Site visits required for planning applications will be arranged by officers, and members 
should not visit the sites unaccompanied on other occasions.  Further details are 
included within the Planning Code of Conduct.  If a member believes any other 
committee site inspection or visit should be arranged it would need to be approved by 
the relevant committee, taking account of budgetary provision for any related expenses.  

 
 

89



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/29 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

 
5. OPEN GOVERNMENT 
 
The City Council believes in open government and makes its decisions in public wherever 
possible.  In particular: 
 

The Forward Plan A timetable of key decisions coming up in the next four months is 
published on the website and e-mailed to local media and other 
people upon request. 
 

Council, Cabinet and 
committee meetings 

 Agenda, reports and minutes published on the web and can be 
inspected at the Council’s main office and at libraries. 
 

 Public seating available at meetings. The press and public are 
only excluded when the topics discussed are defined in law as 
confidential or exempt. 
 

 Public speaking is possible, within written guidelines, at 
Council and Planning & Environmental Protection Committee 
meetings. 
 

 At all public meetings visitors may observe but not participate.  
The chairman has discretion to allow non-committee members 
to speak, if it would help the meeting, but not join in the debate. 
 

 Where microphones are used, the meeting may be tape-
recorded. Tape recordings are only usually taken for Council, 
Planning & Environmental Protection Committee, Cabinet and 
Scrutiny Committee / Commission meetings.  Verbatim notes 
or tape transcripts of meetings are not compiled or published.  
A transcribed extract from a tape recording may be provided, 
within reason, upon request about a specific issue.   

 

Cabinet member 
decisions 

Every decision is published within two working days on the web 
and e-mailed to local media and others upon request.  The 
decision record includes the reason for the decision and other 
options that were rejected.  
 

Officer decisions and 
freedom of Information 

Officers make many decisions, the majority of which are minor 
operational matters.  When they make decisions of substance a 
file note is kept.  Under freedom of information law, most Council 
documentation is opening to public inspection. The Council's 
scheme of documents open to the public is available on the web. 
 

 
 

90



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/30 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

 
6. CONFIDENTIALITY 
 
6.1 Personal data and exempt/confidential information: 
 

 Councillors need information, explanation and advice to help them discharge their role.  
This may entitle them to information otherwise unavailable due to data protection 
restrictions (ie. personal data) and local government's access to information rules (ie. 
‘exempt’ information).  The Constitution's Access to Information Procedure Rules 
describe when a member may have a 'need to know'. The Code of Conduct requires 
members to use any Council information properly, particularly confidential information. 
 

 Officers may ask a member to explain their need to know information in accordance 
with the procedural rules.  The personal data flowchart below also provides summary 
guidance.  Advice can be sought from the relevant director or the Monitoring Officer, if 
anyone not sure what can be released to whom, and how it can be used. 
 

 When a meeting considers an exempt report, all members and officers without direct 
involvement with the report (except directors, the lawyer and the committee officer) 
must leave. Only directors may access exempt or confidential reports that do not relate 
directly to their service area.   Other requests for such information should be referred to 
the relevant director and, if not resolved, to the Monitoring Officer. 
 

6.2 Confidentiality in briefings: 
 

 Information initiated and volunteered by officers to members should be given to all 
political groups even-handedly.  
 

 Information given in answer to specific member requests will not usually be shared 
with other members, unless the enquirer agrees.  On occasions when an officer 
believes that information given to one member or political group should be shared with 
others, the officer will tell the requesting member or political group beforehand. 
 

 Officers should not reveal their discussions with one member to another, including the 
relevant cabinet member, unless they told the enquirer beforehand that they would. 
 

 Members should recognise that they may be involved in the early stages of a project or 
developing ideas, when it would be unhelpful for the matter to be discussed in public.  If 
confidentiality has been requested, this should be respected. 

 
6.3  E-mail and letter confidentiality: 
 

 Because a member's peterborough.gov.uk e-mail account may be routed automatically 
to a private e-mail account, it is important to protect the privacy of the member’s 
account address which may appear if their e-mails are forwarded. 
 

 Officers who receive an e-mail or letter from a member should generally not forward 
this to colleagues or other members without first checking with the originator that this is 
permissible.  If the permission is not given, then a new e-mail may be created which 
contains the gist of the original information.  The reason for this is: firstly, the originator 
may not wish the content of the e-mail or letter to go further; secondly, they may not 
wish their originating e-mail address to be publicised. 

 

 
 
 

91



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/31 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

 

Request f or personal

inf ormation f rom an Elected

Member.

Establish in what capacity

the Member is requesting the

inf ormation:

As a representative of a

political party

When carrying out work on

behalf of the City Council

As a representative of a

citizen

DISCLOSING PERSONAL INFORMATION TO

ELECTED MEMBERS

DO NOT RELEASE

Unless PCC is required to

make inf ormation public or

the inf ormation is

depersonalised bef ore

release

Is the disclosure necessary

f or the perf ormance of  of f ic ial

duties?

Does the citizen liv e in the

Member's ward?

DO NOT RELEASE

YES

Has the Member prov ided

the data subject's written

consent  to be kept on f ile?

Does the inf ormation contain

sensitiv e personal

inf ormation?

(See DP Staf f  Guidelines)

YES

RELEASE

With approval of Head of

Section

Only  giv e as much

inf ormation as needed f or

the purpose.  Inf ormation to

be returned to Section Head.

Form, av ailable on Public

Folders under Data

Protection, to be kept on f ile

NO

Has the Member prov ided

the data subject's written

consent  to be kept on f ile?

YES

NO

DO NOT RELEASE

NO

NOTE:  The Council, Individual

Members or employees can be

prosecuted or sued for the

disclosure of information about

citzens without their consent.

NONO NO

RELEASE

With approval of Head of

Section

Only  giv e as much

inf ormation as needed f or

the purpose.  Inf ormation to

be returned to Section Head.

Form, av ailable on Public

Folders under Data

Protection, to be kept on f ile

YES

NOYES

RELEASE

With approval of Head of

Section

Only  giv e as much

inf ormation as needed f or

the purpose.  Inf ormation to

be returned to Section Head.

Form, av ailable on Public

Folders under Data

Protection, to be kept on f ile

92



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/32 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

7. ACCESS TO PREMISES 
 
7.1  Officers may enter Council land and premises to carry out their work. Some officers are 

authorised by legislation and the Delegations Document to enter land and premises owned 
by other people or organisations. 

 
7.2  Councillors have common law rights of access to Council land and premises to enable 

them to carry out their duties as a councillor, such as to attend a meeting they have been 
invited.  If a member wants access in other circumstances they should make arrangements 
in advance with the appropriate director or the manager of the premises. 

 
7.3 Insurance  The Council has personal accident cover for members who are injured while 

carrying out their official duties as a councillor, and public liability cover against claims by a 
third party against a member while the latter is undertaking official duties.  However, a 
member visiting Council premises outside the scope of official duties is only covered by the 
public liability policy as a member of the public.  Thus, to claim, it would be necessary to 
prove that the accident/injury arose due to negligence of the Council or its officers. 

 
7.4   Building work  At sites where building work is in process, the contract conditions in force 

will specify that the site is in possession of the contractor and only certain officers (eg the 
supervisor) have right of entry.  Anyone else must make contact with the contractor 
(through the relevant director or head of service) before going on site. 

 
7.5 Planning application sites  If they want to inspect a planning application site, members 

should make arrangements with the relevant planning officer who has statutory rights under 
Town & Country Planning law to enter the site.  There are various situations where an 
occupier may be liable for injury sustained by someone on his or her premises, but the 
liability is reduced if the person was not invited by the owner so could be termed a 
trespasser. 

 
8. WORKING WITH GROUP REPRESENTATIVES 
 
8.1 Why? It is helpful for each political group to appoint a ‘group representative’ for each main 

service/subject area to make clear, for each group: 
 

 who officers should inform about policy/service developments 

 who officers should consult, for advice and views about a policy/service 

 which contact names may be given to the media, when news releases are issued or if a 
media request is received; 

 who will respond to the various informal processes related to decision-making (such as 
agreeing meeting dates), with fair involvement of all political groups. 

 
8.2 Who? A group representative is usually appointed for each committee.  The chairman is 

automatically their group’s representative.  Groups may organise their group representation 
in other ways.  If the designated representative is not clear, officers should ask the group 
leader or secretary who to contact. For cross-cutting/corporate issues, officers will usually 
inform and consult group leaders, unless they are asked to do otherwise by the group.   

 
8.3 How? Directors and heads of service should have regular contact with each group 

representative for their service area.  Where there is a vice-chairman relevant to the service 
area, they should also be kept informed, particularly if they are likely to cover for the 
chairman at a meeting.  The members should, in turn, ensure that they maintain regular 
contact with the relevant director/heads of service. Each should build up a regular working 
relationship with the other. Confidentiality should be respected. 

 
8.4 When Formal group representatives’ meetings are usually arranged by Democratic 

Services.  There should be regular briefings between group representatives and relevant 
senior managers, whether jointly or separately.  They may include the cabinet member. The 

93



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/33 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

method chosen should be agreed between the director and representatives, to suit the 
subject matter and time and other constraints of all parties concerned.   

 
9.  SUPPORT FOR THE WARD MEMBER ROLE 
 

All members play an important role in their ward, providing community leadership at local level and 
acting as advocates for their constituents.  Officers should be open and supportive, providing 
information and briefings both upon request and through the officer’s initiative. 
 

Ward members are entitled to: 
 

 Briefing about local issues to help them represent the Council to the community and vice-versa. 
 

 Find out about new issues from the Council first, not the media or other local sources. 
 

 Help and advice about their ward.  If their request cannot be met, they should be told why and 
the officer should suggest an alternative approach to meet their aims where possible. 
 

 Notice of any Council consultative exercise that affects their ward, with an opportunity to submit 
views in time to have an influence, and also to be informed of local responses. 

 

 Notice of public meetings arranged by the Council affecting their ward. 
 

 Draft reports or decision notices, from the author, and any views shown in the final report/notice. 
 

 All final Cabinet or committee reports affecting their wards, sent by Cabinet/Scrutiny officers 
with an invitation to submit written comments directly to the meeting. 
 

 Attend the relevant meeting, at which the chairman of the meeting may invite them to speak. 
 

 Raise ward issues through question times at Council meetings and at Cabinet. 
 

 Notice, from the officer organising the event, of any official engagements by the Mayor in their 
area where these are ward specific.  This only applies to events arranged by the Council and 
not to the whole range of the Mayor's numerous engagements within the community, notice of 
which is publicly available on the mayors’ page on the Council website. 
 

 An invitation to any ward meeting or site visit initiated by officers - either one joint meeting for all 
the ward councillors, or an equal opportunity for each to have a separate meeting. 

 

Ward members should: 
 

 Tell officers about local concerns, perspectives and ideas. 
 

 Take complaints or service requests from local people to officers informally first.  The issue will 
often be a misunderstanding rather than service failure, which can be resolved without 
escalation through formal channels.  If a member is not happy with the response received, they 
should then generally contact the relevant head of service or director. 
 

 Refer any constituent's specific formal complaint straight to the central Complaints Officer so 
that it can be logged and the Council’s response can be arranged. 
 

 Not 'jump the queue' for service delivery, for their residents and enquirers. Members should 
respect the Council’s policies and service procedures.   
 

 If receiving a request for help from a resident outside their ward, tell the resident who their local 
councillors are and only take up the request if the resident still asks them to.   
 

94



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/34 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

 Not ask officers to attend a meeting or site visit in their ward where the public is expected to 
attend, without inviting the other local ward councillors.  This does not apply to private 
meetings/site visits with officers or a ward 'walkabout' with an officer. 

 

 Refer any issues put to them by constitution not in their ward to the relevant local ward 
councillors. 

 
 

10. MEMBER AND OFFICER ROLES 
 

Members 
 

 Responsible to the Peterborough electorate.  Serve up to a four-year term of office. 
 

 Give political direction for the Council's services. Determine policy for providing the Council's 
services. Carry out reviews of council services. 
 

 Scrutinise the effectiveness of council and local health services, monitoring performance 
against plans and targets. Actively contribute valuable local knowledge and experience. 
 

 Hear applications and appeals about council services, where not decided by officers. 
 

 Help residents, organisations or businesses to access services, acting as advocates for them. 
 

 Lead the community, at council-wide and local levels. Speak for Peterborough in regional, 
national and international arenas.  
 

 Work together across political divides as far as possible, for the benefit of the Council’s 
services and Peterborough’s diverse community. 
 

 Promote partnership working with other service providers and local organisations, where 
appropriate.  
 

 May be appointed to represent the Council on external organisations, such as a local health 
service management board or a community centre management committee.  Attend regularly 
and keep the Council briefed about the organisation. 
 

More detail about the role of members who take on special responsibilities is shown in the 
member roles at Appendix A. 

 

Officers 

 

 Employed by, and accountable to, the Chief Executive as ‘head of paid service’. 
 

 Serve all members, acting impartially. Support them in their work as ward members, as 
Executive or committee members and as Council representatives on other organisations. 
 

 Make managerial and operational decisions about service delivery and enforcement, within 
delegated authority. Carry out the decisions made by members. 
 

 Give professional advice about policy development and decision-making.  Be aware of the 
political and sensitive nature of much of their work, and take steps to understand the political 
and media implications of their recommendations. 
 

 Support and advise the Administration.  While all members must be treated equally, officers 
must support the Administration's objectives and implement the Executive’s policies.  This 
inevitably means that a considerable amount of officer time is spent upon Executive business. 
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5 cm,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

95



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/35 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

 Day-to-day partnership working and liaison with service users, residents, communities, public 
service providers, businesses and organisations. Inform and consult about council services. 
 

 Liase with regional, national and international organisations, especially governmental 
organisations, in the interests of Peterborough. 
 

 Advise appropriate cabinet member(s) of the results of the above consultations. 

 
11. WORKING RELATIONSHIPS, IMPARTIALITY AND CONFLICT RESOLUTION 
 

Dilemmas Approaches 

 

Balancing time and 
priorities 
 
Members and officers 
have to balance many 
competing priorities, 
and may not always be 
able to respond to 
requests immediately 

 Members should explain their preferred timescale at the time of any 
request, especially if it is urgent, so officers can make informed 
judgements about competing requests and priorities. 
 

 Officers should take into account other demands (Council, work, 
other public appointments, etc) upon members. 
 

 Officers should not swamp members with written material.  
 

 Reports and letters should be concise and jargon-free. 
 

 Officers should not expect members to routinely respond to requests 
at short notice.  Reasonable deadlines should be set and highlighted 
on the front of correspondence. 

 

Familiarity Members and officers need open working relationships, but should 
treat close personal familiarity with caution.  It could cause difficulties 
in terms of conflicts of interest, inadvertently passing on confidential 
information, or giving rise to suspicions of influence or favouritism. 
 
Members should not apply undue pressure on officers to undertake 
work outside their normal duties, procedures or working hours. 
 
Officers should not use their working relationship with a member to 
influence a decision in their favour, raise personal matters connected 
with their job or make allegations about other employees. 
 

Proper conduct  
 
Members and officers 
are expected to  

 perform their duties effectively and efficiently; 

 give timely responses to enquiries and complaints; 

 keep each other updated; 

 participate in briefings and training, to keep up to date with changing 
legislation, circumstances and roles; 

 understand and respect each others’ roles and pressures; 

 not use their position to advance personal interests or influence 
decisions improperly; 

 comply with the Members’ and Officers’ Codes of Conduct. 
 

Conflict resolution If a member feels they have not been treated with respect and 
courtesy, or their requests are being frustrated or dealt with 
inadequately, they should ideally first raise this with the officer 
concerned.  If matter is not then resolved, they should then raise it 
with the director (or, if the director is the cause of the concern, the 
Chief Executive) either directly or through their group leader/group 
secretary.  The senior officer will consider whether there has been a 
breach of the officer code of conduct, and any appropriate action. 
 

96



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/36 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

If an officer feels a member has been rude or placed unreasonable 
demands upon them, or a representative is not working with the lead 
officer, they should ideally raise this first with the member concerned.  
If the matter is not then resolved, they should raise it with their director 
(or the Chief Executive, if it is a director who is concerned), who will 
raise it with the member and/or the member’s group leader, as 
appropriate.  If it there may have been a breach of the members' code 
of conduct then the Monitoring Officer's advice will be taken. 

 
12.  MEETING PROTOCOLS 
 
12.1 Meetings schedule Council sets an annual schedule of dates for Council, the Cabinet and 

standing committees.  This is confirmed at each annual council meeting for the municipal 
year just starting, and is rolled forward to a provisional Year 2 schedule at the same time. 

 
12.2 Variations to the schedule, and other meeting dates  Variations to the schedule, and 

dates and times of other committees or working groups not listed in the schedule, will be 
determined by the chairman, after prior consultation with group representatives.  (In the 
case of Cabinet, there is no need for such consultation).  Democratic Services officers will 
consult the group representatives (or, if time is short, another member of that group if the 
representative cannot be contacted) and the relevant lead officers.  Chairmen will try to 
ensure that meetings are timed to be accessible to all members and officers who are 
required to attend.  The Mayor determines any variation to the Council schedule, in 
consultation with group leaders. 

 
12.3 Timing  For a committee meeting, if there is disagreement about timing between the 

chairman and group representatives, the meeting will start at the normal time for meetings 
of that committee as identified in the Annual Calendar of Meetings approved by Council.  If 
there is an unresolved dispute for a working group this will be determined by the parent 
body. 

 
12.4 Meeting cancellation  Any meeting may be cancelled if there is insufficient business.  For 

Council this will be determined by the Mayor in consultation with the group leaders; for 
Cabinet meetings, by the Leader of the Council; and for all committees and working groups, 
by the chairman in consultation with the group representatives. 

 
12.5 Meeting conduct  The chairman’s role is to maintain order, a business-like approach, an 

atmosphere of respect and a good flow of debate, following constitutional rules and also 
the common law of meetings wherever the Council’s procedural rules are silent upon an 
issue.  They chairman will allow adjournments for comfort breaks where reasonable, 
especially during the hearing of applications or appeals when any member who leaves the 
meeting may not participate in the vote at completion of the hearing.    

 
12.6 The meeting room  Most meetings take place at the Town Hall, but other venues can be 

used with the committee's agreement.  The layout of seats and tables may be varied to 
create a more or less formal atmosphere, depending upon the nature of the business.   
When members of the public are participants (for example, at question and answer 
sessions or when speaking for or against an application), efforts will be made to ensure the 
layout is not intimidating.  The aim is to help the person make a positive contribution. 

 
12.7  Refreshments  Soft drinks are made available at all meetings.  Food will not usually be 

eaten at meetings which are open to the public and when decisions are being made, to 
avoid detracting or distracting from the seriousness of the business at hand.  Refreshments 
may be appropriate where participants have been asked to attend across a meal-time. 

 
 
13. ALL PARTY POLICY PLANNING BRIEFINGS (APPP) 
 

97



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/37 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

13.1 These cross-party meetings are held regularly, usually on the last Thursday of each month 
excepting May, August and December.  They allow the full Council membership to receive 
briefings, and ask questions and discuss points arising both informally and confidentially.  

 

13.2 In general, one presentation per meeting will be arranged by Members Services Unit (in 
consultation with the APPP chairman) about contemporary, significant service and 
corporate issues.  This may include external presenters. 

 

13.3 Council will determine the date and time of APPP meetings, usually through the annual 
meetings schedule.  The meeting itself will appoint its chairman. 

 

 
14  OFFICERS’ MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS 
 
14.1 Corporate Management Team (CMT) meets fortnightly to consider strategic issues 

affecting the Council.  Formal meetings are serviced by Democratic Services, and chaired 
by the Chief Executive or a nominated director.  The agenda is agreed with the Chief 
Executive or meeting chairman. Action points/minutes are made available within the 
Council.  Typical issues discussed: 

 draft Cabinet/committee reports and work programmes; 

 new initiatives from government or other agencies and the likely impact on the Council; 

 items requested by members, directors or heads of service; 

 the outcomes and expectations of best value and other inspections; 

 a workshop to discuss specific issues or as part of overall organisational development.   
 

  The Group usually sees all draft Cabinet reports before they are issued.  It may request 
sight of draft overview and scrutiny committee reports based upon forward examination of 
the work programme.  This allows strategic management of the authority’s business. 

 
14.2 Departmental management teams  (DMTs) comprise the director and the heads of 

service for each division within a department, with other officers as necessary to give legal, 
financial, constitutional or other advice. They meet regularly to discuss strategic and 
operational matters.  These meetings may include: 

 meetings with the cabinet member and/or group representatives; 

 organised training sessions about specific issues; 

 feedback from the Executive, committee meetings and CMT; 

 inspection reports; 

 Cabinet/committee work programmes and draft reports; 

 service planning and employee related matters; 

 contributions to and responses to corporate initiatives. 
 
14.3 Communications: Consistent two-way communication between members, managers and 

other employees, is important, avoiding duplication.  Communication channels include: 

 Chief Executive’s regular briefings open to all employees; 

 service specific briefings – as and when necessary; 

 weekly Members’ Information bulletin and Members’ Digest  - officers should use  
these to reduce the reading burden for members and printing and distribution costs; 

 newsletters for all employees and members and per department; 

 information passed from CMT to DMTs to team meetings; 

 one to one meetings with employees or councillors; 

 shared computer databases. 
 
14.4 Politically restricted posts All officer posts are impartial, but the following have a special 

political restriction by law:  the Chief Executive; directors; the Monitoring Officer (i.e the 
Solicitor to the Council); and officers on a list which the Council must maintain of all posts 
which either have annual pay equivalent to or above pay spinal column point 44, or involve 
the officer in regularly giving advice to Council, the Executive, a committee or sub-
committee, or regularly speaking on the Council's behalf to journalists and broadcasters. 

 

98



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/38 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

Officers whose posts are “politically restricted” may not: 

 hold office in a political party, act as an election agent or canvass on behalf of a political 
party or candidate for election; 

 stand for election to a local authority (except to a parish council); 

 speak in public, give interviews or publish any written work with the intention of affecting 
public support for a political party. 

 

These restrictions do not affect the employee’s family.  They do not prevent the officers 
from, for example, displaying an election poster in a window of their home if they so wish. 

 

99



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/39 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

 
15. SUPPORT SERVICES PROVIDED FOR MEMBERS  
 

The Council may only help members to discharge their role as councillors, and may not use its 
resources for party political activity.  Members will not ask officers to publish material that appears 
to seek public support for a political party, or to do work that would compromise their impartiality.  
Any such requests are referred back to the member for they or their party office to undertake. 
  
Secretarial and administrative support for ward casework  Provided by the Members 
Services Unit ('the Unit'). Carried out strictly in date order of receipt unless marked as ‘urgent’, 
and completed within three working days where possible.   
 

May not refer to membership of/support for political parties.  Local newsletter titles may be 
mentioned unless this places the impartiality of the Unit at risk. Political views may be 
expressed, if the correspondence includes a statement that it may not reflect the Council's views. 
 

The Unit may interview constituents who phone or visit the Town Hall, take and record 
appropriate action on members' behalf.  The constituent is kept informed of action taken and the 
member notified in writing, with copies of any correspondence instigated on their behalf.  
Correspondence is not be copied to another member, without prior consultation. 
 

Member details  Maintained by the Unit and Democratic Services secretaries. Published on the 
web, if the member's permission has been given. 
 

Casework generated by ward surveys and feedback forms  Can be undertaken by the Unit.  
Information such as service requests is taken from the survey form and forwarded to the relevant 
officer, to avoid circulating any material showing political bias. Officer replies are recorded and 
the ward resident contacted on the member's behalf. The Unit will not, however, produce or 
otherwise be involved in the implementation of the survey itself. 
 

Ward profiles   Available to members, on request to the Unit. 
 

Members’ post   Despatched  every Monday, Wednesday and Friday; only urgent mail sent on 
other days. The Unit will tell members about bulky items, to be collected from Group Rooms 
where possible to save postage. Members return envelopes to the Town Hall for reuse. 

 

Multiple copies of sealed mail are checked by the Unit to see if they should be posted at the 
Council's expense.  Inappropriate items (advertising, political material and junk mail, etc) are 
logged and placed in Group Rooms for collection by members.  Political groups’ correspondence 
relating specifically to Council policy and business may be mailed in members' post. 
 

Photocopying Each request judged on its merits.  Maximum 250 copies per member per month 
or 3,000 per year.  Members collect/distribute bulk copies; they are not mailed by the Council. 

 

E-mail  A peterborough.gov.uk address for all members, routed automatically where the member 
has a private e-mail facility available, and otherwise forwarded hard copy by the Unit. Hard-copy 
forwarding should not be used to conduct personal or party political business. 
 

Ward surgeries  Arranged by the member, but advertised by the Unit.  The Unit pays invoices 
for surgery venues.  Officers are not expected to attend members’ surgeries. 
 

Office supplies  Reasonable supplies of letter-head paper, business cards and office stationery. 
Dictaphones, fax machines and replacement fax cartridges for Council use.  Provided in Group 
Rooms, and for home use upon request from the Unit.  Shredding available for council papers. 
(Allowances and ICT support are described in the Members Allowances Scheme.) 

 

Car parking  An annual bulk request to renew members’ car parking permits.   
 

100



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/40 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

 
16.  POLITICAL GROUPS 
 
16.1 Councillors may give notice of membership of a political group.  Each group appoints a 

leader and secretary, may appoint a deputy leader and otherwise arranges its own affairs. 
 
16.2 Private political group meetings may be held at the Town Hall. Members Services Unit 

will arrange, providing a secretariat service if requested, up to one meeting each month. 
These will usually follow the All Party Policy Planning meeting. 

 
16.3 Officers may attend political group meetings on Council business.  Any request for an 

officer to attend a Group meeting should be directed to the Chief Executive or relevant 
director, stating the subject matter. The Chief Executive or director will determine which 
officer(s) should attend, usually a second-tier officer or above. If they believe officer 
attendance would be inappropriate, they will discuss this with the group leader. 

 
16.4 Officers must not advise group meetings about political or party business.  Members and 

officers should avoid any conduct that could compromise officers' impartiality. Special care 
is needed if the meeting includes party representatives/observers who are not councillors.  
These people will not have signed the statutory Code of Conduct and do not have 
members’ rights to information, so officers may not be able to provide the same level of 
advice.  The meeting chairman will tell officers if there are observers present. 

 
16.6 Confidentiality: the content of discussions will not be relayed directly or indirectly to 

members of another group or officers without the consent of the political group. 
 
16.7 A public political group meeting may not be held at the Town Hall, to avoid any 

confusion in public perception as to the Council's official views about an issue.  
 
 
17.  MEMBERS' OFFICES 
 
17.1 Group Rooms  All Members have access to their ‘political group room’, which is not open 

to other members or officers.  These are supported by Members' Services Unit. 
 
17.2 Members’ Lounge This is open to all members.  It can be used when meeting visitors to 

discuss ward related issues and other council business.  It may also be used by members 
to hold small meetings where it is not appropriate to hold these within the group rooms.  

 
17.3 Leader's office The Leader of the Council is provided with an office. 
 
18. MEMBER APPRAISAL, TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
18.1 Service-specific briefing and training  This is arranged and funded by the service 

department.  Attendance at external events should be approved in accordance with the 
Delegations Document.  Any expenses incurred on behalf of an individual councillor must 
be notified to the Head of Governance, both to track overall training provision and to ensure 
that legal requirements (see the Members’ Allowances Scheme) are followed. 

 
18.2  Members should receive appropriate training in order to sit on regulatory committees and 

also to undertake best value reviews. 
 
18.3 Corporately arranged briefing and training  A central budget is provided for corporately 

arranged members’ training, managed by Democratic Services and advised by the 
Organisational Development section within Human Resources Division.  The Monitoring 
Officer oversees the central funds to ensure that there is provision for the following 
categories:  executive development; overview and scrutiny development; generic/cross-
party skills development; and individual member requests supported by their political group. 

 

101



Part 5, Section 3 – Member / Officer Protocols 

5/41 
    Issue date October 2012 

    Version 005 

18.4 The Peterborough Guide to Training and Development for City Councillors highlights the 
skills needed to be a ward councillor, carry out scrutiny or serve on the Executive.  It 
suggests a method for members to identify their training and development needs in a 
personal development plan.  It can be used for a self- assessment with officers, on request.   

 

18.5  The Chief Executive will maintain a database of members’ training. This is used to develop 
an annual training plan for members. 

 
18.6  Members attending an external training event/conference should feed back to the relevant 

director or head of service, to consider how the information learnt can be disseminated. 
 
18.7 Member roles (Appendix A) have been drawn up to advise the independent remuneration 

panel.  These can be used alongside the training guide, to help clarify learning needs, and 
also help members of the public to know what they can expect of elected members. 

 

18.8 The Council does not operate a formal performance appraisal scheme for members.  
Standards Committee agreed that this would be impractical to operate.  Members are 
ultimately held accountable by their electorate through local elections.  Residents can find 
out about their councillors by means of contact details and explanatory information about 
members' roles provided in leaflets and on the Council's website.  

 

19.  OFFICER APPRAISAL, TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
19.1 The Council's learning policy recognises that all employees need to learn and develop. 

Each department is encouraged to have a training plan, reflecting the Council's and 
services' objectives and action plans. Officer attendance at briefings, courses, seminars 
and conferences is arranged and funded by the department’s budget in line with their 
training plan and service plans. 

 
19.2 Afterwards, the officer and line manager should evaluate whether the learning objectives 

were met and share learning, to maximise benefit from the investment in the event.  
 
19.3 All employees should have a personal development plan reviewed at least annually through 

the appraisal process.  Annual appraisal includes at least six-monthly meetings where the 
officer and manager review job description, achievements, progress with meeting current 
objectives, new objectives, learning needs and any other ways in which support could be 
given to improve the person's job and or performance. 

 
 

 

102



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 7

26 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Peter Carpenter, Service Director - Financial Services
Cabinet Member responsible: Cllr David Seaton

Contact Officer(s): Natalie Moult, Assistant Lawyer
Project Delivery Team – Contracts and Procurement

Tel. 452527

CONSULTANT, INTERIM AND AGENCY WORKER POLICY

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Peter Carpenter, Service Director - Financial 
Services

Deadline date: N/A

     It is recommended that Audit Committee:

1. Recommend for approval by Cabinet, the revised Consultant, Interim and Agency Worker 
Policy, which has been drafted in consultation with key stakeholders and officers to reflect 
compliance with procurement and HMRC regulations.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to Audit Committee following a recommendation by the officers as part 
of an overall review of the Council’s compliance with changes to tax legislation (IR35).

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to note and recommend for approval the revised Consultant  Interim 
and Agency Worker Policy.  The revised policy makes clear the process that officers must follow 
to ensure all non-payrolled workers are engaged compliantly, in accordance with procurement 
regulations and Contract Rules and that due consideration is given to IR35 status and HMRC 
regulations.

2.2 This report is for Audit Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference No. . 2.2.1.11
 
To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive or a Director, or any Council body

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 The purpose of the Consultant, Interim and Agency Worker Policy is to provide officers with clear 
instructions in respect of the engagement and management of non-payrolled workers where it is 
not possible to fill posts with a permanent or temporary employee.

103



Throughout the council, interims and agency workers are engaged to work temporarily for and 
under the supervision of the council, usually to cover business-as-usual activities/providing cover 
for a role and are ideally engaged on a short term basis.  Consultants are generally engaged for 
a limited period or for short-term projects to provide professional advice or services.

The council aims to ensure that value for money is received from all non-payrolled workers and 
has competitively tendered Corporate Framework Agreements for the provision of all social care 
and non-social care roles.  Under no circumstances must an interim or agency worker be 
engaged without attempting to utilise these frameworks in the first instance. Engaging a 
consultant is a procurement activity, therefore it is important that any expenditure in relation to 
engaging a consultant must be in accordance with the council’s Contract Rules.

The revised policy sets out the process of engagement to ensure compliance with the Contract 
Rules and applicable legislation.  This ensures a consistent application in the use of non-payrolled 
workers across the council and that correct procedures are followed to engage them.  The 
revision of the policy also establishes a process for ensuring that IR35 status is correctly applied 
and recorded for all engagements, hence that the council is compliant with HMRC regulations.  
IR35 is the reference used to describe a piece of tax legislation which aims to differentiate 
between genuine businesses and workers who are for all intents and purposes a temporary 
employee.  

As a result of these revisions there will be clearly defined processes for all officers to follow when 
engaging either a consultant, interim or agency worker and greater transparency.  Once the policy 
has been approved, it will be widely publicised via the Council’s established staff communication 
tools (weekly briefing, manager briefings etc) and a dedicated webpage will be set up on Insight 
to host the policy with appropriate links and contact details incorporated as appropriate.

5. CONSULTATION

Feedback from officers over a period of time has indicated the process for engaging non-payrolled 
workers within the current policy is confusing and unclear.  Central to revision to the policy has 
been that officers have clear steps to follow when engaging an agency worker/interim/consultant 
to ensure compliance at all times.

CMT, all DMTs and the Unions were consulted upon the final draft of the policy.

5.1 Resources DMT – 31st January 2018
Growth and Regeneration DMT – 22nd January 2018
Governance DMT – 6th February 2018
P&C DMT - 5th March 2018
Unions - 12th March 2018
CMT - 14th March 2018.

5.2 The general feedback from each of the DMTs was that a clear, step by step process is welcomed 
in relation to engaging a non-payrolled worker.  Officers in general are unaware of the current 
policy’s location on Insite and many have found the policy difficult to understand and 
unnecessarily lengthy.  Officers require (i) clear definitions; (ii)  user friendly processes to follow; 
and (iii) signposts to relevant points of contact and forms.  

These recommendations have been incorporated both in the policy and the proposals for its 
publication once approved.

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 The revised policy has been developed in order to clarify and update the process that officers 
should follow to ensure all non-payrolled workers are engaged compliantly, in accordance with 
procurement regulations and Contract Rules and that due consideration is given to IR35 status 
and HMRC regulations.

104



7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 To ensure all agency workers, interims and consultants are engaged compliantly, in accordance 
with procurement regulations and Contract Rules and that due consideration is given to IR35 
status and HMRC regulations.

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 To not update the existing policy. 

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 The financial implications of not following this process in respect of IR35 status recording  is 
fines/costs from HMRC

Legal Implications

9.2 The policy reflects the requirements for compliance with procurement regulations, the 
Constitution’s Contract Rules and that consideration is given by all officers to IR35 status and 
HMRC regulations.

Equalities Implications

9.3 There are none.

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 None

11. APPENDICES

11.1 ● Key changes between the original and revised policy 
● Consultant, Interim and Agency Worker Policy plus Appendices A and B

105



This page is intentionally left blank

106



Key changes within the revised Consultant, Interim and Agency Worker Policy

Central to revision of the policy has been that officers have clear steps to follow when engaging 
an agency worker, interim or consultant in order to ensure compliance at all times.  The revised 
policy makes clear the process that officers should follow to ensure all engagements are 
compliant, in accordance with procurement regulations and Contract Rules and that due 
consideration is given to IR35 status and HMRC regulations.

The key changes are:  

1. Clear definitions of an agency worker/interim and consultant are provided within 
section 2 of the revised policy and the procurement implications of engaging each are 
summarised underneath each definition.  It was paramount that all officers engaging a 
non-payrolled worker understood what category the worker fell into and the 
procurement implications of engaging each.  

2. The process that must be followed when engaging all non-payrolled workers is clearly 
summarised within section 3 and a detailed step by step flowchart has been included 
at Appendix A - Consultants and Appendix B - Agency Workers/Interims. These 
flowcharts provide a user friendly guide to assist officers through each stage of the 
engagement process to ensure all procurement, governance and HMRC regulations 
are complied with.

3. In order to ensure compliance with changes to tax legislation (IR35), section 4 outlines 
the process to be adopted in respect of IR35 status when engaging a non-payrolled 
worker.  Officers are signposted should they require further assistance and links are 
provided for this purpose also.  Senior managers will be expected to confirm that they 
have complied with IR35 requirements in respect of engaging consultants and office 
holders, as part of the annual statement of accounts assurance process.  

4. Officers who choose not to follow the policy and/or processes will face disciplinary 
action.  The revised policy clearly outlines the procurement, governance and HMRC 
implications of engaging a non-payrolled worker.  This will be communicated on Insite, 
a dedicated web area outlining the requirements is being created and signposts 
provided to all relevant support contacts and forms. 

5. The engagement of all non-payrolled workers must be recorded with the council’s 
Recruitment and Retention Manager.  This allows for greater transparency, ensuring 
a current and accurate record of all engagements is kept centrally.

6. Section 7 provides further governance on the use of consultants including that audit 
committee will receive regular reports on consultant usage.    

107



This page is intentionally left blank

108



 
     

Consultant, Interim & Agency Worker Policy

1.  Introduction and purpose

1.1 The overall objectives of this policy are to:

● Ensure consistent application in the use of Consultants, Interims and Agency 
Workers across the council;

● Ensure correct procedures are followed when sourcing a Consultant, Interim or 
Agency Worker, and as a result ensuring there is appropriate transparency;

● Minimise the use of non-payrolled workers to reduce overall spend; and
● Ensure the council complies with all HMRC regulations. 

1.2 Officers should, wherever possible, seek to fill senior management posts with a permanent       
employee where it is beneficial for the council and consider all other available options (e.g. 
internal employees acting up) before seeking to recruit an interim to a managerial position. 

1.3 Where it is not possible to fill posts with a permanent or temporary employee this 
policy provides   Peterborough City Council managers with clear instructions in respect of 
the engagement and management of Consultants, Interims & Agency Workers (referred to 
throughout this policy as ‘non-payrolled workers’).

1.4 The council aims to ensure that value for money is received from all non-payrolled workers.  
Internal resources should always be used where they are available. 

1.5 This policy does not apply to interim employees where that interim is employed under a 
fixed term employment contract, and paid via the payroll to carry out work which is “business 
as usual”. 

2. Definitions

2.1 Non-payrolled workers
The council defines non-payrolled workers as either:-  

Consultant

Consultants are any party, whether an individual or a firm, with expertise that is typically not 
available internally.  A Consultant is engaged for a limited period or for short-term projects 
to provide professional advice or services and will usually specify an endpoint to their 
involvement in a project.  A Consultant transfers skills and/or expertise to the council which, 
it either does not possess in-house, or which require an independent 
evaluation/assessment to be made.   

Consultants are not held against an existing post on the establishment.

Engaging a Consultant is a procurement activity, therefore Serco Procurement must 
be contacted in the first instance.  It is important that any expenditure in relation to 
engaging Consultants must be in accordance with the Council’s Contract Rules.

Interim/Agency Worker

109



V1.08.

1

An Interim and/or Agency Worker is an individual supplied by a temporary work agency to 
work temporarily for and under the supervision of the council.

Interims are further defined as senior grade managers covering a substantive post within 
the council and are concerned with the fulfilment of a particular professional function or 
senior management position within the organisational structure.  They usually cover 
business-as-usual activities/providing cover for a role and are ideally engaged on a short 
term basis.  

Interims/Agency Workers are usually fulfilling a substantive post on the establishment or 
undertaking a temporary increase in workload.

Under no circumstances must a Council Officer engage an Interim/Agency Worker 
without going through either of the Council’s Corporate Framework Agreements for 
all Agency Workers (social care AND non-social care). The council’s Recruitment and 
Retention Manager must be contacted in respect of all Interim/Agency Worker 
engagements.

3. Process that must be followed when engaging non-payrolled workers

3.1 The council has Corporate Framework Agreements in place for the provision of all  (i) Social 
Care and (ii) Non-Social care roles.  Under no circumstances must an Interim/Agency 
Worker be engaged without attempting to utilise these frameworks in the first instance.  
Alternatively, Manor Drive Solutions may be utilised.  

3.2 Engaging a Consultant is a procurement activity.  It is important that any expenditure in 
relation to engaging a Consultant must be in accordance with the council’s Contract Rules.

3.3 The following table will assist managers to understand the correct process for engaging a 
non-payrolled worker, and clearly differentiates between consultants, interims and agency 
workers.

Description Payment
Method

Engagement
Process

Consultant Paid through 
invoice.
Fixed piece of 
work. 

1. A business case must be written and approved 
on Verto

2. Serco Procurement must be contacted in order 
to determine the most appropriate solution:
(i) Tendering process to invite bids, in 
accordance with the Contract Rules:

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s33
018/Part%204%20Section%2010%20Contract%20Rul
es%20Version%20006.pdf

OR
(ii) Call off from partnership  contracts where    
the appointment falls within the scope of these  

            contracts, OR
            (iii) Call off from public frameworks or other
            frameworks where the council is permitted to
            call off

3. Determine IR35 status 

110

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s33018/Part%204%20Section%2010%20Contract%20Rules%20Version%20006.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s33018/Part%204%20Section%2010%20Contract%20Rules%20Version%20006.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s33018/Part%204%20Section%2010%20Contract%20Rules%20Version%20006.pdf


V1.08.

2

4. Governance approve award.
Full details are provided in the flowchart at Appendix 
A.

Interims & Agency 
Workers

Paid through 
invoice to Agency.
Short-term or fixed 
length 
employment.

1. Appointed through the council’s framework 
arrangements for agency staff, or

2. Use of Manor Drive Solutions / Business 
Support work requests.

Full details are provided in the flowchart at Appendix 
B.

3.4 Exemption from the engagement process - only in consultation with Legal and Serco 
Procurement
Where it is not possible to engage a Consultant/Interim/Agency Worker in accordance 
with the engagement process stipulated above, a Council Officer may request an 
exemption from the process.  The fundamental principles of exemptions are that they 
should be used only in exceptional circumstances and are granted entirely at the 
discretion of the Corporate Director of Resources, in consultation with the Director Law & 
Governance.  Legal  and Serco Procurement must be consulted in all instances where an 
exemption from the above process is sought.

3.5 Before any consultant begins an assignment a business case must be approved on Verto. 

4. IR35 Status (HMRC regulations) Consultants/Interims/Agency Workers

4.1 IR35 is the reference used to describe a piece of tax legislation which aims to 
differentiate between genuine businesses and workers who are for all intents and purposes 
a temporary employee.  

4.2 IR35 Status (HMRC regulations) Interims/Agency Workers
The council will adopt a blanket approach in respect of the tax status of each interim/agency 
worker.  All interims/agency workers will be classed as within the IR35 regulations.  IR35 
status need not be considered further unless the status is disputed by the interim/agency 
worker.

4.3 IR35 Status (HMRC regulations) Consultants
A decision will be required for each consultant engaged.  HMRC provide an Employment 
Status (ESS) tool that enables employers to check what the employment status of each 
consultant should be (that is whether they are employed or self-employed for tax, National 
Insurance contributions (NICs) or VAT purposes).  This must be used to determine the exact 
status for each individual.  (This tool was previously known as the Employment Status 
Indicator tool).

4.4 Before starting to use the ESS tool, HMRC recommends that their guidance on 
employment status has been read. This explains the factors that determine whether a 
worker is considered employed or self-employed.  (These tools cannot be used to check 
the employment status of agency workers or anyone providing services through an 
intermediary).

Read more guidance about employment status

111

http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/employment-status/index.htm


V1.08.

3

Click here to access the ESS tool.  For further advice and guidance contact your HR 
Business Partner or the Senior Reward Advisor. 
Following the test it is essential to keep an electronic copy of the result.

4.5 Officers who choose not to follow this policy and/or process will face disciplinary action 
which could result in dismissal for a first offence. 

5.  Skills Transfer

5.1 ‘Skills transfer’ must be a written contractual requirement for appropriate professional skills 
contracts for Consultants, to enable officers to develop expertise which will directly benefit 
the council.

5.2 The Consultant shall where required identify the required knowledge and skill set to 
carry out the services and impart the necessary skills and knowledge to the council’s 
employees with whom the Consultant has contact in the performance of their duties.  This 
should be undertaken with a view to increasing and consolidating the skills base 
within the council.

5.3 In addition the Consultant shall deliver training including a Question and Answer 
Session to those workers and employees with whom the Consultant has had contact 
together with such others as are nominated by the council.  The training shall be of such 
duration and timing as specified by the council and shall focus on those areas identified by 
the council that arise from the delivery of the Consultancy Services to the council.

6.  Conflicts of Interest

6.1 Officers must ensure that any contract with the consultant contains a requirement that any 
conflicts of interest which arise during the course of the contract (including those of any sub-
contractor engaged) will be notified to an officer of the council.  Standard conditions of 
contract in respect of Conflicts of Interest are included within the Council’s Consultancy 
Agreement.

6.2 The principles of the Code of Conduct for Officers applies to those engaged as Consultants, 
Interims/Agency Workers. 

Examples of potential conflicts of interest

6.3 The following are matters which could potentially give rise to a conflict between the 
Consultant and the council’s interest.  This list is not exhaustive but it might assist in 
identifying whether any potential conflict of interest arises:

● The Consultant’s financial interests are affected by the outcome of the contract (but this 
does not include the salary paid to the Consultant).

● The Consultant is a member of a body or holds a position of responsibility in a body whose 
interests may conflict with those of the council.

● The Consultant is personally known to the officer or member awarding the contract (this is 
not necessarily fatal to the contract if the contract has been obtained through fair 
competition but should be declared in any event).

112

https://www.tax.service.gov.uk/check-employment-status-for-tax/setup


V1.08.

4

● The Consultant owns shares or has an interest in any company which is affected by the 
outcome of the contract.

● The Consultant has another contract which conflicts with the council’s interests.

7. Reporting and Monitoring

7.1 The Line Manager responsible for engaging a Consultant will be required to 
complete progress reports on Verto to demonstrate that the objectives of the original 
business case are being achieved.

7.2 Any known breaches of this process will be reported to Corporate Management 
Team on a monthly basis by the Recruitment & Retention Manager. A monthly report on 
Consultant usage will be submitted to the Corporate Director  Resources and the Cabinet 
Member for Resources for their information and scrutiny. 

7.3 The ongoing monitoring role at Member level is undertaken by Audit Committee. Regular 
reports will be produced for the Audit Committee.

7.4     Senior managers will be expected to confirm that they have complied with IR35  
          requirements in respect of engaging consultants and office holders, as part of the annual   
          statement of accounts assurance process.  

8. Further support for Managers

8.1 Managers will be encouraged to source internal skills, expertise and resources before 
preparing a business case for consultancy resources (including Consultants in interim 
positions).  This will  include checking the council’s ‘at risk’ register of redundant and re-
deployed staff. 

8.2 HR will provide the necessary advice and support to ensure appointments are made via the 
payroll in the first instance. 

8.3 Where appropriate, HR should be involved in the recruitment process for Interims occupying 
managerial positions to ensure that advice can be given on suitable candidates from 
amongst existing employees and in-house expertise, skills or knowledge utilised in 
accordance with the council’s equality policies.

8.4 Legal Services will provide a standard form of Consultant Agreement for use by the council.

8.5 Further guidance and support can be obtained from the contacts below:

Area Contact
Business cases and Verto Susan Baxter

Portfolio Governance Officer
(01733) 452569
pmo@peterborough.gov.uk

113

mailto:pmo@peterborough.gov.uk


V1.08.

5

Procurement Darren Ford
Senior Contracts & Partnerships Manager
(01733) 452465
commercialandprocurement 
unit@peterborough.gov.uk

Legal advice Israr Ahmed
Contracts and Procurement Lawyer
(01733) 452326
israr.ahmed@peterborough.gov.uk

Natalie Moult
Contracts and Procurement Assistant Lawyer
(01733) 452527
natalie.moult@peterborough.gov.uk

Finance Nick Hutchins / Fiona Chapman
Head of Finance
(01733) 863823 / (01733) 863917
nick.hutchins@peterborough.gov.uk
fiona.chapman@peterborough.gov.uk

Human Resources Mandy Pullen / Karen Craig
AD Human Resources
(01733) 863628 / 01733 384514
mandy.pullen@peterborough.gov.uk
karen.craig@peterborough.gov.uk

Corporate James Fordham
Recruitment and Retention Manager
(01733) 864581
james.fordham@peterborough.gov.uk

9. Review of policy 

This policy will be reviewed by Legal and HR on an annual basis.

114

mailto:andy.cox@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:kim.sawyer@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:steven.pilsworth@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:fiona.chapman@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:lyn.neely@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:karen.craig@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:james.fordham@peterborough.co.uk


V1.08.

6

Appendix A 
Process flow chart for Consultants

Appendix B
Process flow chart for Interims/Agency Workers

115



This page is intentionally left blank

116



Appendix A:  Engagement of a Consultant

Engaging a consultant is a procurement activity and Serco Procurement must be involved in the 
process.  It is important that any expenditure in relation to engaging consultants must be in accordance 

with the council's Contract Rules.  

A summary of the process for engagement of a consultant is outlined below.

STEP 1: The requirement for a consultant is identified.  

Consultants are not held against an existing post on the establishment. 

STEP 2: A business case must be written and approved on Verto.

STEP 3: Please consult with Legal and Serco Procurement to ensure your engagement of a consultant 
is completed in accordance with the Contract Rules and Consultant, Interim and Agency Worker Policy.

STEP 4: There are three options available in order to engage a consultant:

Option 1: Where the contract value 
is between £5k and £50k three 
quotations are required; or for a 

value between £50k and £164k (EU 
threshold) a tender with four bids.  
For consultant engagements over 
£25,000 to also place advert on 

Contracts Finder;

Option 2: Utilise one of the 
council's partnership 

contracts via a call-off 
arrangement where the 
consultant engagement 

falls within the scope of the 
partnership contract;

Option 3: Utilise a public 
framework or other 

framework for the provision 
of consultants where the 

council is permitted to call-off 
from that framework.

STEP 5: In accordance with HMRC Regulations, the consultant's IR35 status must be determined.  A 
decision will be required for each consultant engaged.  HMRC provide an Employment Status (ESS) tool 

that assists in determining IR35 status. Please contact Legal.

STEP 6: Governance approval is required before the consultant is engaged. You must not engage a 
consultant without the relevant governance in place. Depending on value this will be either: 

Director's Contract Award Report under £50k, 
which requires approval from your Director.

Director's Contract Award Report over £50k, 
which requires approval from Legal, Finance, 

Procurement and your Director

STEP 7: You MUST notify the council's Recruitment & Retention Manager, James Fordham, once you 
have completed the above process.  The consultant's engagement and IR35 status MUST be recorded by 

the Recruitment & Retention Manager.

STEP 8: Contact Legal to discuss contract formalities.

STEP 9: Consultant's engagement may formally commence.

117



This page is intentionally left blank

118



Appendix B: Engagement of an Interim/Agency Worker

Under no circumstances must a Council Officer engage an Interim/Agency Worker without 
going through either of the council's corporate framework agreements for Agency Workers 

(social care and non-social care).  
The council's Recruitment & Retention Manager must be contacted in respect of ALL 

Interim/Agency Worker engagements.  The only exception to this is through the use of Manor 
Drive Solutions or Business Support work requests. 

A summary of the process for engagement of an Interim/Agency Worker is outlined below.

STEP 1: The requirement for an Interim/Agency Worker is identified.  Interims/Agency 
Workers will usually be fulfilling a substantive post on the establishment list or undertaking 

a temporary increase in workload.

STEP 2: All Interims/Agency Workers MUST be appointed through either of the council's 
framework agreements, unless engaged through the use of Manor Drive Solutions for Business 

Support work requests.

STEP 3: In order to use either of the council's framework agreements for the provision of 
temporary staff (social and non-social care), contact the council's Recruitment & Retention 

Manager, James Fordham, with the following information:

(i) job description/personal specification

(ii) approval to recruit from relevant Head 
of Service or equivalent;

STEP 4: The Recruitment & Retention Manager will advise on the most appropriate route of 
engagement, for example, via (i) the framework agreement with Reed for all non-social care 

engagements; or (ii) the council's framework agreement with listed providers for all social care 
requirements.

STEP 5: Once an appropriate Interim/Agency Worker has been selected, they may commence 
engagement in accordance with the framework agreement's terms and conditions;

STEP 6: All Interims/Agency Workers engaged via either of the council's framework agreements 
will be classed as within the IR35 regulations.  

STEP 7: You MUST notify the council's Recruitment & Retention Manager, James Fordham, 
once you have completed the above process.  

119



This page is intentionally left blank

120



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 8

26 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Simon Machen - Corporate Director Growth & Regeneration 
Cabinet Member responsible: Councillor Seaton - Cabinet Member for Resources

Contact Officer(s): Helena Hansen-Fure Tel. 
0797049313
4

RISK MANAGEMENT - STRATEGIC RISKS

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Helena Hansen-Fure Deadline date: N/A

     It is recommended that Audit Committee:

1. Comment on and note the latest Risk Management Report.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Audit Committee as a routine planned report on risk management.  

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with: 

a) Update on the role of the Risk Management Board
b) Updates on proposed minor changes to the Risk Management Policy

2.2 This report is for Audit Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 2.2.1.12

To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate 
governance in the Council.

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

N/A

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 In accordance with best practice, the Council operates a risk management approach at corporate 
and service levels across the organisation, seeking to identify key risks which might prevent the 
Council’s priorities from being successfully achieved.
 

4.2 The risk management approach is encapsulated in the following document:

121



- Risk Management Policy

This document sets out the Council’s Policy on the management of risk, including the Council’s 
approach to the level of risk it is prepared to countenance as expressed as a maximum risk 
appetite. 

The Risk Management Policy states that the Council aims to manage risk in a manner which is 
proportionate to the risk faced based on the experience and expertise of its senior managers, 
although this must be within the Council’s risk appetite. Audit Committee members are therefore 
reminded that accepting a residual risk score of amber is appropriate provided that an objective 
risk assessment has been undertaken.

This document details the procedures through which the Council will identify, assess, monitor 
and report key risks. The Risk Management Procedures document is owned by the Corporate 
Management Team (CMT).

The proposed minor changes to the Policy reflect the revised governance approach through the 
new Risk Management Board which has replaced the risk management group. 

4.3 The key role of Audit Committee in the management of risk is:

- to provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the Council’s risk management 
framework and the associated control environment.

4.4 CMT are due to review the Corporate Risk Register in March. The previous review took place in 
November 2017 where the CMT was confident that the CRR gave a comprehensive expression 
of the main risks faced by the Council and that mitigation was either in place, or in the process of 
being developed, to ensure that each risk was appropriately managed. 

4.5 The purpose of the Risk Management Board is to challenge and support risk management across 
the Council and partner agencies and to identify key issues for escalation. The group includes 
senior officers from each directorate and is chaired by the Corporate Director of Growth and 
Regeneration. The terms of reference of the Board are appended to this report. 

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 N/A

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 Audit Committee note and comment on the contents of this report.

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 Risk management is a key component of the Council’s Corporate Governance Framework which 
will take time to review and embed effectively. 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 None.

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 None.

122



Legal Implications

9.2 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the Council to have a sound system of internal 
control which includes effective arrangements for the management of risk.

Equalities Implications

9.3 The identification of risks and the proper management of those risks will ensure that:

- The Council’s environmental policies and ambitions can be meet; the Council is able to 
mitigate against potential financial losses, litigation claims and reputational damage; the 
Council is able to effectively deliver its strategic priorities.

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 Peterborough City Council Risk Management Policy v5.0
Terms of references Risk Management Board v2.0

11. APPENDICES

11.1 App A - RISK Management Board - Terms of Reference - JAN 2018.doc

123



This page is intentionally left blank

124



Appendix A

PURPOSE

To ensure that the Group acts successfully to challenge and support risk management 
across the council and partner agencies and to identify key issues for escalation. 

TERMS OF REFERENCE

 Co-ordinate and implement the Service/Corporate directorate risk management 
strategy in line with the overall organizational approach.

 Work to increase awareness of the importance of risk management across 
represented departments and partner agencies.

 Support the risk escalation and reporting process, in particular, maintain and 
update Corporate Directorate Risk Registers.

 Monitor and report on any necessary action to implement risk control measures.

 Challenge and support managers to ensure the effectiveness of the risk 
management process in their area.

 Monitor insurance claims and emerging insurance risks and evaluating impact on all 
strategic risks

 Provision of regular timed reports to the Corporate Management Team (CMT) and 
Audit Committee

MEMBERSHIP
The core members will comprise of appropriate representatives from the following PCC 
departments and external partners:

 People and Communities
 Governance
 Growth & Regeneration – rep to liaise with Peterborough Highways/Amey 

Contracted Services
 Resources – rep to liaise with SERCO Contracted Services
 Information Governance Board
 Public Health 
 PCC Internal Audit 
 PCC Insurance Services 
 VERTO Project Officer

             

Peterborough City Council
Risk Management Board

125



Appendix A

ADMINISTRATION 

Chair – CMT member responsible for risk management 

Risk Officer – Responsible for ensuring both Corporate & Department Registers are updated 
quarterly. Preparing reports etc.

Secretariat to Board– PA to Director of Growth and Regeneration

Accurately record and minute all meetings, particularly where decisions have been made 
which shape the council’s response to the management of current and future risks, and 
ensure the minutes of all meetings are forwarded to members of the group.

The Group should meet at least four times a year.

126



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 9

26 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Marion Kelly - Interim Corporate Director Resources

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Seaton Cabinet Member for Resources

Contact Officer(s): Steve Crabtree, Chief Internal Auditor Tel: 384557

INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY, CHARTER AND AUDIT PLAN

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM:  Steve Crabtree, Chief Internal Auditor Deadline date: N/A

  It is recommended that Audit Committee:
1. Consider and agree to the Internal Audit Charter for 2018 / 2019 (Appendix A);
2. Consider and agree to the Internal Audit Code of Ethics (Appendix B); and
3. Consider and approve the Internal Audit Strategy and Plans for 2018 / 2019 (Appendix C, 

D).

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Audit Committee as a routine planned report on the 
development of the role and service delivery of Internal Audit and investigations.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to ensure that the Council reviews and agrees the audit activity 
for the next audit year. 

2.2 This report is for Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference:

2.2.1.1 To consider the annual report and opinion of the Corporate Director Resources 
and a summary of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of 
assurance it can give over the council's corporate governance arrangements.

2.2.1.3 To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of the providers 
of internal audit services.

2.2.1.15 To consider the council's arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing 
necessary actions to ensure compliance with best practice.

127



3. TIMESCALES

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

N/A

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 INTRODUCTION

4.1.1 The report explains the strategic approach for Internal Audit that will be adopted to continue 
to provide effective assurance on the new and higher risks facing the Council and the 
strategic approach to tackling fraud against the Council for the coming year. An ongoing 
focus for 2018 / 2019 will be the ways in which we can assist management to meet the new 
challenges they face through developing combined assurance maps, to redesign controls 
to ensure that key risks are managed with reduced resources and by providing appropriate 
challenge, support and assurance to key programmes and projects which are enabling 
transformation and efficiencies.

4.1.2 The remit and work of the section is documented in the Internal Audit Charter. The Charter 
is subject to an annual review by the Committee and is compiled in accordance with the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and the CIPFA Code of Practice for Managing the 
Risk of Fraud and Corruption.

4.2 INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 2018 / 2019 (Appendix A)

4.2.1 The Charter sets out the purpose, objectives and scope of the activities of the service and 
has been developed to take account of the following requirements, which have previously 
been reported to the Audit Committee:

● The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, which came into effect on 1 April 2013 
(and revised in 2017); and

● The governance requirements set out in CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head 
of Internal Audit in Local Government (December 2010).

4.2.2 The Charter 2018 / 2019 has been compiled to ensure compliance with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). In summary, the PSIAS, which were agreed by a range 
of bodies including IIA and CIPFA, place the following requirements on public sector 
organisations’ internal audit arrangements:

(i) Compliance with the IIA Code of Ethics (and those of other professional bodies of which 
an auditor is a member, e.g. CIPFA). The IIA Code of Ethics sets out key principles and 
rules of conduct covering the following: Integrity; Objectivity; Confidentiality; and, 
Competency.

(ii) Purpose, authority and responsibility of the internal audit activity must be formally defined 
in an internal audit charter which should:

● define the terms “board” and “senior management” for the purposes of internal audit 
activity;

● cover arrangements for appropriate resourcing;
● define the role of internal audit in any fraud-related work; and
● include arrangements for avoiding conflicts of interest if internal audit undertakes 

non-audit activities.
 
(iii) Independence and objectivity: the Chief Internal Auditor must report to a level within the 
organisation that allows the internal audit activity to fulfil its responsibilities. The Chief 

128



Internal Auditor must report functionally to the board. In practice this means that Audit 
Committee (as the Board) will be involved in:

● approving the internal audit charter;
● approving the risk based internal audit plan; and
● making appropriate enquiries of management and the Chief Internal Auditor to 

determine whether there are inappropriate scope or resource limitations.
 
(iv) Proficiency and due professional care: audit engagements must be performed with 
proficiency and due professional care. Internal auditors must possess the knowledge skills 
and other competencies needed to perform their individual responsibilities. The Chief 
Internal Auditor must hold a professional qualification (CMIIA, CCAB or equivalent) and be 
suitably experienced.
 
v) Quality assurance and improvement programme: the Chief Internal Auditor should 
develop an improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. An 
external assessment should be conducted at least once every five years and progress 
against any improvement plans, agreed following external assessment, must be reported to 
senior management and to Audit Committee. The external assessment is currently 
underway and will be reported to the next Audit Committee.

4.3 INTERNAL AUDIT CODE OF ETHICS (Appendix B)

4.3.1 The Code of Ethics sets out the expected behaviours of Internal Audit staff in relation to 
service delivery.. The basis of standards of conduct remain unchanged with reference to 
those followed by Internal Audit in previous years, as the Code of Ethics developed for the 
current financial year was originally rewritten to mirror the incoming obligations in this area 
as per the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

4.3.2 Aside from the Code of Ethics, the Chief Internal Auditor in the role of the Chief Audit 
Executive will also be cognisant of and comply with requirements laid down in CIPFA’s 
Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit, and it is further acknowledged that all 
Internal Audit staff will operate in accordance with their own professional bodies’ Code of 
Ethics, as well as any organisational Codes of Ethics or Conduct relating to their employer.

4.4 INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY 2018 / 2019 (Appendix C)

4.4.1 The Internal Audit function will:
● Provide the Section 151 Officer and Audit Committee with an overall annual opinion 

on the Council’s governance, risk and control arrangements, which also supports 
the Annual Governance Statement;

● Review the Council’s governance, risk management and control processes through 
a risk-based annual work plan which is aligned to the Council’s objectives, giving 
assurance on the Council’s wider risk profile, not just financial controls, and on key 
emerging risks;

● Support the organisation through changes in structure, culture and operating 
models;

● Demonstrate the value of audit by working proactively with those responsible for 
transformation and efficiency activities, to avoid duplication of audit and assurance 
effort and provide assurance across governance arrangements;

● Drive improvement in risk management, controls and governance by making 
effective recommendations to management arising from our work and monitoring 
and reporting on implementation;

● Assist management to optimise the control environment through a better 
understanding of risks which potentially enables fewer but better controls to be put 
in place;

● Co-operate effectively with external auditors and other review bodies functioning in 

129



the council;
● Use technology to improve the efficiency of audit testing –using data analytics and 

continuous audit methodologies – to foster greater compliance with policies and 
procedures;

● Improve governance through strengthening of the challenge role of Audit 
Committee, promoting appropriate compliance and ethical behaviours, and 
extending assurance arrangements to partnerships.

4.4.2 The strategic approach set out above is underpinned by the Internal Audit Strategy which 
is set out in Appendix C and is aligned with internal audit best practice.

4.5 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2018 / 2019 (Appendix D)

4.5.1 At the February 2018 Audit Committee, Members were provided with details of emerging 
issues which Internal Audit were using to shape its Internal Audit Plans. Following 
consultation with all Departmental Management Teams, reviews of strategic and operational 
risk registers, organisational changes etc. 

4.5.2 The Plan for 2018/19 aims to give the Council the best audit coverage within the resources 
currently available, in order to provide an Annual Audit Opinion to feed into the Annual 
Governance Statement.  Assurances from other providers will be utilised where appropriate. 
The current allocation of the estimated 760 available days (without recruitment) is shown 
below.   

 

Internal Audit Work Activities 2018 / 2019 Days %

Financial Governance 48 6

Corporate Governance 60 8

Information Governance 57 7

Anti Fraud Culture 60 8

Service Delivery Risks 78 11

Procurement and Contracts 60 8

Programme and Projects 50 7

Certification 80 10

Other Resource Provisions 115 15

External Works 152 20

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 Consultation during the drafting of the documents and plans has been through the Directors 
and their respective management teams. Further consultation was undertaken with 
Members of the Audit Committee at the previous meeting when the Emerging Audit Issues 
were discussed.

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 Internal Audit work schedules and resources will be set out for the 2018 / 2019 year. 

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

130



7.1 Audit Committee have a role to oversee the effect delivery of audit resources to ensure that 
corporate governance arrangements across the Council are monitored, reviewed and are 
effective to delivering the Council agenda. 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 There is a statutory duty for the s151 Officer to put in place appropriate arrangements for 
the provision of Internal Audit.

9. IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Financial Implications

This report does not give rise to any additional capital or revenue financial implications. 
Actions to communicate the policies and to ensure compliance will be undertaken within the 
existing budgets.

9.2 Legal Implications

None

9.3 Equalities Implications

Not applicable

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 None

11 APPENDICES

A: Internal Audit Charter
B: Internal Audit Code of Ethics
C: Internal Audit Strategy
D: Internal Audit Plan

131



This page is intentionally left blank

132



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

APPENDIX A 

 

PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL 

INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER 

 

 

 

 

KEY CONTACTS 

Steve Crabtree Chief Internal Auditor 384 557 

Julie Taylor Group Auditor 384 559 

Louise Cooke Group Auditor 384 558 

 

 

 

February 2018  

Next Review: By March 2019 

 

  

133



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 Organisations in the UK public sector have historically been governed by an array of differing internal audit standards. The Public Sector 

Internal Audit Standards (the PSIAS), which took effect from the 1 April 2013 and was revised in 2017, is based on the mandatory elements 

of the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) and International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF). It now provides a consolidated 

approach to promoting further improvement in the professionalism, quality, consistency, transparency and effectiveness of Internal Audit 

across the whole of the public sector. 

 

1.2 The PSIAS require that all aspects of Internal Audit operations are acknowledged within an Audit Charter that defines the purpose, mission, 

authority and responsibilities of the service provision. The Charter therefore establishes the position of the service within Peterborough 

City Council (PCC); its authority to access records, personnel and physical properties relevant to the performance of engagements; in 

addition to defining the scope of Internal Audit activities. There is also an obligation under the PSIAS for the Charter to be periodically 

reviewed and presented to the Audit Committee, the Section 151 Officer and senior management. This Charter will therefore be revisited 

annually to confirm its ongoing validity and completeness, and be circulated in accordance with the requirements specified above. 

 

2. PURPOSE 

 

2.1 In accordance with the PSIAS, Internal Auditing is defined as: 

 

"An independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation's operations. It 

helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 

effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes." 

 

2.2 However, it should be appreciated that the existence of Internal Audit does not diminish the responsibility of senior management to 

establish appropriate and adequate systems of internal control and risk management. Internal Audit is not a substitute for the functions of 

senior management, who should ensure that Council activities are conducted in a secure, efficient and well-ordered manner with 

arrangements sufficient to address the risks which might adversely impact on the delivery of corporate priorities and objectives. 

 

3. MISSION AND AIM 

 

3.1 “To provide an independent risk based and objective assurance which is responsive to the needs of Councillors and 

management, ensuring assurance, advice and insight enhances the values / vision of Peterborough City Council.” 

 

3.2 The aim of the internal audit service is to demonstrate effective adherence and operation of the Core Principles for the Professional 

Practice of Internal Auditing. This encompasses demonstrating integrity; competence and due professional care; being objective and free 

134



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

from undue influence; aligning with the strategic objectives and risks of the organisation; being appropriately positioned and resourced; 

quality and continuous improvement; effective communication; provides risk based assurance; is insightful, proactive and future focussed 

and promotes organisational improvement. 

 

4. AUTHORISATION 

 

4.1 The requirement for an Internal Audit Service is outlined within the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which state that “a relevant 

authority must undertake an adequate and effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 

governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance”,  

 

4.2 This statutory requirement for continuous Internal Audit has been formally recognised and endorsed within PCC’s Constitution, making 

Internal Audit primarily responsible for carrying out an examination of the accounting, financial and other operations of the Council, under 

the independent control and direction of the Section 151 Officer. The role of Section 151 Officer at PCC is fulfilled by the Corporate Director: 

Resources.  

 

4.3 Further, there are other requirements placed upon the Chief Audit Executive (see Section 4: Organisation and Relationships), to fulfil all 

aspects of CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public Sector Organisations. 

 

4.4 The internal audit activity, with strict accountability for confidentiality and safeguarding records and information, is authorised to have full, 

free, and unrestricted access to any and all of the organisation's: 

 

 Records, documents and correspondence (manual and electronic) relating to any financial and other transactions; 
 Physical properties, i.e. premises and land, plus cash, stores or any other Council property; and 

 Personnel – requiring and receiving such explanations as are necessary concerning any matter under examination and generally 
assisting the Internal Audit activity in fulfilling its roles and responsibilities. 

 
The above rights also include access to organisations and partners where PCC data is processed as part of contractual protocols where 
an open book/audit access arrangement is in place. An example of this is the ICT and Transactional Services provision provided by 
SERCO. 

 
4.5 Such access shall be granted on demand and shall not be subject to prior notice, although in principle, the provision of prior notice will be 

given wherever possible and appropriate, unless circumstances dictate otherwise. 
 

  

135



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

5. ORGANISATION AND RELATIONSHIPS 

 

5.1 Within the PSIAS, the terms ’Chief Audit Executive,’ ‘Board’ and ‘Senior Management’ are used to describe key elements of the 

organisation’s governance, and the ways in which they interact with Internal Audit. The PSIAS require that the terms are defined in the 

context of the governance arrangements in each public sector organisation, in order to safeguard the independence and objectivity of 

Internal Audit. At PCC, the following interpretations are applied, so as to ensure the continuation of the current relationships between 

Internal Audit and other key bodies at the Council. The following terms are explained: 

 

 Chief Audit Executive 

 Board 

 Senior Management  

 External Audit 

 Other Internal Audit Service Providers 

 Other External Review and Inspection Bodies 

 

5.2 Chief Audit Executive 

 

 At PCC, the Chief Audit Executive is the Chief Internal Auditor (CIA). This post also provided a CIA role to South Cambridgeshire District 

Council (SCDC) and Cambridge City Council (CCC) as part of a shared management arrangement until December 2017.  The CIA has a 

direct line of reporting to the Service Director Financial Services who would approve all decisions regarding performance evaluation, 

appointment or removal of the CIA in consultation with senior management. In response to requirements laid down within the PSIAS, it is 

further confirmed that the CIA has a direct reporting line and free and unfettered access to the Section 151 Officer, Chief Executive and 

Monitoring Officer should it be required.    

 

5.3 Board 

 

5.3.1 In the context of overseeing the work of Internal Audit, the ‘Board’ will be the Audit Committee of the Council, which has been established 

as part of the corporate governance arrangements at the Council. The Committee is responsible for the following with reference to Internal 

Audit: 

 

 Internal Audit Plans; 

 Progress and performance against approved plans; 

 Annual Audit Opinion; and 

 Compliance with standards. 
 

136



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

5.3.2 Internal Audit will work closely with the committee to facilitate and support its activities. Moreover, the CIA also has a direct reporting line, 

and free and unfettered access to the Chair should it be needed. 

 

5.4 Senior Management 

 

 In the context of ensuring effective liaison between Internal Audit and senior officers, Internal Audit has regular access to Directors and 

Heads of Service. ‘Senior Management’ for the purposes of this Charter are the Corporate Management Team of which the Section 151 

Officer is a key member. 

 

5.5 External Audit 

 

 Internal Audit interact with the Council’s External Auditors – Ernst and Young – in order to minimise any potential duplication of work and 

determine the assurance that can be placed on the respective work of the two parties. 

 

5.6 Other Internal Audit Service Providers 

 

 Internal Audit will also liaise with other Council’s Internal Audit Service providers, where shared service arrangements exist. In such cases, 

a dialogue will be opened with the other Council’s equivalent Chief Audit Executive to agree a way forward regarding the future auditing 

of ‘shared’ services, which will be both efficient and cost effective for all parties involved, and cause least disruption to the area(s) being 

audited.  Where assurance is being provided to the authority from another internal audit provider, this will be included within reports to the 

Audit Committee where it is utilised in providing assurance as part of the annual audit opinion. 

 

5.7 Other External Review and Inspection Bodies 

 

 The Internal Audit Section confirms it will likewise co-operate with all external review and inspection bodies that are authorised to assess 

and evaluate the activities of the Council, to determine compliance with regulations, standards or targets. Internal Audit will, wherever 

possible, utilise third party assurances arising from this work. 

 

6. OBJECTIVES AND SCOPE 

 

6.1 The provision of assurance services is the primary role of Internal Audit and there is a duty of care on the Chief Audit Executive to give an 

annual internal audit opinion based on an objective assessment of the framework of governance, risk management and control. This 

responsibility to evaluate the governance framework far exceeds examination of controls applying to the Council’s core financial systems. 

Instead, Internal Audit is required to scrutinise the whole system of risk management, internal control and governance processes 

established by management. 

137



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

 

6.2 Internal Audit also has a secondary role, whereby it will provide consultancy services which are advisory in nature and generally performed 

at the request of the Council to facilitate improved governance, risk management and control, and potentially contribute to the annual audit 

opinion.  This may include participation within working parties such as information governance and risk management. 

 

6.3 A risk based Audit Plan will be developed each year to determine an appropriate level of audit coverage to generate an annual audit 

opinion, which can then be used to assist with the formulation of the PCC’s Annual Governance Statement. Moreover, audit work performed 

will seek to enhance the Council’s overall internal control environment. In the event of deficiencies in arrangements being identified during 

audit assignments, Internal Audit will put forward recommendations aimed at improving existing arrangements and restoring systems of 

internal control to a satisfactory level, where relevant. 

 

6.4 In accordance with the PSIAS, the Internal Audit Service will evaluate and contribute to the improvement of: 

 

 The design, implementation and effectiveness of the organisation’s ethics related objectives, programmes and activities. 
 The effectiveness of the Council’s processes for performance management and accountability. 
 The Council’s IT governance provisions in supporting the organisation’s corporate priorities, objectives and strategies. 
 The Council’s risk management processes in terms of significant risks being identified and assessed; appropriate risk responses 

being made that align with the organisation’s risk appetite, the capturing and communicating of risk information in a timely manner, 
and its use by staff, senior management and members to carry out their responsibilities and inform decision making generally. 

 The provisions developed to support achievement of the organisation’s strategic objectives and goals.  
 The systems formulated to secure an effective internal control environment.  
 The completeness, reliability, integrity and timeliness of management and financial information. 
 The systems established to ensure compliance with legislation, regulations, policies, plans, procedures and contracts, 

encompassing those set by the Council and those determined externally. 
 The systems designed to safeguard Council assets and employees. 
 The economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which resources are used in operations and programmes at the Council. 

 

6.5 In addition to the areas recorded above, where Internal Audit will give input to their continuing enhancement; the Service will also provide 

support to the Director in the discharge of their duties as the Section 151 Officer with responsibility for the probity and effectiveness of the 

Authority’s financial arrangements and internal control systems. 

 

6.6 Managing the risk of fraud and corruption is the responsibility of management. However, as part of the scope of Internal Audit, it 

will be alert in all its work to the risks and exposures that could allow fraud or corruption to occur and will monitor the extent and adequacy 

of risk controls built into systems by management, sharing this information with External Audit and other corporate investigators. 

 

138



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

6.7 In the course of delivering services encompassing all the elements stated above, should any significant risk exposures and control issues 

subsequently be identified, Internal Audit will report these matters to senior management, propose action to resolve or mitigate these, and 

appraise the Audit Committee of such situations. 

 

6.8 PCC’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption arrangements are managed by the CIA, who is responsible for the associated corporate policies.  The 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and the Whistleblowing Policy both make reference to the requirement to notify the CIA of all suspected 

or detected fraud, corruption or impropriety.   

 

6.9 The CIA will produce an annual investigations report for the Audit Committee which encompasses the work undertaken during the year by 

the investigations team including any joint reviews with the internal audit team. 

 

7. INDEPENDENCE  

 

7.1 The Internal Audit Section operates within an organisational framework that preserves the independence and objectivity of the assurance 

function, and ensures that Internal Audit activity is free from interference in determining the scope of internal auditing, performing work 

and communicating results. The framework allows the CIA direct access to and the freedom to report unedited, as deemed appropriate, 

to the Audit Committee, the Chief Executive, Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer, External Audit and the Corporate Management Team. 

 
 

7.2 The CIA has line management responsibility for the Insurance function, Corporate Investigations team and stage 2 corporate complaints. 

The CIA is also an authoriser for payments from the Councils (and Combined Authoritys) bank accounts. Other officers within Financial 

Services also have this responsibility, and the CIA is used as the approver of last resort if others are absent etc. Prior to undertaking any 

additional management responsibility the CIA will consider and discuss with senior management any potential conflicts that may be evident 

and the appropriateness of undertaking the additional roles.  Any reviews within these activity areas will be kept separate and reviewed 

independently of the CIA. In such circumstances the Group Auditor will report directly to the Service Director Financial Services.  

 

7.3 The remaining Internal Auditors have no operational responsibilities or authority over any of the activities that they are required to review. 

As a consequence, they do not develop procedures, install systems, prepare records, or engage in any other activity, which would impair 

their judgement. In addition, Internal Auditors will not assess specific operations for which they were previously responsible, and objectivity 

is presumed to be impaired if an Internal Auditor provides assurance services for an activity for which they had responsibility within the 

previous 12 months. Internal Auditors may however provide consulting services relating to operations over which they had previous 

responsibility.  

 

139



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

7.4 The CIA will confirm to the Audit Committee, at least annually, the organisational independence of the Internal Audit activity.  The Internal 

Audit Team complete an annual declaration of interests that highlights any potential conflicts which may affect the ability to undertake an 

individual assignment.  Where this is evident an alternative team member will be assigned the audit review. 

 

7.5 Where internal audit services are provided to external organisations, the nature of the work undertaken and resultant outputs will not be 

shared with PCC.  Service Level Agreements are presently in place for Vivacity Leisure Trust and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

Combined Authority where internal audit services are delivered by PCC. 

 

8. PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS 

 

8.1 PCC’s Internal Auditors operate and comply in accordance with the revised PSIAS, 2017. 

 

8.2 The Internal Auditors are also governed by the policies, procedures, rules and regulations established by PCC. These include, but are not 

limited to Financial Regulations and Contract Standing Orders, Data Protection Policy, the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and the Code 

of Conduct. Similarly, the Council’s Internal Auditors will be aware of external bodies’ requirements (e.g. as identified by CIPFA) and all 

legislation affecting the Council’s activities. 

 

8.3 The Council’s Internal Auditors will additionally adhere to the Code of Ethics as contained within the PSIAS. Internal Auditors will also 

demonstrate due professional care in the course of their work and consider the use of technology-based audit and other data analysis 

techniques, wherever feasible and considered beneficial to the Council. They will similarly not be unduly influenced by their own interests 

or by others in informing judgements.  All working arrangements and methodologies followed by PCC’s Internal Auditors are set out in the 

Audit Manual. 
 

9. AUDIT RESOURCES 

 

9.1 The CIA will be professionally qualified (CMIIA, CCAB or equivalent) and have wide internal audit management experience, to enable 
them to deliver the responsibilities of the role. 

 
9.2 The CIA will ensure that there are appropriate resources to deliver an annual evidenced-based audit opinion. As stated in the CIPFA 

Application Note, “No formula exists that can be applied to determine internal audit coverage needs. However, as a guide, the minimum 

level of coverage is that required to give an annual evidence-based opinion. Local factors within each organisation will determine this 

minimum level of coverage.”  

9.3 The Internal Audit Service has access to staff that have a suitable range of knowledge, skills, qualifications and experience to deliver 

requisite audit assignments. The type of reviews that will be provided in year include risk based and systems reviews, contract audits, 

grant certification work, consultancy input to new / modified systems, compliance and special / fraud investigations. In the event of special 

140



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

investigations being required, there is limited contingency in the Audit Plan to absorb this work and this will be pursued in conjunction with 

the Corporate Investigations team if considered appropriate. 

 
9.4 If it is identified that there is a shortfall in a particular or specialist/technical skill the CIA will not agree to undertake the audit assignment 

which could impact on effectiveness or quality of output.  In such circumstances external resources may be procured as appropriate until 
the in-house team gains the required skills.  

 
9.5 As previously determined Internal Audit may undertake consultancy activity (additional activity requested by management) where it has 

the necessary skills and resources to do this. This will be determined by the CIA on an assignment basis in conjunction with the Service 
Director Financial Services, Resources where there is likely to be an impact on the delivery of the audit plan.  

 

10. AUDIT PLANNING 

 
10.1 The CIA will develop an annual audit strategy, together with annual audit plans and a summary of annual audit coverage using a risk 

based methodology and an assessment tool. The key factors used in the assessment are:  

 Materiality: The size of a system or process in terms of financial value or numbers of transactions or number of people affected.  

 Corporate Importance: The extent to which the Council depends on the system to meet statutory or regulatory requirements or 
corporate priorities.  

 Stability: The degree of change within the process.  

 Vulnerability: Extent to which the system is liable to breakdown, loss, error or fraud.  

 Specific concerns: Arising from management’s assessment of risk as well as audit intelligence.  
 

It will also take into account documented corporate and operational risks, as well as any risks or concerns subsequently notified to Internal 
Audit by senior management. This will be submitted to Senior Management for their approval prior to being taken forward to the Audit 
Committee for final endorsement, in advance of the new financial year to which they relate.   

 
10.2 Any difference between the plan and the resources available will be identified and reported to the Audit Committee as part of the planning 

methodology within the audit strategy. It will outline the assignments to be carried out and the broad resources and skills required to deliver 

the plan. It will provide sufficient information for the Council to understand the areas to be covered and for it to be satisfied that sufficient 

resources and skills are available to deliver the plan. Areas included in the audit plan are highlighted in Table 1. 

 

 

  

141



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

 

TABLE 1: AUDIT ACTIVITIES 

 Core system assurance work 

 Governance, Risk Management and Assurance Framework 

 ICT governance and risk 

 Corporate / Cross Cutting audits (including value for money reviews) 

 Contracts and projects 

 Departmental specific reviews 

 Compliance activity e.g. schools 

 Grant claim certification work 

 Fraud and irregularities 

 Follow up activity 

 Internal consultancy / advice on risks, controls and procedures 

 Fee paying audit work 

 Member support 

 

10.3 The audit plan will be kept under review to identify any amendment needed to reflect changing priorities and emerging risks based on 

planning assessment methodology.  It will be flexible, but will only contain a small element of contingency to accommodate fraud 

assignments which could not have been readily foreseen. However, in accordance with the internal audit assessment process, specific 

audit requests may take precedence over the original audit plan. If a request for additional work arises where the assessment criteria does 

not identify the review as high priority, Internal Audit will reserve the right to make a charge for any additional work that is still deemed 

required by the business. This will be done in consultation with the Service Director Financial Services and reported to the Audit Committee 

as appropriate. Resources, such as specialist or additional auditors may be required to supplement this. 

 

11. REPORTING 

 

11.1 The process followed for completing each audit is set out in Table 2. Upon completion of each audit assignment, an Internal Audit report 

will be prepared that: 

 

142



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

 Provides an opinion on the risks and controls of the area reviewed, and this will contribute to the annual opinion on the internal 
control environment, which, in turn, informs the Annual Governance Statement; and 

 Provides a formal record of points arising from the audit and management responses to issues raised, to include agreed actions 
with implementation timescales; 

 Prompts management to implement agreed actions within targeted dates; and 
 Is quality checked by senior officers within Internal Audit prior to circulation. 

 

11.2 Exit meetings are accommodated enabling management to discuss issued Draft Audit Reports. Accountability for responses to Internal 

Audit recommendations lies with the Chief Executive, Directors, and / or Heads of Service, as appropriate, who can either, accept and 

implement guidance given or formally reject it. However, if audit proposals to strengthen the internal control environment are disregarded 

and there are no compensating controls justifying this course of action, an audit comment will be made in the Final Audit Report, reiterating 

the nature of the risk that remains and recognising that management has chosen to accept this risk. Furthermore, depending on the 

severity of the risk, the matter may be escalated upwards and drawn to the attention of the Audit Committee.  

 

TABLE 2: WORKING ARRANGEMENTS DURING AUDITS 

Audit Brief Set up and agreed with manager(s). 

Fieldwork Assignment undertaking including interviews, testing etc. 

Exit Meeting Held at conclusion of fieldwork, or once draft report has been produced (see below), to discuss issues found (if not already provided during 

course of fieldwork). 

Draft report A draft report meeting will be arranged with the Head of Service / Line Manager within 10 days of the report issue to discuss and formally 

obtain management responses. This will incorporate acceptance (or not) of actions together with timescale proposals to implement. 

Final Report Internal Audit incorporates all management comments within the report and re-issue as a final within 4 days of receiving the response. 

The report will be distributed in accordance with agreed protocols (see Table 4). 

Non response If management do not respond to the draft report or a meeting request, a reminder will be sent to the original recipients requesting a 

response within 10 working days.  If a response is not received this will be escalated to the next management level after 15 days. After 

that time, if a response is not received within a further 5 days a notice will be sent to the original recipients and the relevant Director to 

state that the report will be finalised.  

 

11.3 Recommendations are rated and an overall opinion given on the service area reviewed (see Table 3). Final Audit Reports will be issued 

in line with agreed working protocols to the relevant nominated officers and subject to follow up work as necessary. Where there are 

no responses received from managers despite formally chasing, a report will be deemed as final and issued. 

 

 

143



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

TABLE 3: AUDIT ASSURANCE 

Opinion / 

Assurance 

Description 

SUBSTANTIAL The internal control system is well designed to meet objectives and address relevant risks, and key controls are consistently applied.  

There is some scope to improve the design of, or compliance with, the control framework in order to increase efficiency and 

effectiveness. 

REASONABLE The internal control system is generally sound but there are some weaknesses in the design of controls and / or the inconsistent 

application of controls. Opportunities exist to strengthen the control framework and mitigate further against potential risks. 

LIMITED The internal control system is poorly designed and / or there is significant non-compliance with controls, which can put the system 

objectives at risk. Therefore, there is a need to introduce additional controls and improve compliance with existing ones to reduce the 

risk exposure for the Authority. 

NO There are significant weaknesses in the design of the internal control system, and there is consistent non-compliance with those 

controls that exist.  Failure to improve controls will expose the Authority to significant risk, which could lead to major financial loss, 

embarrassment or failure to achieve key service objectives. 

RECOMMENDATION GRADES 

Grade Description 

Critical 

 

Fundamental control weakness that jeopardises the complete operation of the service. 

TO BE IMPLEMENTED IMMEDIATELY. 

High Major control weakness which significantly increases the risk / scope for error, fraud, or loss of efficiency. 

To be implemented as a matter of priority.  

Medium Moderate control weakness which reduces the effectiveness of procedures designed to protect assets and revenue of the Authority. 

To be implemented at the first opportunity.  

Low Minor control weakness, which, if corrected, will enhance control procedures that are already relatively robust. 

To be implemented as soon as reasonably practical. 

 

11.4 Following the end of the year, an annual report will be produced setting out Internal Audit’s opinion on the state of the internal controls and 

governance across the Council. This will comment upon: 

 

 The scope including the time period to which the opinions pertains; 
 Any scope limitations; 
 Consideration of all related projects including the reliance on other assurance providers; 

144



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

 The risk or control framework or other criteria used as a basis for the overall opinion; 
 The overall opinion, providing reasons where an unfavourable overall opinion is given; and 
 A statement on conformance (or non-conformance) with the PSIAS and the results of the quality assurance and improvement 

programme. 
 
11.5 Significant issues identified will be referred through to senior management for inclusion in the Annual Governance Statement. All reports 
produced are set out in Table 4. 
 

TABLE 4: PLANNING AND REPORTING FREQUENCY 

Report  For Reason Content 

Audit Report  Service Manager / Headteacher 

 Director / Chair of Governors 

 Chief Executive 

 s.151 officer 

 Monitoring Officer 

 Leader of the Council 

 Cabinet Member for Resources 

 Chair of Audit Committee 

 

The end of each audit assignment as 

the main recipient and those charged 

with implementing the issues 

identified 

 Executive Summary 

 Audit Opinion 

 Detailed risk issues 

 Agreed improvement plan 

Progress 

Reports (based 

around the 

committee 

cycle) 

Audit Committee 

 

To provide the Council with progress 

at delivering the audit service and 

any key governance issues arising. 

 Progress against annual plan 

 Any amendments to current annual plan 

 Details of significant risk issues 

 Non-responses or non-implementation of actions 

 

Annual Opinion / 

Performance 

Report 

 Audit Committee 

 External Audit  

 S151 officer 

 Monitoring Officer 

 

The end of each year in accordance 

with PSIAS. An evaluation of the 

works undertaken and the level of 

assurance established. 

 Annual assurance report giving CIA’s opinion on the 

control environment 

 Achievement of annual plan and performance data. 

 Effectiveness of Internal Audit 

 

Annual Audit 

Plan 

 Audit Committee 

 S.151 Officer 

 External Audit 

Beginning of year. Details of the 

service delivered and the future plans 

to provide assurance across the 

Council in accordance with PSIAS. 

 Audit Plan and days to be delivered 

 Audit Charter 

 Code of Ethics 

 Performance indicators to monitor service delivery 

and quality  

 

 

145



Internal Audit Charter               Version Control 1.1 

12. INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES PROVIDED TO EXTERNAL CUSTOMERS  

 

12.1 Audit activities undertaken on behalf of other organisations follow similar protocols to that of PCC in terms of compliance with PSIAS. 

 Internal audit plans are developed on a risk based methodology in providing assurance and delivering an evidence based Annual Head 

 of Internal Audit Opinion.  Reporting and progress monitoring is produced in accordance with the respective audit committee and senior 

 management team and terms of reference detailed within service level agreements.    

 

13 QUALITY ASSURANCE AND IMPROVEMENT 

 

13.1 The PSIAS require that the Internal Audit develops and maintains a quality assurance and improvement programme that covers all aspects 

of the Internal Audit activity, and includes both internal and external assessments. In the event of an improvement plan proving necessary 

to formulate and implement, in order to further develop existing service provisions, the CIA will initiate the appropriate action and annually, 

the results of the quality and assurance programme together with progress made against the improvement plan will be reported to senior 

management and the Audit Committee. 

 

13.2 Internal Assessments 

 

13.2.1 Internal Assessments must include on-going monitoring of the performance of the internal audit activity. The Service operates in 

accordance with a number of key performance indicators.  

 

13.2.2 Internal arrangements also include an annual survey and post audit feedback from auditees. Should criticism be received, this will 

immediately be investigated and steps taken to resolve matters raised. 

 

13.2.3 The PSIAS additionally require periodic self-assessments or assessments by other persons within the organisation with sufficient 

knowledge of Internal Audit practices. This obligation is satisfied by the CIA performing an annual self-assessment of the effectiveness of 

Internal Audit, before the results are submitted to the Audit Committee. Presenting this information to the Audit Committee enables 

members to be assured that the Internal Audit Service is operating in a satisfactory manner such that reliance can be placed on the 

subsequent annual audit opinion provided by the CIA. 

 

13.3 External Assessments 

 

13.3.1 External assessments must be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, independent assessor or assessment team from 

outside the organisation. External assessments can be in the form of a full external assessment, or a self-assessment with independent 

external verification. PCC is scheduled for external review in March 2018. 

146



 

Internal Audit: Code of Ethics 
Version Control: 1.2        February 2018 

 

APPENDIX B 
 

PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT CODE OF ETHICS 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
The purpose of a Code of Ethics is to promote an appropriate ethical culture for Internal Audit. The Code sets out the minimum standards for the 
performance and conduct of Peterborough City Council’s (PCC) Internal Auditors. It is intended to clarify the standards of conduct expected when 
carrying out their duties and promote an ethical, professional culture at all times when undertaking audit duties.  

 
PRINCIPLES 

 
Internal auditors are expected to apply and uphold the following principles: 

 

 Integrity. The integrity of internal auditors establishes trust and thus provides the basis for reliance on their judgement. 

 Objectivity. Internal auditors exhibit the highest level of professional objectivity in gathering, evaluating, and communicating information about 
the activity or process being examined. Internal auditors make a balanced assessment of all the relevant circumstances and are not unduly 
influenced by their own interests or by others in forming judgments. 

 Confidentiality. Internal auditors respect the value and ownership of information they receive and do not disclose information without 
appropriate authority unless there is a legal or professional obligation to do so. 

 Competency. Internal auditors apply the knowledge, skills and experience needed in the performance of internal auditing services.  
 

INTEGRITY 
 

PCC Internal Auditors shall: 

 Perform their work with honesty, diligence and responsibility; 

 Observe the law and make disclosures expected by the law and the profession; 

 Not knowingly be a party to any illegal activity, or engage in acts that are discreditable to the profession of internal auditing or to the organisation; 

 Respect and contribute to the legitimate and ethical objectives of the organisation; and 

 Maintain relationships with colleagues, internal clients and external contacts that are characterised by honesty, truthfulness and fairness. 
 

147



 

Internal Audit: Code of Ethics 
Version Control: 1.2        February 2018 

 

OBJECTIVITY 
 

PCC Internal auditors shall: 

 Not participate in any activity or relationship that may impair or be presumed to impair their unbiased assessment. This participation includes 
those activities or relationships that may be in conflict with the interests of the organisation; 

 Not review any activity for which they have previously had operational responsibility; 

 Not accept anything that may impair or be presumed to impair their professional judgement; and 

 Disclose all material facts known to them that, if not disclosed, may distort the reporting of activities under review. 
 
CONFIDENTIALITY 

 
PCC Internal auditors shall: 

 Be prudent in the use and protection of information acquired in the course of their duties but should ensure that requirements of confidentiality do 
not limit or prevent reporting within the authority as appropriate; and 

 Not make unauthorised disclosure of information unless there is a legal or professional requirement to do so; and 

 Not use information for any personal gain or in any manner that would be contrary to the law or detrimental to the legitimate and ethical 
objectives of the organisation. 
 

COMPETENCY 
 

PCC Internal auditors shall: 

 Engage only in those services for which they have the necessary knowledge, skills and experience; 

 Perform Internal Audit services with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Audit; and 

 Continually improve their proficiency, effectiveness and quality of their services 
 
MANAGING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
To ensure compliance with the Code of Ethics: 

 There is an annual review of the Code to reinforce understanding and confirm on-going commitment; 

 Quality control processes are in place to demonstrate integrity in all aspects of the work; 

 All staff are obliged to declare any potential conflicts of interest; 

 Confidentiality is clearly understood and any breeches will not be tolerated; and 

 Staff are aware and understand the organisations aims and objectives together with an appreciation of the policies and procedures which govern 
the areas to be audited. 

 

148



 

APPENDIX C 
 

PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL 
INTERNAL AUDIT STRATEGY 2018/19 

 
 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Internal Audit has a key role in supporting the Council and its Audit Committee in discharging its governance responsibilities.  Its aim is to 

provide independent risk based and objective assurance which is responsive to the needs of Councillors and management, ensuring 
assurance, advice and insight enhances the values and vision of Peterborough City Council.   

 
1.2 In accordance with the mandatory Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), the Chief Internal Auditor must “establish risk-based plans 

to determine the priorities of the internal audit activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals”.  The role, purpose and authority of Internal 
Audit is defined in our Charter, which is updated annually. 

 
1.3 This document demonstrates how Internal Audit will support the Council in by delivering a relevant and focused Internal Audit Annual Plan for 

2018/19.  It explains how the plan was developed, the resources required to fulfil it, and how we will continue to develop the audit service. 
 

1.4 The strategy will be reviewed throughout the year to ensure its continued relevance, both in terms of supporting the council’s aims and in 
achieving a professional, modern audit service. 

 
 

2 INTERNAL AUDIT PLANNING PROCESS 
 
2.1 In an ever changing risk and control environment, it is important that audit plans can adapt quickly to the needs of the Council. Whilst we have 

always adopted a flexible approach to our work, we are now introducing an assessment and planning tool that will be used throughout the 
year on a rolling basis.  This innovative approach was agreed with the Audit Committee in February 2018 and has the advantage that each 
selected piece of work is the right one. 

 
2.2 At the same Audit Committee, we also discussed some emerging themes.  These were generated from our review of: departmental and 

strategic risk registers; discussions with senior management; the Council’s priorities; the Medium Term Financial Strategy; key decisions and 
reports taken to Cabinet, Scrutiny Committee and other committees; and contract and project registers.  The themes considered were: 

 

 Financial pressures faced by the Council and the resultant changes to service delivery arrangements as well as large scale 
projects designed to introduce more efficient and effective ways of working. 

149



 

 Safeguarding.  New approach to family safeguarding and improvements to processes. 

 Corporate governance, including risk management, the new Code of Corporate Governance and culture and ethics. 

 Counter Fraud. Taking a proactive approach and building on the anti-fraud culture within the authority.  

 Contracts and Partnerships. This is an essential component of the audit process, especially given the increasing dependence on 
external suppliers and partners, and the move towards a predominantly commissioning approach;  

 Information governance, particularly in relation to new regulations, IT security and data quality; 

 Schools. Governance, statutory and financial management processes linked with the Schools Financial Value Standard (SFVS); 

 IT and Digital Strategies.  Changes to systems and the move towards agile working and greater dependence on mobile/remote 
technology. 

 Grants and the requirement for independent verification and certification. 
 
2.3 The resulting list of ideas was then subject to an assessment, using our planning tool.  Each idea was scored under each of the factors below 

to generate a total score and thus a priority of High (>50), Medium (30-49) or Low (<30). 
 

Factor Description Weighting Maximum 
Score 

Materiality The size of a system or process in terms of financial value or number of 
transactions or number of people affected. 
 

1 5 

Corporate 
Importance 

The extent to which the Council depends on the system to meet statutory or 
regulatory requirements or corporate priorities. 
 

5 25 

Stability The degree of change within the process. 
 

2 10 

Vulnerability 
 

Extent to which the system is liable to breakdown, loss, error or fraud. 
4 20 

Specific concerns 
 

Arising from management’s assessment of risk as well as audit intelligence. 
4 20 

TOTAL POSSIBLE SCORE 80 

 
2.4 The Annual Audit Plan was then compiled on the basis of: 

 The prioritised list of potential audit reviews generated by the above assessment. 
 The number of audit days available for the year. 
 The skills, knowledge and experience of audit staff. 
 Information from other assurance providers. 
 An allowance for statutory activities, ad hoc consultancy, planning and progress reporting and follow-up reviews. 

150



 

 
2.5 During the year, we will apply our assessment tool to any new risks that emerge or concerns that are raised, and thus determine its priority for 

review compared to those areas already in the plan. In particular, we will review our plan after the imminent update of strategic and 
departmental risk registers.  This new aspect of our planning methodology means that we cannot state with certainty which audits will be 
undertaken, however we will be able to ensure that each next piece of work is the highest priority one.  Changes to the plan will be notified to 
the S151 officer and Audit Committee. 

 
2.6 We will also start to develop an assurance framework as part of this and future year’s plans. This will map the controls in key areas to the 

sources of assurance for those controls. It will provide valuable insight for management and will also give the Chief Internal Auditor an 
oversight of the control framework at the Council, which will feed into the Annual Opinion report at the end of the year. The assurance 
framework will be based on the Three Lines of Defence model, which categorises assurance according to its source: 

 First Line of Defence: Operational managers and staff carrying out day to day responsibilities and monitoring activities. 
 Second Line of Defence: Oversight functions that set policy and process and monitor implementation, such as HR, Finance, Health 

and Safety, Legal, Procurement, ICT and Property. 
 Third Line of Defence: Independent assurance providers, such as Internal and External Audit as well as regulators. 

 
 
3 AUDIT RESOURCES 
 
3.1 The Internal Audit Service is provided by an in-house team with an establishment of 5.96 FTE (as detailed below). This is a slight increase 

from 2017/18 of 0.5 FTE, resulting from the termination of the shared service arrangement (in December 2017) with Cambridge City and 
South Cambridgeshire District Councils (0.3) and the increase of a Senior Auditor post from 0.8 to 1 FTE.   

 
  

Post Name FTE   
    
Chief Internal Auditor 1.00   
Group Auditor 1.46   
Principal Auditor 0.50   
Senior Auditor 2.00   
Auditor 1.00   
    

Total establishment 5.96   

 
3. 2 The Chief Internal Auditor is charged with management responsibility for both the Insurance and the Investigations Teams at Peterborough 

City Council, as well as undertaking any Stage 2 Corporate Complaints.  Management of these activities equates to just over 0.4 FTE. 
 

151



 

3. 3 We currently have a Senior Auditor vacancy (1 FTE). Should we not recruit, the impact on the plan as it currently stands is highlighted within 
Appendix C.  The new planning methodology means it is not possible to say at the outset how our resources will be allocated, however, it can 
be seen that there are currently a number of audits rated High and Medium that we would not be able to complete. 

 
3. 4  We are aware of one area within the current plan that raises a conflicts of interest that could impair the objectivity of any work carried out.  The 

Chief Internal Auditor acts as an approving officer for BACS payments (to provide cover when other key staff are not available) and this will 
impair objectivity in relation to the Treasury Audit.  Our Charter states that such audits will be reviewed independently from the CIA, and the 
Group Auditors will report directly to the Service Director Financial Services.  However, this too may present a conflict of interests.  We will 
determine the most appropriate course of action before undertaking this piece of work.  We will also continue to monitor any conflicts of 
interest on a case by case basis and either re-allocate work accordingly, or notify the S151 officer and Audit Committee should we not be able 
to accommodate a piece of work. 

 
4 QUALITY ASSURANCE AND IMPROVEMENT 
 
4.1 The Internal Audit team will operate to the mandatory professional standards outlined in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).  

We will continue to monitor and improve the quality of our work in the following ways: 

 Robust, evidenced quality reviews of each piece of audit work by senior management. 

 Ongoing supervision and mentoring of staff, though 1:1s. 

 Assessment of the training needs of staff and provision through our membership of the Cambridge Audit Group and the Better 
Governance Forum, as well as other training providers.  We will also make use of webinars, mentoring and sharing of 
information at team meetings.  

 Use of post-audit questionnaires to obtain the views of auditees. 

 Annual customer surveys to understand the requirements of management and their views on the quality of our service.  

 Producing and implementing an improvement plan based on any self or externally assessed reviews of our work. 
 
 
5 AUDIT SERVICE DEVELOPMENT 
 
5.1 We aim to continually review and improve our service to ensure it is of the highest quality and meets our aims, as set out in the Charter.  

Planned developments for 2018/19 include: 
 

 Refinement of the new planning methodology, to include a review of the scoring mechanism and the possibility for automation. 

 An update of our follow-up process, to improve efficiency and ensure all actions are tracked and easily reportable. 

 A review of our post-audit questionnaire, with the aim of increasing its return rate. 

 A review of our reporting protocols (who receives audit reports). 

152



 

 Ongoing upgrades of our audit software, to ensure we are making full use of best practice enhancements, including a review of time 
recording functionality.  

 
 
4 OVERVIEW OF PLAN 
 
 The Plan for 2018/19 aims to give the Council the best audit coverage within the resources currently available, in order to provide an Annual 

Audit Opinion to feed into the Annual Governance Statement.  Assurances from other providers will be utilised where appropriate.  We will 
also collaborate with our Internal Audit colleagues in other local authorities with whom Peterborough City Council shares services.   The 
current allocation of the estimated 760 available days (without recruitment) is shown in Table 1 below.   Further details of specific audit 
reviews can be found in Appendix D. 
 

 

Table 1: Internal Audit Work Activities 

 Days: % 

Financial Governance  48 6 

Corporate Governance  60 8 

Information Governance 57 7 

Anti-Fraud Culture 60 8 

Service Delivery Risks 78 11 

Procurement and Contracts 60 8 

Programmes and Projects 50 7 

Certification 80 10 

Other Resource Provisions 115 15 

External Works 152 20 

TOTAL RESOURCES ALLOCATED 760 100.0 

 
 
4.1 Financial Governance 
 

This covers audits of the main financial systems of the Council, which for 2018/19 includes a review of budgetary control and savings targets. 
It also covers an allocation for the work we do in schools and a review of the Pupil Referral Unit.  We will co-ordinate our work with our 
External Auditors to ensure that there is no duplication of effort and to obtain any assurance from the work that they do. 

 
 
 

153



 

4.2 Corporate Governance 
 
 The work outlined in this section provides a high level overview of the governance arrangements at the Council, including the operation of the 

new board structure, compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance and input to the Annual Governance Statement. We will also 
continue to be involved in the new Risk Management board.  

 
4.3 Information Governance 
 
 In this area we are planning to review Business Continuity and Disaster Recover plans, the new IT Strategy and its links with agile working 

and controls over IT security.  We will also continue to attend the Information Governance working group, providing consultancy advice on the 
policy framework and emerging issues.   

 
4.4 Anti-fraud Culture 
 
 The Chief Internal Auditor manages an Investigations Team, and reports to Audit Committee separately about their work. However, in 

delivering all of its work, internal auditors are alert to the risks and exposures that could allow fraud or corruption to occur.  Our plan also 
includes time for pro-active fraud detection (including work in relation to the National Fraud Initiative and detailed testing of some high fraud 
risk areas); consultancy work in raising awareness and promoting an anti-fraud culture, and a small contingency for investigations into 
suspected irregularities.  We will work with the Investigations Team where appropriate. 

   
4.5 Service Delivery Risks 
  
 We have included a number of reviews in this area around safeguarding risks, statutory testing in schools and the new joint venture with Cross 

Keys which aims to deliver housing to help to alleviate the problem of homelessness in Peterborough.  Our work will also include the 
production of an assurance map covering safeguarding processes and controls, and we will review the assurances obtained from the CQC, 
Ofsted and any other external assurance providers. 

  
4.6 Procurement and Contracts 
 

We assess the management of contracts as high priority at a strategic level and always include time in our plan, however, specific contracts 
are assessed as the need arises.  Our review of risk registers and discussions with management have identified the following: Permanency 
(TACT), Prevention and Enforcement (Kingdom), Information Technology (Serco) and the arrangements for replacing the contract with Amey. 

 
 
 
 
 

154



 

4.7 Programmes and Projects 
 

We assess the management of projects as high priority at a strategic level and always include time in our plan, however, specific projects are 
assessed as the need arises.  We will review projects to ensure appropriate business cases have been made and that they are being 
managed effectively. This may also include a look at business benefits realisations, as the large transformation projects are key to the delivery 
of efficiencies and therefore necessary savings.  We also plan to produce an assurance map covering the high level programme and project 
management framework. 

 
4.8 Grant Certification 
 
 As a result of the Council continuing to receive and obtain grant funding, the demand for internal audit to certify grant claims continues.  Also 

included in this area of the plan is other verification work carried out in line with Government requirements, such as the Troubled Families 
programme (known locally as Connecting Families) and the Carbon Reduction Commitment. 

 
4.9 Other Resource Provisions 
 
 This area includes time for:  

 Completing 2017-18 audits that have yet to be finalised at the beginning of 2018-19 

 Following–up the implementation of audit recommendations, normally within 6 months of the original audit;  

 The provision of control advice and consultancy, which is requested on an ad-hoc basis from a variety of managers and officer.  A 
large amount of this work consists of advice during the update or implementation of new systems or processes. 

 Annual audit planning, progress monitoring and reporting. 

 Other committee support, including reporting, Audit Committee training and a review of Audit Committee effectiveness 

 Review and update of the Internal Audit Charter and Ethics statement and review of Internal Audit effectiveness 
  
4.10 External Works 
 
 PCC Internal Audit provides audit services to Vivacity–Peterborough (since 2010) and the new Combined Authority (from May 2017).  Both 

are managed through a Service Level Agreements and costs are chargeable.  The work undertaken is client confidential and is reported to the 
organisations’ own audit committees.  A small amount of chargeable work is occasionally carried out for schools, specifically grant 
certifications. 

 
 
 

155



T
his page is intentionally left blank

156



APPENDIX D 
 

PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL 
INTERNAL PLAN 2018/19 

 
AUDIT ACTIVITIES 
Provision for Internal Audit and Anti-Fraud activities that are not subject to risk assessment. 
 
SERVICE  /  SYSTEM AUDIT SCOPE 

Annual Audit Planning 

 
Produce risk assessed annual plan and strategy, along with a review of: 

 Internal Audit effectiveness 

 Audit Committee effectiveness 

 Internal Audit Charter 

 Internal Audit Ethics Policy 
Includes reporting of the progress of the plan during the year. In accordance with PSIAS. 
 

Annual Audit Opinion 
 
Produce report detailing work carried out and Head of Internal Audit Opinion of Governance, Risk and Control, in accordance with PSIAS. 
 

 
Annual Governance 
Statement 
 

Compilation and review of senior management assurances, and review of AGS. 

Fraud/Compliance activities 

 
Produce annual report on activities of the Investigations Team. 
Produce/update corporate fraud policies, such as: Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy; Whistleblowing Policy; Sanctions Policy. 
Proactive testing in high fraud risk areas. 
National Fraud Initiative – ongoing provision of data and investigation of matches. 
Raising awareness of fraud risks. 
Investigations into alleged fraud or irregular activity, as required. 
 

Assurance Frameworks 

 
Mapping of controls to assurances based on the Three Lines of Defence model.  New activity - designed to feed into the annual audit opinion and to drive future 
Internal Audit work where appropriate.  Initial aim is to cover Safeguarding (we will collaborate with CCC Internal Audit in this area), and also Project/Programme 
management. 
 

Working Groups/Boards 
 
Attendance at working group/board meetings (for example: Risk Management, Information Governance) and reviewing emerging issues. 
 

Carry Forward Provision 
 
Provision for the completion of 2017-18 audits. 
 

 
Follow Up Provision  
 

 
Revisiting audits after 6 months to monitor the implementation of recommendations. 

157



APPENDIX D 
 

PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL 
INTERNAL PLAN 2018/19 

 
AUDIT ACTIVITIES 
Provision for Internal Audit and Anti-Fraud activities that are not subject to risk assessment. 
 
SERVICE  /  SYSTEM AUDIT SCOPE 

 
Advice and Consultancy 

 
Allowance exists for time spent on providing risk and control advice to officers, management and members, as well as ad hoc requests for consultancy work. 
 

 
External work 
 

We are the Internal Auditors for Vivacity and the Combined Authority.  We also occasionally carry out NCLT grant certifications for schools.  This work is 
chargeable and is not reported into PCC’s Audit Committee.  

   TOTAL AUDIT DAYS 397 

  

158



APPENDIX D 
 

PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL 
INTERNAL PLAN 2018/19 

 
CERTIFICATION 
Certification of grant claims in relation to funding received from government and other funding bodies, as well as other submissions we are required to make to government.  
These are not subject to risk assessment as they must be completed. 
 

DESCRIPTION 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

 

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
A

T
E

  
 
 

AUDIT SCOPE 

Disabled Facilities  6 P&C 
Non ring-fenced capital funding towards Disabled Facilities grants that PCC can award to disabled clients for necessary 
housing alterations. 

Bus Service Operators 6 G&R 
A grant to support bus services, including community transport services. 
Direct from DfT.this year.  By Sept 18. 

Integrated Transport Block 1 G&R 
From DfT via CPCA. By Sept 18.  £1.4m 
 

Highways Maintenance 1 G&R 
From DfT via CPCA. By Sept 18.  (Needs Element, Incentive Element, Additional Incentive Element).  £3.3m 
 

Pothole Action Fund 1 G&R 
From DfT via CPCA. By Sept 18.  (Two instalments) £4k 
 

National Productivity Investment 
Fund 

1 G&R 
From DfT via CPCA. By Sept 18.  £7.7k 
 

Drought Damage 1 G&R 
From DfT via CPCA. By Sept 18.   £1.2m 
 

Connecting Families 2, 6 P&C 
Payment by results scheme. Requirement to audit 10% of the claims for every submission. Also, to review the council’s 
Outcomes Plan, which documents how PCC will apply the scheme. 

Carbon Reduction Commitment 4 G&R 
A requirement from Environment Agency to audit the council’s submission of annual energy usage figures to ensure they are 
valid, accurate and complete. 

Other Various Various 
Contingency for other possible grants during the year (eg funding for projects via CPCA, Integrated Communities Fund, 
Controlling Migration Fund) 

Mayor’s Charities N/A Gov Audit of the accounts maintained in relation to fund raising for the Mayor’s Charities. 

   TOTAL AUDIT DAYS 80 

 

159



APPENDIX D 
 

PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL 
INTERNAL PLAN 2018/19 

 
Prioritised Audits for Review 
The following audit areas have been subject to an assessment (of size, corporate importance, stability, vulnerability and specific concerns) and ranked accordingly.  The 
assessment, and therefore the ranking, may change during the year as circumstances alter and new risks emerge.  Audit reviews will be prioritised on the basis of this ranking, 
along with the number of audit days available, the knowledge and experience of staff and any timing requirements.  The shaded areas represent audits that will not be possible 
without recruitment to the vacant post.  

 

S
E

R
V

IC
E

  
O

R
 

S
Y

S
T

E
M

 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

 

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
A

T
E

  
 
 
 

OUTLINE AUDIT SCOPE 
 
 
 
 

Priority  

R
a
ti

n
g

 

S
c

o
re

 

Budgetary Control All Res 

 
This review will look at the savings targets identified in the MTFS and the method used to track them to ensure they are on 
target. 
 

H 70 

Safeguarding 3 P&C 

 
A follow-up of recommendations from an external review of ASC safeguarding practice, following a particular safeguarding 
incident.  See also Assurance Mapping above.   
 

H 67 

Projects All Various 

 
Reviews of specific projects to ensure appropriate business cases have been made and that they are being managed 
effectively. This may also include a look at business benefits realisations. The aim will be to look at transformation and 
demand management projects being manged by Serco, but other projects may be included.  
 

H 62 

Contracts All Various 

 
Reviews of contract management or open book review of specific contracts, for example: Serco IT, Permanency (TACT), 
PES (Kingdom), new arrangements for the Amey contract. 
 

H 62 

 
Business Continuity 
 

All Res/All This will cover Serco arrangements for disaster recovery and Council business continuity plans to ensure they are robust. H 61 

Cyber Security All Res 
 
IT security arrangements –Serco role.  Awaiting results of review commissioned by Serco to determine areas to focus on. 
 

H 61 

Corporate Boards All Gov 

 
A new corporate board structure is being implemented.  We will review the operation of the boards, including structure, role 
and accountabilities, once in place and embedded. To include process for approving capital spend. 
 

H 58 

160



APPENDIX D 
 

PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL 
INTERNAL PLAN 2018/19 

 
Prioritised Audits for Review 
The following audit areas have been subject to an assessment (of size, corporate importance, stability, vulnerability and specific concerns) and ranked accordingly.  The 
assessment, and therefore the ranking, may change during the year as circumstances alter and new risks emerge.  Audit reviews will be prioritised on the basis of this ranking, 
along with the number of audit days available, the knowledge and experience of staff and any timing requirements.  The shaded areas represent audits that will not be possible 
without recruitment to the vacant post.  

 

S
E

R
V

IC
E

  
O

R
 

S
Y

S
T

E
M

 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

 

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
A

T
E

  
 
 
 

OUTLINE AUDIT SCOPE 
 
 
 
 

Priority  

R
a
ti

n
g

 

S
c

o
re

 

Schools 2 P&C 

 
Themed reviews to include Statutory Testing.  Reviews of specific schools will be determined on a risk basis throughout the 
year. 
 

H 58 

 
Code of Corporate 
Governance 
 

All Gov A review of compliance with the new code, specifically covering ethics and standards. H 57 

 
IT Strategy/Agile 
Working 
 

All Res An overview of the new IT strategy and its operation in terms of new agile working arrangements. H 57 

Pupil Referral Unit 2 P&C 

 
A review of governance, including VFM on contracts and asset management, before this unit becomes ‘arms-length’ under 
an SLA. 
 

H 54 

 
Family 
Safeguarding 
 

3 P&C Funding from DfE to establish a new approach.  A review of the governance in place to achieve the required outcomes. H 54 

Medesham Homes 1, 6 G&R 
 
Governance arrangements and strategy of this joint venture with Cross Keys. 
 

H 54 

   
TOTAL AUDIT DAYS 283 

 

161



APPENDIX D 
 

PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL 
INTERNAL PLAN 2018/19 

 
Prioritised Audits for Review 
The following audit areas have been subject to an assessment (of size, corporate importance, stability, vulnerability and specific concerns) and ranked accordingly.  The 
assessment, and therefore the ranking, may change during the year as circumstances alter and new risks emerge.  Audit reviews will be prioritised on the basis of this ranking, 
along with the number of audit days available, the knowledge and experience of staff and any timing requirements.  The shaded areas represent audits that will not be possible 
without recruitment to the vacant post.  

 

Treasury 
Management 

All Res 
 
A review of processes in place to manage investments and cash flow, following a recent strategy refresh. 
 

H 51 

Asset Management All 
G&R 
/ All 

 
To ensure processes are in place to keep the asset register up-to-date and accurate.   
To review the effectiveness of, and responsibilities for facilities, management. 
 

H 50 

GDPR All Gov 
 
Arrangements for new data protection regulations. 
 

H 50 

Commissioning 
3, 6, 

7 
P&C 

 
Commissioning/Brokerage arrangements covering PCC and CCC (in collaboration with CCC Internal Audit) 
 

H 50 

Risk Management All G&R 
 
An overview of new arrangements following a change in personnel and a new reporting board. 
 

M 49 

Council Tax All Res 
 
Arrangements to ensure all income due is identified, billed and recovered. 
 

M 49 

NNDR All Res 
 
Arrangements to ensure all income due is identified, billed and recovered. 
 

M 48 

 
Data Quality 
 

All All 
Consultancy work to support solutions to identified data quality issues, incorporating use of our analytical software. 
Review of the new Information Strategy and its implementation. 

M 46 

 
Opportunity 
Peterborough 

1 G&R Governance arrangements for the wholly owned organisation. M 41 

Shared Services All Various 

 
Performance management and income generation/cost reduction in areas with shared service arrangements with Fenland, 
Rutland, LGSS or any others. 
 

M 40 

 
IT Asset 
Management 

All Res Processes in place to ensure asset registers are complete and up to date. M 38 

162



APPENDIX D 
 

PETERBOROUGH CITY COUNCIL 
INTERNAL PLAN 2018/19 

 
Prioritised Audits for Review 
The following audit areas have been subject to an assessment (of size, corporate importance, stability, vulnerability and specific concerns) and ranked accordingly.  The 
assessment, and therefore the ranking, may change during the year as circumstances alter and new risks emerge.  Audit reviews will be prioritised on the basis of this ranking, 
along with the number of audit days available, the knowledge and experience of staff and any timing requirements.  The shaded areas represent audits that will not be possible 
without recruitment to the vacant post.  

 

Member Support 
All 
 

Gov Member training and use of IT. M 36 

Employment 
Contracts 

All Res Compliance with recruitment policies (Right to Work). M 33 

   
TOTAL AUDIT DAYS 147 

 
 

VISION FOR THE CITY 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

1 Drive growth, regeneration and economic development. 

2 Improve educational attainment and skills. 

3 Safeguard vulnerable children and adults. 

4 Implement the Environment Capital agenda. 

5 Supporting Peterborough’s culture and leisure trust Vivacity. 

6 Keep all our communities safe, cohesive and healthy. 

7 Achieve the best health and wellbeing for the city. 

 

163



T
his page is intentionally left blank

164



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 10 

26 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Marion Kelly - Interim Corporate Director Resources

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Seaton Cabinet Member for Resources

Contact Officer(s): Steve Crabtree, Chief Internal Auditor Tel: 384557

REVIEW OF COMMITTEE EFFECTIVENESS

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM:  Steve Crabtree, Chief Internal Auditor Deadline date: N/A

  It is recommended that Audit Committee:
1. To consider the draft response to the CIPFA Toolkit checklist for Audit Committees, 

which records that the Committee meets all of the good practice statements;
2. To consider the draft responses to the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework for 

local authority audit committees; and
3. To agree any actions which the Committee considers appropriate to amend or 

enhance the Committee’s arrangements in light of the completed Knowledge and 
Skills Framework assessment and the CIPFA Audit Committee Toolkit checklist.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Audit Committee as a routine planned report on the 
development of the role and effectiveness of the Audit Committee.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1The  To provide Members with details of an internal assessment of the operations of the 
Audit Committee against best practice.

2.2 This report is for Audit Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 
2.2.1.15 

“To consider the Councils arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing 
necessary actions to ensure compliance with best practice”.

165



3. TIMESCALES

Is this a Major Policy Item/Statutory 
Plan?

NO If yes, date for Cabinet 
meeting 

N/A

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 INTRODUCTION

4.1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 state that each local authority shall at 
least annually, “conduct a review of the effectiveness of its system of internal audit”. 
The regulations go on to say that the findings of this review should be considered 
by a committee or members of the relevant body as a whole, as part of the wider 
consideration of the organisation’s system of internal control. This requirement is 
reiterated in the Internal Audit Charter which was last approved by the Committee 
in March 2017. The requirements for an effective internal audit function are set out 
in Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (last updated in April 2016). 

4.1.2 Members previously considered a report in April 2017 which reviewed the 
Committee’s effectiveness as the Council’s Audit Committee, using the CIPFA 
“Toolkit for Local Authority Audit Committees”. An update of this assessment is 
provided within the report. The report also contains an assessment against an 
existing good practice model in respect of the knowledge and skills expected of an 
effective audit committee to enable it to effectively discharge its duties.

4.2 CIPFA GUIDANCE ON AUDIT COMMITTEES

4.2.1 In December 2013 CIPFA published “Audit Committees - Practical Guidance for 
Local Authorities and Police”. The document sets out CIPFA’s guidance on the 
function and operation of audit committees, giving their view of best practice, and 
also includes their “Position Statement: Audit Committees in Local Authorities and 
Police Authorities”. The Position Statement (Appendix A) emphasise the 
importance of audit committees and their role as a key component of governance.

4.2.2 The Guidance states that the purpose of an audit committee is to provide to those 
charged with governance independent assurance on the adequacy of the risk 
management framework, the internal control environment and the integrity of the 
financial reporting and annual governance processes.

4.2.3 The Guidance sets out the CIPFA position statement, then expands on:
● The purpose of Audit Committees;
● The core functions of an Audit Committee;
● Possible wider functions of an Audit Committee;
● Independence and accountability; and
● Membership and effectiveness (including potential causes of difficulty and 

potential improvement options)

4.2.4 The Guidance specifies the key regulations which can be addressed by the terms 
of reference of an Audit Committee and provides some suggested Terms of 
Reference. All of the good practice set out in the CIPFA Position Statement is 
incorporated within PCC’s Audit Committee Terms of Reference.

166



4.2.5 CIPFA also produced a toolkit for local authority audit committees, which 
supports the objectives set out in the Guidance. The toolkit set out the following 
areas for consideration:

● Establishment, operation and duties of the committee;
● Role and remit;
● Membership, induction and training;
● Meetings;
● Internal control;
● Financial reporting and regulatory matters;
● Internal Audit;
● External Audit;
● Administration;
● Agenda management;
● Papers; and
● Actions arising

4.2.6 The toolkit contains an audit committee self-assessment checklist which has been 
reproduced in Appendix B. Officers have completed the checklist, which 
concludes that the Audit Committee demonstrates that it is meeting good practice. 
Members may wish to consider the draft responses given to ensure they accurately 
reflect their views and agree appropriate actions for those areas they consider 
should be amended / enhanced.

4.2.7 To further assist Audit Committees, CIPFA also produced a Knowledge and Skills 
framework for Audit Committee members. A draft assessment has been compiled 
by officers (Appendix C). 

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The review has been circulated to Corporate Director Resources and Service 
Director Financial Services for consideration.

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 It can be demonstrated that Audit Committee fulfils its terms of reference and 
meets best practice governance guidelines within the public sector.

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 To provide Members with an overview of the requirements and best practice for 
audit committees and allow for challenge.

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 None

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 The report does not give rise to any additional capital or revenue financial 
implications.

Legal Implications

167



9.2 Regulation 3 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 sets out the Council’s 
responsibility for ensuring that it has a sound system of internal control which:

● Facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the achievement of its 
aims and objectives;

● Ensures that the financial and operational management of the authority is 
effective; and

● Includes effective arrangements for the management of risk.

Regulation 5 requires the Council to ensure it undertakes an effective Internal Audit 
to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance.

Regulation 6 requires the Council to conduct an annual review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control required by Regulation 3; and to prepare an annual 
governance statement. The findings of the review of effectiveness must be 
considered as part of the consideration of the system of internal control referred to 
in paragraph 4.2 above. The Council has delegated the discharge of this function 
to the Audit Committee.

Equalities Implications

9.3 Not applicable.

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 
1985

10.1 None.

11. APPENDICES

A: Key Attributes
B: Compliance Self-Assessment
C: Knowledge and Skills Framework

168



Appendix A 
 
CIPFA POSITION STATEMENT: AUDIT COMMITTEES IN LOCAL AUTHORITIES (2013) 
 

Audit Committees are a key component of an authority’s governance framework 

 Their function is to provide an independent and high-level resource to support good governance and 
strong public financial management 

The purpose of an Audit Committee is to provide to those charged with governance independent 
assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework, the internal control environment and the 
integrity of the financial reporting and annual governance processes 

 By overseeing Internal Audit and External Audit it makes an important contribution to ensuring that 
effective assurance arrangements are in place 

The core functions of the Audit Committee are to: 

 Be satisfied that the authority’s assurance statements, including the Annual Governance 
Statement, properly reflect the risk environment and any actions required to improve it and 
demonstrate how governance supports the achievement of the authority’s objectives. 

 
 In relation to the authority’s Internal Audit functions: 

 Oversee its independence, objectivity, performance and professionalism 

 Support the effectiveness of the Internal Audit process 

 Promote the effective use of Internal Audit within the assurance framework 

 
 Consider the effectiveness of the authority’s risk management arrangements and the control 

environment. Review the risk profile of the organisation and assurances that action is being 
taken on risk-related issues, including partnerships with other organisations 

 
 Monitor the effectiveness of the control environment, including arrangements for ensuring 

value for money and for managing the authority’s exposure to the risk of fraud and corruption. 

 
 Consider the reports and recommendations of External Audit, inspection agencies and other 

relevant bodies, and encourage the active promotion of the value of the audit process. 

 
 Support effective relationships between External Audit and Internal Audit, inspection agencies 

and other relevant bodies, and encourage the active promotion of the value of the audit 
process. 

 
 Review the financial statement, External Auditors opinion and reports to Members, and 

monitor management action in response to the issues raised by External Audit 

 

Audit Committees can also support their authorities by understanding a wider role in other areas 
including: 

 Considering governance, risk or control matters at the request of other committees or statutory officers 
 

 Working with local standards committees to support ethical values and reviewing the arrangements to 
achieve these values 

 

 Reviewing and monitoring treasury management arrangements in accordance with the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice 

 

 Providing oversight of other public reports, such as the Annual Report 
 

169



Although no single model of Audit Committee is prescribed, all should: 

 Act as the principal non-executive, advisory function supporting those charged with governance 
 

 Be independent of both the executive and the scrutiny functions 
 

 Have clear rights of access to other committees / functions, corporate boards and other strategic bodies 
 

 Be properly accountable to the Council 
 

 Meet regularly - at least four times a year, and have a clear policy on those items to be considered in 
private and those to be considered in public 

 

 Be able to meet privately and separately with the External Auditor and with the Chief Internal Auditor 
 

 Include, as regular attendees, the Chief Financial Officer(s) or appropriate senior and qualified 
substitute, the Chief Executive, Chief Internal Auditor and the appointed External Auditor. Other 
attendees may include the Monitoring Officer 

 

 These officers should also be able to access the committee, or the chair, as required. The committee 
should have the right to call any other officers or agencies of the authority as required.  

 

 Report regularly on their work and, at least annually, report an assessment of their performance 
 

Good Audit Committees are characterised by: 

 A membership that is balanced, objective, independent of mind, knowledgeable and properly trained to 
fulfil their role 

 

 A membership that is supportive of good governance principles and their practical application towards 
the achievement of organisational objectives 

 

 Unbiased attitudes - treating auditors, the executive and management fairly 
 

 The ability to challenge the executive and senior management when required 
 

 

170



AUDIT COMMITTEE: ASSESSMENT OF EFFECTIVENESS 2018 

 
 Issue / Evidence / Suggested Improvement Yes No 

 
APPENDIX B 

1…ESTABLISHMENT, OPERATION AND DUTIES 

1.1 ROLE AND REMIT 

1.1.1 Does the Audit Committee have written terms of reference?   

Terms of Reference (ToR) can be found within: 

 Constitution; 

 on Council website; and 

 Audit Committee Handbook 

Regularly reviewed and is up to date with approval through Council as appropriate when Constitution 
amendments are made. 

Last update for Audit Committee was October 2017 to include references for Public Sector Audit 
Appointments (PSAA). 

1.1.2 Do the terms of reference cover the core functions of an Audit Committee as 
identified in CIPFA guidance? 

  

Template used for ToR based upon CIPFA best practice. Incorporates arrangements for 

 Internal Audit; 

 External Audit; 

 Risk Management; 

 Governance; and 

 Fraud issues. 

Amendments since inception have been to incorporate member standards issues as a sub-committee of 
the main Audit Committee (referred to as a Hearing Panel). 

1.1.3 Are the terms of reference approved by the council and reviewed periodically?   

Updates to Constitution are all channelled through Council as appropriate (see 1.1.1). Last full update for 
Audit Committee was October 2017. 

Main ToR remains as per best practice. 

1.1.4 Has the Audit Committee been provided with sufficient membership, authority 
and resources to perform its role effectively and independently? 

  

 Changes to committee numbers agreed each year at Council when establishing make up of each 
Committee. 11/7/2012 Council agreed for Audit Committee to be exempt from political balance 
requirements under s.15 LG and Housing Act 1989. Current membership (7). 

 

Party Conservative Labour Lib Dem Liberal Werrington First UKIP 

Membership 4 1 1 1 0 0 

Reserve 1 1 1 1 0 0 

Committee members are all elected Councillors. 

Training provided to members on request basis. An Audit Committee Handbook has been produced and 
is updated annually.  

171



AUDIT COMMITTEE: ASSESSMENT OF EFFECTIVENESS 2018 

 
 Issue / Evidence / Suggested Improvement Yes No 

 
 

1.1.5 Can the Audit Committee access other committees and full council as necessary?   

Members are also on other Committees in line with their political party proportionate allocation and all are 
expected to attend Full Council. 

Annual report on Audit Committee activity is provided to Full Council for information. Expectation that 
Chair discusses at the meeting (but can be a problem if they lose seat in local elections in May. Latest 
version submitted to Audit Committee (March 2017); Full Council (May 2017). 

Issues raised within Audit Committee which are deemed not to be within the remit of the committee are 
referred through to the appropriate committee. 

1.1.6 Does the authority's Annual Governance Statement (AGS) include a description 
of the Audit Committee's establishment and activities? 

  

AGS has been produced by Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) since 2006 and conforms to the prescribed best 
practice. Draft is submitted as part of statement of accounts deadlines. 

An independent check through External Audit confirms approach. 

Reference is made within the document to the role of the Audit Committee. 

1.1.7 Does the Audit Committee periodically assess its own effectiveness?   

Effective review completed by CIA. No separate independent review undertaken, however report to Audit 
Committee March 2018 provides opportunity for challenge by Members. 

A separate assessment against the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework is also included. 

Membership numbers reviewed as part of overall allocation to committees, approved through Council 
each year. 

1.1.8 Does the Audit Committee make a formal annual report on its work and 
performance during the year to full council? 

  

Annual report is produced each year by Democratic Services (based on a standard template) in March 
each year. 

Referral to Full Council following consideration / agreement at Audit Committee. 

1.2 MEMBERSHIP, INDUCTION AND TRAINING 

1.2.1 Has the membership of the committee been formally agreed and a quorum set?   

Annual membership review each year (May). Full Council approval required (based on political 
proportionality) 

Quorum level set at 4. 

1.2.2 Is the chair independent of the executive function?   

Chair is not on Cabinet, but member of the main party. 

On creation of the Audit Committee, decision taken that membership should be only elected Members, 
with no independent representation. 

1.2.3 Has the Audit Committee chair either previous knowledge of, or received 
appropriate training on, financial and risk management, accounting concepts and 
standards, and the regulatory regime? 

  

Training has been provided to all councillors when needed.  

This has included final accounts; risk management; role of members on the audit committee; governance 
arrangements; financial and contract rules; and standards. 

All members have access to the Audit Committee Handbook. 

172



AUDIT COMMITTEE: ASSESSMENT OF EFFECTIVENESS 2018 

 
 Issue / Evidence / Suggested Improvement Yes No 

 

 

1.2.4 Are new Audit Committee members provided with an appropriate induction?   

Training provided to all on request: 

 Audit Committee Handbook available 

Standardised work programme set out for the year and training offered around each of those areas to 
ensure focussed discussions. 

1.2.5 Have all members' skills and experiences been assessed and training given for 
identified gaps? 

  

Training has been provided to members based around key aspects of the committee agendas, such as: 

 Introduction to governance 

 Risk management  

 Final accounts and the governance statement 

Recent request in relation to treasury management will be provided at March 2018 meeting. There is a 
separate exercise / assessment of member training needs (by Democratic Services) 

1.2.6 Has each member declared his or her business interests?   

Member interests are recorded on website in accordance with the schemes requirements. 

During 2017 / 2018 meetings to date, no declarations have been made before (or during) Audit 
Committees. 

1.2.7 Are members sufficiently independent of the other key committees of the 
council? 

  

No members on Audit Committee are on Cabinet.  

Cabinet Member for Resources as a point of principle does attend Audit Committee in an observation 
capacity, although does contribute to items if required. (Does not have voting rights). 

All Members are on separate Committees 

1.3 MEETINGS 

1.3.1 Does the Audit Committee meet regularly?   

Set timetable agreed each year / with prescribed timings for the key reports. For example. 

- June (draft final accounts / AGS / Audit Opinion) 

- September (audited final accounts) 

- November (audit progress) 

- February (grant claims / External Audit Letter)  

- March (IA / EA plans) 

(Agenda dates will change following need for earlier closedown timetables) 

Other activities programmed throughout year cover risk management, fraud, governance, use of RIPA 
etc.  

Standards reporting has not been activated but remains a standing item on the agenda 

1.3.2 Do the terms of reference set out the frequency of meetings?   

Work programme identified each year sets out the key activities and timelines for delivery – but this is not 
set out within the ToR. 

173



AUDIT COMMITTEE: ASSESSMENT OF EFFECTIVENESS 2018 

 
 Issue / Evidence / Suggested Improvement Yes No 

 

 

1.3.3 Does the Committee calendar meet the authority's business needs, governance 
needs and the financial calendar? 

  

Work Programme produced complies with statutory dates for reporting. 

Will be rearranged for future years to accommodate faster final accounts timetables. 

1.3.4 Are members attending meetings on a regular basis and if not, is appropriate 
action taken? 

  

Annual report sets out level of attendance and are documented on website against each committee 
agenda. 

Substitutes are available if needed to ensure quorate and offset apologies. 

There has been no matters arising from the need for necessary actions if members are not regularly 
present. 

1.3.5 Are meetings free / open without political influences being displayed?   

While the composition of the Committee reflects the political composition of the Council, decisions are not 
taken on political lines.  

In addition, the committee is exempt from political balance requirements (see 1.1.4) 

1.3.6 Does the s151 officer or deputy attend all meetings?   

Current Interim Director of Resources (s151) and the Service Director Financial Services (Deputy s151) 
attend each meeting. 

1.3.7 Does the Audit Committee have the benefit of attendance of appropriate officers 
at its meetings? 

  

Committee is supported by a permanent clerk from Democratic Services. Interim Director of Resources, 
Service Director Financial Services and Chief Internal Auditor are always in attendance.  

Other Officers attending are based on agenda items as well as representation from External Audit and 
Legal Services. 

2…INTERNAL CONTROL 

2.1 Does the Audit Committee consider the findings of the annual review of the 
effectiveness of the internal audit? 

  

Annual report produced each year for review as part of the consideration for the AGS. 

Currently in June audit cycle but will be incorporated into revised timetables for earlier closure. 

2.2 Does the Audit Committee have responsibility for review and approval of the AGS 
and does it consider it separately from the accounts? 

  

Agenda items are structured so that it is considered before final accounts each year 

Members have been provided with commentary as to the background and compilation of data for the 
AGS. 

2.3 Does the Audit Committee consider how meaningful the AGS is?   

Advice on the reasoning behind the AGS and how to challenge and understand it are provided in the 
Audit Committee Handbook and with occasional training sessions.  

All committee reports provide full details / background information in order to make informed decisions in 
line with corporate templates. 

External Audit comments in relation to the AGS also referred to the Committee 

174



AUDIT COMMITTEE: ASSESSMENT OF EFFECTIVENESS 2018 

 
 Issue / Evidence / Suggested Improvement Yes No 

 

 

2.4 Does the Audit Committee satisfy itself that the system of internal control has 
operated effectively throughout the reporting period? 

  

Reporting on adequacy of controls are within the Internal Audit progress reports to committee and the 
annual opinion. Previous review of effectiveness of Internal Audit also reported upon. 

Each report is discussed as appropriate, minuted and agreed. 

2.5 Has the Audit Committee considered how it integrates with other committees that 
have responsibility for risk management? 

N/a N/a 

Committee are responsible for monitoring the effective development and operation of risk management in 
the Council. 

2.6 Has the Audit Committee (with delegated responsibility) or the full council 
adopted "Managing the Risk of Fraud - Actions to Counter Fraud and 
Corruption?" 

  

Part of Audit Committee remit and previously covered. Guidelines issued by CIPFA in October 2014. 
Policies are reviewed against these. 

Latest review of policies are on the March 2018 agenda for approval. These will then be reissued to 
ensure continued compliance and meeting best practice 

2.7 Does the Audit Committee ensure that the "Actions to Counter Fraud and 
Corruption" are being implemented? 

  

There is an annual report produced in relation to investigations / compliance which covers the works of 
the Investigations team. 

2.8 Is the Audit Committee made aware of the role of risk management in the 
preparation of the internal audit plan? 

  

Set out in the Audit Charter / Strategy as to how the Audit Plan has been developed. A revised approach 
has been formalised for 2018 / 2019 and was included on the agenda for February 2018 to identify 
emerging issues. 

Training has been provided to Members on the role of Internal Audit and how it focusses its works around 
establishing appropriate mechanisms in place to reduce the risks. 

The full audit plans are provided annually in the March committee cycle. 

2.9 Does the Audit Committee review the authority's strategic risk register at least 
annually? 

  

Risk register issued to Audit Committee as a high level document, usually every 6 months, subject to 
review being undertaken by CMT.  

Risk management being refreshed (as is all Boards) and meaningful dialogue in place with Members to 
ensure challenge / buy in. Next submission to Audit Committee is scheduled for March 2018. 

2.10 Does the Audit Committee monitor how the authority assesses its risk?   

Risks are reported to committee and actions taken to mitigate are challenged. Suggestions are made for 
areas that should be included. 

2.11 Do the Audit Committee's terms of reference include oversight of the risk 
management process? 

  

Yes  

175



AUDIT COMMITTEE: ASSESSMENT OF EFFECTIVENESS 2018 

 
 Issue / Evidence / Suggested Improvement Yes No 

 

 

3…FINANCIAL REPORTING AND REGULATORY MATTERS 

3.1 Is the committee's role in the consideration and / or approval of the annual 
accounts clearly defined? 

  

Defined within ToR in line with best practice 

3.2 

 

 

Does the audit committee consider specifically: 

The suitability of accounting policies and treatments   

Set out in final accounts updates / reports and overview given as part of training prior to agenda 

Major judgements made   

Commentary is included in the final account statements and are reviewed by members and External 
Audit. No misstatements have been identified.  

Large write offs   

A write off report submitted to Audit Committee in February 2018. 

Changes in accounting treatment   

Set out in final accounts updates / reports and overview given as part of training prior to agenda 

The reasonableness of accounting estimates / narrative aspects of reporting   

Will be more prominent as quicker account closures introduced. External Audit works earlier in year to 
reduce the potential levels of estimates 

Accounting reports follow prescribed best practice and are reviewed by Members and External Audit 

3.3 Is the Audit Committee meeting scheduled to receive the external auditor's report 
to those charged with governance including a discussion of proposed 
adjustments to the accounts and other issues arising from the audit? 

  

Covered during the September cycle (although will be brought forward for new final accounts timelines 

3.4 Does the Audit Committee review the management's letter of representation?   

See 3.3 above 

3.5 Does the Audit Committee annually review the accounting policies of the 
authority? 

  

See 3.2 above 

3.6 Does the Audit Committee gain an understanding of management's procedures 
for preparing the authority's annual accounts? 

  

Annual training is provided to Audit Committee members prior to review of the statement of accounts  

3.7 Does the Audit Committee have a mechanism to keep it aware of topical legal and 
regulatory issues, for example by receiving circulars and through training? 

  

Training is provided on key aspects of the agenda. 

Information circulars received from CIPFA are incorporated into the Handbook. 

176



AUDIT COMMITTEE: ASSESSMENT OF EFFECTIVENESS 2018 

 
 Issue / Evidence / Suggested Improvement Yes No 

 

 

4…INTERNAL AUDIT 

4.1 Does the committee approve, annually the Internal Audit strategic and annual 
plans including consideration of whether the scope of Internal Audit work 
addresses the authority's significant risks? 

  

Annually, March committee cycle receives: 

 Internal Audit strategy 

 Internal Audit plan 

 Internal Audit charter 

 Internal Audit Code of Ethics 

4.2 Does Internal Audit have an appropriate reporting line to the Audit Committee?   

Chief Internal Auditor has direct access and freedom to report to all officers / members and particularly to 
those charged with governance e.g. Chief Executive; Monitoring Officer; s151 Officer; Deputy s151. 

Meetings are held with Chair of Audit Committee (briefings) when required 

Monthly meetings are held with Cabinet Member for Resources  

4.3 Does the Audit Committee receive periodic reports from Internal Audit including 
an annual report from the Head of Internal Audit? 

  

Following agreement of audit plan, there is a half year progress report followed by an annual report and 
opinion 

Separate report being produced on emerging issues to develop future works. 

4.4 Are follow-up audits by Internal Audit monitored by the Audit Committee and 
does the committee consider the adequacy of implementation of 
recommendations? 

  

Recorded on progress reports of all audit activities undertaken. 

4.5 Does the Audit Committee hold periodic private discussions with the Head of 
Internal Audit? 

  

Constitution does not allow for private meetings to be held 

4.6 Is there appropriate cooperation between the internal / external auditors?   

Joint working arrangements where appropriate to ensure effective coverage and avoiding duplication. 

Progress meetings are held. 

4.7 Does the Audit Committee review the adequacy of Internal Audit staffing and 
other resources? 

  

Resource levels are identified within the annual planning process to establish work plans. 

4.8 Has the Audit Committee evaluated whether its Internal Audit service complies 
with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards? 

  

Review included as part of the annual audit opinion report in June cycle which was approved by 
Members. 

Internal self-assessment completed and monitoring of any actions required. 

External accreditation planned for March 2018. 

177



AUDIT COMMITTEE: ASSESSMENT OF EFFECTIVENESS 2018 

 
 Issue / Evidence / Suggested Improvement Yes No 

 

 

4.9 Are Internal Audit performance measures monitored by committee?   

Reported as part of the annual audit opinion. 

However, these will look to be reviewed as part of accreditation process 

4.10 Has the Audit Committee considered the information it wishes to receive from 
Internal Audit? 

  

A standard work programme is in place based on known requirements to meet statutory needs for all 
aspects which are delivered through the committee.  

Consideration will be given into regular reports being provided to the committee in relation to information 
governance. 

5…EXTERNAL AUDIT 

5.1 Do the external auditors present and discuss their audit plans and strategy with 
the Audit Committee (recognising the statutory duties of external audit)? 

  

Annual report at same time as Internal Audit 

5.2 Does the Audit Committee hold periodic private discussions with the external 
auditor? 

  

See 4.5 

5.3 Does the Audit Committee review the external auditor's annual report to those 
charged with governance? 

  

Annual report on the work programme 

5.4 Does the Audit Committee ensure that officers are monitoring action taken to 
implement external audit recommendations? 

  

Regular progress reports are produced 

5.5 Are reports on the work of external audit and other inspection agencies 
presented to the committee, including the Audit Commission's annual audit and 
inspection letter? 

  

Only external audit reports are referred to Audit Committee 

5.6 Does the Audit Committee assess the performance of external audit?   

All reports reviewed in line with the committee work programme. 

Consultation was in place for the appointment of new auditors through the PSAA contracts. 

5.7 Does the Audit Committee consider / approve the external audit fee?   

Considered by Cabinet and endorsed by Audit Committee  

6…ADMINISTRATION 

6.1 AGENDA MANAGEMENT 

6.1.1 Does the Audit Committee have a designated secretary from Committee / Member 
Services? 

  

Audit Committee is a formal committee with representation from Democratic Services 

6.1.2 Are agenda papers circulated in advance of meetings to allow adequate 
preparation by Audit Committee members? 

  

Papers issued in accordance with council requirements 

178



AUDIT COMMITTEE: ASSESSMENT OF EFFECTIVENESS 2018 

 
 Issue / Evidence / Suggested Improvement Yes No 

 

 

6.1.3 Are outline agendas planned one year ahead to cover issues on a cyclical basis?   

Work programme established which maps business needs 

6.1.4 Are inputs for Any Other Business formally requested in advance from committee 
members, relevant officers, internal and external audit? 

  

Not a standard agenda item. 

However, Members are encouraged to provide information at the meeting which can be considered in 
future by Audit Committee, or referred to the appropriate committee. This also includes the need for future 
training 

6.2 PAPERS 

6.2.1 Do reports to the Audit Committee communicate relevant information at the right 
frequency, time, and in a format that is effective? 

  

Standard report format 

6.2.2 Does the Audit Committee issue guidelines and / or a proforma concerning the 
format and content of the papers to be presented? 

  

Standard committee template utilised 

6.3 ACTIONS ARISING 

6.3.1 Are minutes prepared and circulated promptly to the appropriate people?   

Circulated following meeting and agreed at next 

6.3.2 Is a report on matters arising made and minuted at the Audit Committee's next 
meeting? 

  

Standard item on the agenda which highlights actions made and how they have been resolved  

6.3.3 Do action points indicate who is to perform what and by when?   

As 6.3.2 

 

 

 

 

 
Steve Crabtree 

Chief Internal Auditor 
14 February 2018 

179



This page is intentionally left blank

180



AUDIT COMMITTEE: CIPFA KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES 

 
Knowledge Area 
Details of Core Knowledge Required 

How the Audit Committee is able to apply the knowledge Reporting / Training Activities Dates 

 

  APPENDIX C 
 

ORGANISATIONAL KNOWLEDGE 

An overview of the governance 
structures of the authority and decision-
making processes 

This knowledge will be core to most activities of the audit 
committee including review of the Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS), internal and external reports and risk 
registers. 

Ongoing member development through 
committee briefings. Audit Committee 
Handbook provision 

Ongoing 

Ongoing – annual 
reviews 

Knowledge of the organisational 
objectives and major functions of the 
authority 

 Statement of Accounts; 

Annual Governance Statement;  and 

Local Code of Governance. 

June 2017 

Sept 2017 

AUDIT COMMITTEE ROLE AND FUNCTIONS 

An understanding of the audit 
committee’s role and place within the 
governance structures 

This knowledge will enable the audit committee to prioritise 
its work in order to ensure it discharges its responsibilities 
under its terms of reference and to avoid overlapping the 
work of others 

Audit Committee Handbook Ongoing 

Familiarity with the committee’s terms of 
reference and accountability 
arrangements 

 Audit Committee Annual report March committee 
cycle 

Knowledge of the purpose and role of the 
audit committee 

The committee will plan the assurances it is to receive in 
order to adequately support the AGS 

Statement of Accounts 

Annual Governance Statement 

Local Code of Governance 

Audit Committee Handbook 

Annual Audit Opinion 

Annual Investigations Report 

June 2017 

 

September 2017 

181



AUDIT COMMITTEE: CIPFA KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES 

 
Knowledge Area 
Details of Core Knowledge Required 

How the Audit Committee is able to apply the knowledge Reporting / Training Activities Dates 

 

 

Governance Knowledge of the six 
principles of the CIPFA / SOLACE Good 
Governance Framework and the 
requirements of the AGS 

The committee will review the AGS and consider how the 
authority is meeting the principles of good governance 

AGS report to Committee 

 

 

June 2017 

Knowledge of the Local Code of 
Governance 

The committee will review the AGS and consider how the 
authority is meeting the principles of good governance 

Local Code of Corporate Governance June 2017 

INTERNAL AUDIT 

An awareness of the key principles of the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

The committee has oversight of the internal audit function 
and will monitor its adherence to professional internal audit 
standards 

Internal Audit Charter 

Internal Audit Strategy 

Internal Audit Plans 

Annually, March 
committee cycle 

Knowledge of the arrangements for 
delivering  

The committee will review the assurances from internal audit 
work and will review the risk based audit plan. The 
committee will also receive the annual report, including an 
opinion and information on conformance with professional 
standards 

Audit updates to committee (½  year 
progress report 

 

Annual Audit Opinion report 

Ongoing 

 In relying on the work of Internal Audit, the committee will 
need to be confident that professional standards are being 
followed 

Review of effectiveness report June 2017 

FINANCIAL MONITORING AND ACCOUNTING 

Awareness of the financial statements 
that a local authority must produce and 
the principles it must follow to produce 
them 

Reviewing the financial statements prior to publication, 
asking questions 

Statement of Accounts  June 2017 

September 2017 

182



AUDIT COMMITTEE: CIPFA KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES 

 
Knowledge Area 
Details of Core Knowledge Required 

How the Audit Committee is able to apply the knowledge Reporting / Training Activities Dates 

 

 

Understanding of good financial 
management principles 

Reviewing the External Audit report and opinion on the 
financial audit 

Reviewing both Internal and External Audit recommendations 
relating to financial management and controls. 

Audit outcome and management responses 
to the Annual Audit Letter 

June 2017 

 

September 2017 

 

Knowledge of how the organisation 
meets the requirement of the role of the 
chief financial officer, as required by the 
CIPFA Statement on the Role of the 
Chief Financial Officer in Local 
Government 

Committee should consider role of the Chief Financial Officer 
and how this is met when reviewing the AGS 

Draft AGS 2016 / 2017 June 2017 

EXTERNAL AUDIT 

Knowledge of the role and functions of 
the external auditor and who currently 
undertakes this role 

The committee should meet with the External Auditor 
regularly and receive their reports and opinions. 

Based on committee timetables Ongoing 

Knowledge of the key reports and 
assurances that external audit will 
provide 

Monitoring External Audit recommendations and maximising 
benefits from audit process 

Based on committee timetables Ongoing 

Knowledge about arrangements for the 
appointment of auditors and quality 
monitoring undertaken 

The committee should monitor the relationship between the 
External Auditor and the authority and support the delivery of 
an effective service. 

Based on committee timetables Ongoing 

183



AUDIT COMMITTEE: CIPFA KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES 

 
Knowledge Area 
Details of Core Knowledge Required 

How the Audit Committee is able to apply the knowledge Reporting / Training Activities Dates 

 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

Understanding of the principles of risk 
management, including linkage to good 
governance and decision making 

In reviewing the AGS, the committee will consider the 
robustness of the authority’s risk management arrangements 
and should also have awareness of the major risks the 
authority faces 

Annual Governance Statement 

Strategic Risk Register analysis reports 

March 2017 

June 2017 

November 2017 

Knowledge of the risk management 
policy and strategy of the organisation 

Keeping up to date with the risk profile is necessary to 
support the review of a number of audit committee agenda 
items, including the risk based audit plans and the 
explanatory foreword of the accounts 

6 monthly strategic risks update March 2017 

November 2017 

Understanding of risk governance 
arrangements, including the role of 
members and of the audit committee 

Typically risk registers will be used to inform the committee 

The committee should also review reports and action plans 
to develop the application of risk management practice 

6 monthly strategic risks update 

Annual review of Risk Strategy 

March 2017 

November 2017 

COUNTER FRAUD 

An understanding of the main areas of 
fraud risk the organisation is exposed to. 

 

Knowledge of the principles of good 
fraud risk management practice 

Knowledge of fraud risks and good fraud risk management 
practice will be helpful when the committee reviews the 
organisation’s fraud strategy and receives reports on the 
effectiveness of that strategy 

Annual Audit Opinion 

Annual Investigations report 

Fraud Strategy 

Anti-Fraud policies 

June 2017 

 

March 2018 

Knowledge of the organisations 
arrangements for tacking fraud 

An assessment of arrangements should support the AGS 
and knowledge of good fraud risk management practice will 
support the Committee members in reviewing the 
assessment 

Annual Audit Opinion 

 

June 2017 

 

 

184



AUDIT COMMITTEE: CIPFA KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES 

 
Knowledge Area 
Details of Core Knowledge Required 

How the Audit Committee is able to apply the knowledge Reporting / Training Activities Dates 

 

 

VALUES OF GOOD GOVERNANCE 

Knowledge of the seven principles of 
public life 

The committee members will draw on this knowledge when 
reviewing governance issues and the AGS 

Audit Committee Handbook 

Member Code of Conduct 

Ongoing 

Knowledge of the authority’s key 
arrangements to uphold ethical 
standards for both members and staff 

 

Oversight of the effectiveness of whistleblowing will be 
considered as part of the AGS 

Annual Audit Opinion 

Annual Investigations report 

Anti-Fraud policies 

June 2017 

 

 

 

Knowledge of the whistleblowing 
arrangements in the authority 

Committee member should know to whom concerns should 
be reported 

Whistleblowing policy March 2018 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

“Effective scrutiny of treasury 
management” is an assessment tool for 
reviewing the arrangements for 
undertaking scrutiny of treasury 
management. The key knowledge areas 
identified are: 

 Regulatory requirements 

 Treasury risks 

 The organisations treasury 
management strategy 

 The organisations policies and 
procedures in relation to 
treasury management  

Core knowledge on treasury management is essential for the 
committee undertaking the role of scrutiny  

Policy / Strategy 

Report reports 

September 2017 

 

February 2018 

185



AUDIT COMMITTEE: CIPFA KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES 

 
Knowledge Area 
Details of Core Knowledge Required 

How the Audit Committee is able to apply the knowledge Reporting / Training Activities Dates 

 

Core Skills for Audit Committee Members 

 

Strategic thinking and understanding of materiality 

Able to focus on material issues and overall position, rather than being 
side-tracked by detail 

When reviewing audit reports, findings will include areas of higher risk or materiality to the 
organisation, but may also contain more minor errors or control failures. The Committee member 
will need pitch its review at an appropriate level to avoid spending too much time on detail. 

Questioning and constructive challenge 

Able to frame questions that draw out relevant facts and explanations. 
Challenging performance and seeking explanations while avoiding hostility 
or grandstanding 

The Committee will review reports and recommendations to address weaknesses in internal 
control. The Committee member will seek to understand the reasons for weaknesses and ensure 
a solution is found. 

 

Focus on improvement 

Ensuring there is a clear plan of action and allocation of responsibility. 

The outcome of the Committee will be to secure improvements to the governance, risk 
management or control of the organisation, including clearly defined actions and responsibilities. 
Where errors or control failures have occurred, then the Committee should seek assurances that 
appropriate action has been taken. 

Able to balance practicality against theory 

Able to understand the practical implications of recommendations to 
understand how they might work in practice. 

The Committee should seek assurances that planned actions are practical and realistic. 

 

Clear communication skills and focus on the needs of users 

Support the use of plain English in communications, avoiding jargon, 
acronyms, etc. 

The Committee will seek to ensure that external documents such as the AGS and the 
explanatory foreword to the Accounts are well written for a non-expert audience. 

 

Objectivity 

Evaluate information on the basis of evidence presented and avoiding bias 
or subjectivity. 

The Committee will receive assurance reports and review risk registers. There may be 
differences of opinion about the significance of risk and the appropriate control responses and 
the committee member will need to weigh up differing views. 

Meeting management skills 

Chair the meetings effectively: summarise issues raised, ensure all 
participants are able to contribute, focus on the outcome and actions from 
the meeting. 

These skills are essential for the Committee Chair to help ensure that meetings stay on track and 
address the items on the agenda.  The skills are desirable for all other members. 

 

 

186



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 11

26 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Marion Kelly - Interim Corporate Director Resources

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Seaton Cabinet Member for Resources

Contact Officer(s): Steve Crabtree, Chief Internal Auditor Tel: 384557

COUNTER FRAUD POLICIES

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM:  Steve Crabtree, Chief Internal Auditor Deadline date: N/A

  It is recommended that Audit Committee:

1. Consider and approve the updated counter fraud policies (Appendices A - E); and
2. Note national studies produced in relation to fraud and corruption in local government 

(Appendices F - G).

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Audit Committee as a routine planned report on the 
development of the role and service delivery of investigations.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The Council provides a raft of services to the public from its scarce resources. Every effort 
is made to ensure that the resources are used for their intended purpose. However, there 
are occasions when this may not always be the case and the Council needs to have 
appropriate mechanisms to protect the public purse. This report sets out the Councils 
approach to tackling fraud and corruption. 

2.2 This report is for Audit Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 2.2.1.13 

“To monitor Council policies on “raising concerns at work” and the anti-fraud and anti-
corruption strategy and the Councils complaints process”.

Members of the Audit Committee have a responsibility to oversee how fraud and corruption 
is managed, mitigated and investigated. The following background report and assorted 
attachments set how the Council is being proactive to tackle this agenda and also to 
empower Members to challenge and support this approach. 

187



3. TIMESCALES

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

N/A

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 INTRODUCTION

4.1.1 The Council’s approach to tackling fraud and corruption is underpinned by a range of 
policies and procedures which set out ways in which concerns can be raised, investigated 
and reported and appropriate action taken. This report provides members with the following 
updated policies for approval:

● Anti Fraud and Corruption Strategy and Policy;
● Money Laundering Policy;
● Sanction and Prosecution Policy (Blue Badge and Car Park Permits); and
● Sanction and Prosecution Policy (Council Tax and Business Rates).

4.2 CORPORATE POLICIES

4.2.1 It is important that the Council has policies and procedures in place which are fit for purpose 
and are effective in preventing, detecting and investigating fraud where it occurs. Staff, 
agency workers and Members need to be made aware of, be able to understand and comply 
with the policies and procedures which comprise the Council’s counter fraud framework. 
Staff agency workers, Members and citizens must have confidence in the reporting 
arrangements and subsequent investigation of concerns which can be reported via the 
various channels available.

4.2.2 The review of the policies and procedures was identified as being a key aspect of the 
governance requirements for audit committees as set out by CIPFA in their publication on 
the Role of the Head of Internal Audit. A review of the existing policies has been undertaken 
and being presented to Audit Committee for approval. All of the policies are presented in 
the appendices to this report for approval and are summarised as:

4.2.3 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy (Appendix A)

We will look to develop a comprehensive understanding of fraud losses and the causes of 
such losses across the whole of the Council and to understand the fraud risks faced by the 
Council in order to enhance the effectiveness of our work. This will involve building on the 
risk management process already in place and those identified fraud risks, determining the 
effectiveness of internal controls that impact upon fraud risks, classifying the risks and 
developing mitigation plans for those risks considered a significant threat. This is an ongoing 
process with input from fraud incidents and industry trends and fraud risk assessment would 
therefore be performed on a regular basis.

In summary, the strategic approach to countering fraud will include:
 

● Promoting a counter-fraud fraud culture and engaging employees, members and 
contractors in combating fraud and error;

● Investigating and reporting on identified fraud, error and debt, seeking appropriate 
sanctions and redress where fraud is proven;

● Assessing fraud risk, identifying the areas most vulnerable to fraud and assisting 
management to develop effective counter fraud controls; and

● Sharing good practice and developing effective internal and external relationships 

188



to combat fraud.

We will continue the work on detection, investigation and prosecution of fraud. Proactive 
exercises will be considered on the following areas which have been identified as the key 
fraud risks facing local authorities (but not reported in order of risk), including:

● No recourse to public funds;
● Local Council Tax Support;
● Single person discount;
● Business rates;
● Procurement;
● Blue badge misuse; and
● Payroll and recruitment

Further analysis is set out in national studies reported in Appendices F and G.

4.2.4 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy (Appendix B)

This confirms that the Council is an ethical organisation in which a corporate culture exists 
with a zero tolerance attitude to fraud. There is an expectation that all incidents of fraud will 
be reported and investigated in accordance with established investigation procedures. 
Where fraud is proven, the Council is committed to pursuing all available sanctions and 
recovering assets obtained through fraud. 

4.2.5 Anti-Money Laundering Policy (Appendix C)

The Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the 
Payer) Regulations 2017 (MLR 2017) came into force in June 2017 and, for offences 
committed after 26 June 2017, replace the Money Laundering Regulations 2007.
 
The MLR 2017 and the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (‘POCA’) impact on certain areas of 
local authority business and require local authorities to establish internal procedures to 
prevent the use of their services for money laundering. This policy sets out the actions 
officers who deal with transactions where the potential for money laundering exists.

4.2.6 Sanction and Prosecution Policies (Appendix D, Appendix E)

Two policies reaffirm the Councils’ approach to dealing with possible blue badge and 
parking permit abuse as well as fraudulent claims in relation to Council Tax and Business 
Rates.

4.2.7 National Studies and Future Actions

Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally is a strategy for English local authorities that is the 
result of collaboration by local authorities and key stakeholders from across the counter 
fraud landscape. The key principles developed in fighting fraud are set out in our strategy 
(Appendix A) with reference to acknowledge, prevent and pursue. Building on this there 
are six key themes:

● Culture - creating a culture in which beating fraud and corruption is part of the daily 
business

● Capability - ensuring that the range of counter fraud measures deployed is 
appropriate to the range of fraud risks

● Capacity - deploying the right level of resources to deal with the level of fraud risk
● Competence - having the right skills and standards
● Communication - raising awareness, deterring fraudsters, sharing information, 

celebrating successes

189



● Collaboration -working together across internal and external boundaries; with 
colleagues, with other local authorities, and with other agencies; sharing resources, 
skills and learning, good practice and innovation, and information.

Appendix F provides details of Fighting Fraud checklist. Further information in relation to 
this can be found at:

http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre 

For information, Appendix G provides Members with an overview of national studies which 
have been undertaken by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) in to the extent of fraud within local government. A number of areas are covered 
within our current exercises but we will look at expanded in to other areas – although a 
number already are picked up through the bi-annual National Fraud Initiative.

Following the approval of the policies by the Committee, the revised documents will be 
communicated to all staff, agency workers and Members. In addition, we will look to work 
with colleagues in Human Resources to develop e-learning material and officers will be 
reminded to refresh their awareness when the updated policies are communicated.

Member and employee awareness of the policies and procedures will also be raised via 
articles on the Council’s intranet. All will be encouraged through a number of channels to 
complete the awareness training. Publicity will also include the channels available for 
reporting concerns relating to fraud or malpractice. Contractors and agents will be made 
aware of the Council’s policies through the relevant procurement and contractual 
documentation.

A detailed Action Plan will be provided to the next Audit Committee in July 2018.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 Consultation during the drafting of the documents has been through the Interim Director 
Law and Governance, Interim Corporate Director Resources and the Service Director 
Financial Services. 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 Updated corporate policies will be conveyed to all Members and employees to raise 
awareness and provide best practice.

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 Peterborough is subject to providing services with finite resources. The revised policies 
provide a clear steer on how the authority will look to reduce the abuse of, and fraudulent 
access to those resources. 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 The authority could do nothing but this would not be the best use of scarce resources. The 
policies provide a platform for better monitoring and detection of fraud and corruption.

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 This report does not give rise to any additional capital or revenue financial implications. 
Actions to communicate the policies and to ensure compliance will be undertaken within the 

190

http://www.cipfa.org/services/counter-fraud-centre


existing budgets.

Legal Implications

9.2 There are no legal implications.

Equalities Implications

9.3 Not applicable

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 None.

11. APPENDICES

A: Anti- Fraud and Corruption Strategy
B: Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy
C: Anti-Money Laundering Policy
D: Sanction and Prosecution Policy: Blue Badges and Parking Permits
E: Sanction and Prosecution Policy: Council Tax and Business Rates
F: CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre: Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 
G: CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre: Fraud and Corruption Tracker (Summary Report 2017)

191



This page is intentionally left blank

192



APPENDIX A 

 

 

Introduction 

 

Peterborough City Council (PCC) is forecast to spend £146.89m in 2018 / 2019. 
 
The Council both commissions and provides a wide range of services to individuals and 
households, working with a range of many other private and public and voluntary sector 
organisations. 
 
The size and nature of our services, as with any other large organisation, mean that there is 
an ever-present risk of loss due to fraud and corruption, from sources both internal and 
external. 
 

The Council takes a responsible, long term view of the need to continuously develop anti-

fraud initiatives and maintain its culture of anti-fraud awareness. 

 

Mission Statement 

 

To create a culture and organisational framework – through a series of comprehensive 

and inter-related procedures and controls – which maximises the deterrence of fraud, 

minimises the incidence & impact of fraud against the Council, and ensures, through 

professional investigation, effective outcomes including sanctions and redress against 

those who defraud the Council.  

 

Purpose 

 

The purpose of this document is to set a strategy for taking forward counter fraud and 

corruption work within the Council over the next three years. Whilst the catch-all term ‘anti-

fraud’ is used in the document, the strategy also covers anti-theft and anti-corruption 

measures, including bribery. 

 

Fraud against Local Government nationally is estimated to cost £2.1 billion per year. This is a 

significant loss to the public purse. To reduce these losses PCC is committed to: 

 

 The highest standards of probity in the delivery of its services, ensuring proper 
stewardship of its funds and assets; 

 The prevention of fraud and the promotion of an anti-fraud culture; 

 A zero-tolerance attitude to fraud requiring staff and Members to act honestly 
and with integrity at all times and to report all suspicions of fraud; 

 The investigation of all instances of actual, attempted or suspected fraud. PCC 
will seek to recover any losses and pursue appropriate sanctions against the 
perpetrators – whether criminal prosecution, disciplinary action, legal 
proceedings or professional sanctions.  

 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption 

Strategy 

193



APPENDIX A 

 The Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally Strategy national counter fraud and 
corruption strategy provides a blueprint for a tougher response perpetrated 
against local authorities.  

 

These objectives will be achieved by ongoing revision and implementation of a plan of action 

based on a self-assessment against the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of 

Fraud and Corruption1 (the “Standards”). In the TEICCAF2 publication, “Protecting the English 

Public Purse 2015”, it encourages all public bodies, including local authorities, to assess 

themselves against this Code. This is a voluntary code that can be applied in any public service 

organisation and has five principles: 

 

 Acknowledge responsibility  

 Identify risks  

 Develop a strategy  

 Provide resources  

 Take action  

 

Annex 1 outlines each of the “Standards” and the specific actions required to ensure 

compliance. Additionally, several other actions have been identified, over and above the 

CIPFA requirements, which will strengthen arrangements.  

 

The Council expects all Councillors, employees, consultants, contractors and service users to 

be honest, and to provide any information, help and support we need to prevent and detect 

fraud and corruption. 

 

This Strategy ensures resources are correctly applied in the provision of high quality services 

and initiatives that deliver the corporate priorities. 
  

What is fraud and corruption? 

 

Fraud 

 

The Fraud Act 2006 came into force on 15th January 2007. The Act repeals the deception 

offences enshrined in the 1968 and 1978 Theft Acts and replaces them with a single offence 

of fraud which can be committed in three separate ways: - 

 

 False representation. Examples include providing false information on a grant 
or Blue Badge application, staff claiming to be sick when they are in fact fit and 
well, or submitting timesheets or expenses with exaggerated or entirely false 
hours and / or expenses.  

 Failure to disclose information where there is a legal duty to do so. 
Examples include failing to disclose a financial interest in a company PCC is 
trading with, or failing to disclose a personal relationship with someone who is 
applying for a job at PCC. 

 Abuse of position. Examples include a care who steals money from the 
person they are caring for, or staff who order goods and services through PCC’s 
accounts for their own use. 

 

                                                           
1 CIPFA: Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
2 TEICCAF: The European Institute for Combating Corruption and Fraud 

194



APPENDIX A 

The Act also created four new offences of:- 

 

 Possession of articles for use in fraud. 

 Making or supplying articles for use in fraud. 

 Obtaining services dishonestly. 

 Participating in fraudulent business. 
 

CIPFA defines fraud as "the intentional distortion of financial statements or other records by 

persons internal or external to the organisation which is carried out to conceal the 

misappropriation of assets or otherwise for gain." 

 

While fraud is often seen as a complex financial crime, in its simplest form, fraud is lying.  

 

Theft 

 

Theft is defined in the 1968 Theft Act:- 

 

‘A person shall be guilty of theft if he dishonestly appropriates property belonging 

to another with the intention of permanently depriving the other of it’. 

 

Corruption 

 

The Council defines the term "corruption" as:- 

 

“The offering, giving, soliciting or accepting of any inducement or reward which 

would influence the actions taken by the body, its members or officers.” 

 

Bribery 

 

A bribe is: 

 

‘’A financial or other advantage that is offered or requested with the intention of 

inducing or rewarding the improper performance of a relevant function or activity, 

or with the knowledge or belief that the acceptance of such an advantage would 

constitute the improper performance of such a function or activity’’ [CIPFA]. 

 

The Bribery Act replaces the common law offences of offering or accepting a bribe with two 

statutory offences (S1 and S2). The Act also creates two further offences: namely that of 

bribing or attempting to bribe a foreign official (S6) and being a commercial organisation failing 

to prevent bribery (S7). An S7 offence can only be committed by a commercial organisation. 

 

The ‘Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916’ are repealed in their entirety. Wider offences are created 

by the 2010 Act which render the more specific offences created by the old Acts otiose. Other 

statutes less relevant to Local Authorities have been repealed or amended by the 2010 Act 

and a full list is in one of the schedules of the Acts. 

 

Furthermore, Corporate Criminal Offences legislation is in place from 30 September 2017 

which provides further guidance which is expected to be followed by all sectors. 

 

Money Laundering 

 

195



APPENDIX A 

Money laundering is the process by which criminals attempt to 'recycle' the proceeds of their 

criminal activities in order to conceal its origins and ownership and which leaves them with 

money that cannot be traced back.   

 

All employees are instructed be aware of the increasing possibility of receiving requests that 

could be used for money laundering and illicit requests for money through e-mails. 

 

Roles and Responsibilities 

 

All employees, its partners, suppliers, contractors and elected Members have a duty to report 

any fraudulent, or perceived fraudulent activity which may impact on the Council financially 

and / or reputationally. 

 

A full list of roles and responsibilities are set out in Annex 2. 

 

Taking Action and Supporting Policies 

 

CIPFA's Code of Practice on managing risk of fraud and corruption covers governance and 

operational arrangements. The Council will continue to review its counter fraud arrangements 

and align its approach to the best practice advice in the code.   

 

The Council aims to reduce fraud and corruption to an absolute minimum through a strategic 

approach consistent with that outlined in the Local Government Fraud Strategy ‘Fighting Fraud 

Locally’. The three key themes of this approach are Acknowledge, Prevent and Pursue:-   

  

 
  
How will we acknowledge and recognise fraud and corruption / the risk of fraud and 

corruption?   

 

Accessing and understanding the fraud risks:  

 

 The ongoing development of this strategy will be informed through gaining a 
clear understanding of the threat, emerging risks, trends and the savings that 
can be achieved by investing in countering fraud and corruption. 

 This will focus on greater use of technology and interrogation of data to assess 
vulnerability and proactively target higher risk areas. 

196



APPENDIX A 

 We will also be focusing on raising staffs awareness of the risks of fraud and 
corruption and what they can do to prevent or identify it.   

 

Committing support to tackling fraud and corruption:   

 

 We will continue to work in partnership with other Councils we share services 
with to investigate allegations of fraud and corruption.  

 

Maintaining a robust Anti-fraud response: 

 

 Whistleblowing remains the most common way that fraud and corruption is 
detected in large organisations. The Council will raise awareness and 
continually promote its whistle blowing policy, and other associated policies and 
procedures ensuring all reports of suspected fraud or corruption are treated 
seriously and acted upon. Thereby developing a robust and proportionate 
response to counter any threats.  

 

How will we prevent fraud and corruption? 

 

Enhancing fraud and corruption controls and processes   

 

 The best way to fight fraud and corruption is to prevent it happening in the first 
place. The Council will continually work towards realigning counter fraud 
resources away from enforcement towards prevention; ultimately, aiming to 
deter all would be offenders. 

 An effective internal control framework covering all the Council’s systems both 
financial and non-financial is essential in the fight against fraud and corruption. 
The governance and risk management arrangements form an integral part of 
this arrangement and we will look to develop a fraud risk register. 

 Preventative measures will be supported by the ongoing assessment of those 
areas most vulnerable to the risk of fraud and corruption, in conjunction with 
risk management arrangements and risk based audit reviews. The annual 
publication ‘Protecting the Public Purse’ provides details of the key fraud risks 
faced by local government. The Council will undertake a review of the high risk 
areas identified in the publication.   

 

Making better use of technology   

 

 A key feature in the drive towards preventing fraud and corruption at the outset 
will be the ongoing use and development of information sharing as well as 
better use of data to verify and validate transactions. 

 The sheer diversity of the services the Council and its partners provide and the 
multiplicity of systems used to manage them generate huge volumes of records 
and data. The Council will continue to reengineer its fraud detection processes 
by comparing data from a variety of its systems, as well as, partners systems 
to identify anomalies, improve information sharing across services and inform 
the risk management process. 

 We will continue to participate in the bi-annual National Fraud Initiative data 
matching exercise. We will also carry out proactive exercises in key areas 
susceptible to fraud by developing the use of data analytics. 

 

Anti-fraud culture  

 

197



APPENDIX A 

 The Council is resolute that the culture and tone of the authority is one of 
honesty with zero tolerance towards fraud and corruption, this is already 
demonstrated through its codes of conduct for employees and members. The 
right organisational culture will be continually reinforced by:   

 

 Raising awareness of fraud with new and existing employees by 
developing online interactive fraud training modules for all. 

 Publicising the results of all proactive work, sanctions and recovery of 
losses due to fraud and corruption increase and maintain the general 
public awareness of the facilities available to report concerns about 
fraud and corruption.   

 

How will we pursue fraud and corruption?   

 

Prioritising fraud recovery and the use of civil sanctions   

 

 Fraud must not pay, where fraud or corruption is discovered the full range of 
sanctions will be deployed, including civil, disciplinary and criminal action. 
Every effort will be made to recoup losses.   

 

Maintaining capability to punish fraudsters   

 

 Criminal prosecutions deter offenders and reinforce a culture of zero tolerance 
towards fraud. Successful prosecutions require cases to be professionally 
investigated ensuring all evidence is collected within the law. Investigative staff 
are adequately trained with the appropriate skills and access to specialist 
resources to secure effective prosecutions. 

 

Collaborating across local authorities, other organisations and with law enforcement   

 

 Organised fraud has no respect for boundaries and can cross a range of 
organisations and services. Effective cooperation and joint working between 
local authorities and with other agencies including the Police will be essential 
in the ongoing development of the Council’s strategic response.  

 

All Counter Fraud work will be undertaken in accordance with our policies (Annex 3), which 

will be regularly refreshed. 

 

Reporting, Advice and Support 

 

The Council’s expectation is that Councillors and managers will lead by example and that 

employees at all levels will comply with the Council Policies, Financial Regulations, Contract 

Rules and any Departmental Procedures.   

 

The Council recognises that the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection 

of fraud rests with management. It is essential that employees of the Council report any 

irregularities, or suspected irregularities to the senior management in line with corporate 

policies. The Council will provide all reasonable protection for those who raise genuine 

concerns in good faith, in accordance with Grievances and Whistleblowing policies.  

 

198



APPENDIX A 

The officer who receives the allegation (whether from a Councillor or a Council employee) 

must refer the matter to the following people, to determine how the potential irregularity will be 

investigated:   

 

 Chief Executive; 

 Director of Governance; 

 Section 151 Officer; 

 Chief Internal Auditor 
 

Where appropriate, the Monitoring Officer should inform the Leader and relevant portfolio 

holder where the irregularity is material and / or could affect the reputation of the Council.  

 

The Investigating Officer will follow the appropriate guidelines which includes the need to: 

 

 Deal promptly with the matter 

 Record all evidence received 

 Ensure that evidence is sound and adequately supported 

 Ensure security of all evidence collected 

 Contact other agencies if necessary e.g. Police 

 Notify the Council’s insurers (if appropriate) 

 Implement Council disciplinary procedures where appropriate.   
 

All reported fraud and outcome of investigations is summarised in the Annual investigations 

report submitted to Audit Committee.  

 

The Council will also work in co-operation with the following bodies that will assist in 

scrutinising our systems and defences against fraud and corruption:  

 

 Local Government Ombudsman 

 External Audit 

 Cabinet Office for the National Fraud Initiative 

 HM Revenue and Customs 

 UK Border Agency 

 Department for Work and Pensions 

 Police  
 

The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) published a revised 

Transparency Code in February 2015. The Code sets out key principles for local authorities 

in creating greater transparency through the publication of public data. The Government 

believes that local people are interested in how their authority tackles fraud and have 

introduced a mandatory requirement in respect of fraud data. Information on our counter fraud 

work is published on the Councils website annually to meet the requirements.   
 

We rely on the local community to help us detect fraud. This can be reported by calling the 

fraud hotline 01733 452250 or email fraud@peterborough.gov.uk.  

 

Review and Assessment / Quality Assurance 

 

The strategy will be reviewed annually. The outcomes from counter fraud work will be 

periodically reported to Members of the Audit Committee and outcomes assessed to evaluate 

199



APPENDIX A 

success of the strategy. Periodically, the Counter Fraud Team procedures will be assessed 

against best practice as set out in CIPFA’s “Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption”. 

 

Further Information 

 

Further information on Council policy can be found in the following documents:   

 

 Codes of Conduct (Councillors and Officers); 

 Whistleblowing Policy; 

 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy; 

 Anti-Bribery Policy; 

 Money Laundering Policy; 

 Financial Regulations; 

 Contract Procedure Rules;  

 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA).   
 

 

 

 

 
 

Responsible Officer: Chief Internal Auditor 

Date: February 2018  

 

 

Version Control 1.03 

 

  

200



APPENDIX A 

Annex 1 

Standards 
 

A ACKNOWLEDGE RESPONSIBILITY 

A1 The organisation’s leadership team acknowledge the threats of fraud and corruption 
and the harm they can cause to the organisation, its aims and objectives and to its 
service users.  
 

A2 The organisation’s leadership team acknowledge the importance of a culture that is 
resilient to the threats of fraud and corruption and aligns to the principles of good 
governance.  
 

A3 The governing body acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring the management of 
its fraud and corruption risks and will be accountable for the actions it takes through 
its governance reports.  
 

A4 The governing body sets a specific goal of ensuring and maintaining its resilience to 
fraud and corruption and explores opportunities for financial savings from enhanced 
fraud detection and prevention. 
 

A5 The organisation’s leadership team acknowledge the threats of fraud and corruption 
and the harm they can cause to the organisation, its aims and objectives and to its 
service users.  
 

B IDENTIFY RISKS 

B1  Fraud risks are routinely considered as part of the organisation’s risk management 
arrangements. 
 

B2 The organisation identifies the risks of corruption and the importance of behaving 
with integrity in its governance framework.  
 

B3 The organisation uses published estimates of fraud loss, and where appropriate its 
own measurement exercises, to aid its evaluation of fraud risk exposures.  
 

B4 The organisation evaluates the harm to its aims and objectives and service users 
that different fraud risks can cause. 
  

  

201



APPENDIX A 

C DEVELOP A STRATEGY 

C1 The governing body formally adopts a counter fraud and corruption strategy to 
address the identified risks and align with the organisation’s acknowledged 
responsibilities and goals.  
 

C2 The strategy includes the organisation’s use of joint working or partnership 
approaches to managing its risks, where appropriate. 
  

C3 The strategy includes both proactive and responsive approaches that are best 
suited to the organisation’s fraud and corruption risks. Proactive and responsive 
components of a good practice response to fraud risk management are set out 
below.  
 
Proactive  

- Developing a counter-fraud culture to increase resilience to fraud 
- Preventing fraud through the implementation of appropriate and robust 

internal controls and security measures 
- Using techniques such as data matching to validate data 
- Deterring fraud attempts by publicising the organisations anti-fraud and 

corruption stance and the actions it takes against fraudsters 
Responsive  

- Detecting fraud through data and intelligence analysis 
- Implementing effective whistleblowing arrangements 
- Investigating fraud referrals 
- Applying sanctions, including internal disciplinary, regulatory and criminal 
- Seeking redress, including the recovery of assets and money where 

possible 
 

C4 The strategy includes clear identification of responsibility and accountability for 
delivery of the strategy and for providing oversight.  
 

D PROVIDE RESOURCES 

D1 An annual assessment of whether the level of resource invested to counter fraud 
and corruption is proportionate for the level of risk.  
 

D2 The organisation utilises an appropriate mix of experienced and skilled staff, 
including access to counter fraud staff with professional accreditation.  
 

D3 The organisation grants counter fraud staff unhindered access to its employees, 
information and other resources as required for investigation purposes.  
 

D4 The organisation has protocols in place to facilitate joint working and data and 
intelligence sharing to support counter fraud activity. 
 

  

202



APPENDIX A 

E TAKE ACTION 

E1 The organisation has put in place a policy framework which supports the 
implementation of the counter fraud strategy. As a minimum the framework 
includes:   

 Counter fraud policy / Whistleblowing policy / Anti-money Laundering Policy 

 Anti-bribery and corruption policy / Gifts and hospitality policy and register 

 Pecuniary interest and conflicts of interest policies and register / Codes of 
conduct and ethics 

 Information security policy / Cyber security policy 
 

E2 Plans and operations are aligned to the strategy and contribute to the achievement 
of the organisation’s overall goal of maintaining resilience to fraud and corruption.  
 

E3 Making effective use of national or sectoral initiatives to detect fraud or prevent 
fraud, such as data matching or intelligence sharing.  
 

E4 Providing for independent assurance over fraud risk management, strategy and 
activities. 
 

E5 There is a report to the governing body at least annually on performance against 
the counter fraud strategy and the effectiveness of the strategy from the lead 
person(s) designated in the strategy. Conclusions are featured in the annual 
governance report. 
 

  

 

 

  

203



APPENDIX A 

Annex 2 

Roles and Responsibilities 

 
Chief Executive   
 

Ultimately accountable for the effectiveness of the Council’s arrangements for countering 

fraud and corruption.   

 

Section 151 Officer   
 

To ensure the Council has adopted an appropriate anti-fraud strategy, there is an effective 

internal control environment in place and there is an adequately resourced and effective 

Internal Audit service to deliver “counter-fraud” work.   

 

Monitoring Officer 
 

To advise Councillors and Officers on ethical issues, standards and powers to ensure that the 

Council operates within the law and statutory Codes of Practice 

 

Audit Committee 
 

To monitor the Council’s strategies and policies and consider the effectiveness of the 

arrangements for Whistle-blowing and Anti-Fraud and Corruption Procedures. 

 

Elected Members 
 

Members are expected to conduct themselves in a way that is beyond reproach, above 

suspicion and fully accountable by acting in a manner that sets an example to the community 

they represent and employees who implement their policy objectives. Malpractice of any sort 

will not be tolerated and where evidence indicates malpractice has occurred, a report will be 

made to the relevant Body. 

 

Members are required to operate within the Council Constitution and the Member Code of 

Conduct. These matters are specifically brought to the attention of Members and include the 

declaration and registration of potential areas of conflict between Members’ Council duties 

and responsibilities and any other areas of their personal or professional lives. 

 

Members may become aware of potential fraud through their casework with constituents and 

their day to day duties as Councillors. Any such issues or concerns should be reported to the 

Counter Fraud Team at the earliest opportunity. 

 

  

204



APPENDIX A 

Internal Audit and Investigations 
 

Responsible for developing and implementing the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy and 

monitoring the investigation of any reported issues. To ensure that all suspected or reported 

irregularities are dealt with promptly and in accordance with this strategy and that action is 

identified to improve controls and reduce the risk of recurrence.   

 

The Team will champion the Council’s tough stance against fraud. Investigators will work to 

professional standards and in accordance with relevant codes of practice as well as applying 

the Council’s policies on equalities & diversity and customer care. Investigators will at all times 

maintain confidentiality, comply with the employee code of conduct and operate within the 

guidelines of all relevant legislation. 

 

The Team will utilise all methods available to detect fraud. Arrangements are in place to 

actively participate in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI). We will also continue to develop and 

support initiatives that involve the exchange of information and systematic data matching 

between the Council and other agencies on national and local fraud and corruption activity in 

relation to Local Authorities. These agencies include: Police; Department for Works and 

Pensions; Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs; UK Visas & Immigration; Pensions Service and 

SFIS. In addition, we will work with colleagues in other Local Authorities and utilise counter 

fraud networks were appropriate.  

 

External Audit 
 

Statutory duty to ensure that the Council has adequate arrangements in place for the 

prevention and detection of fraud, corruption and theft.   

 

Corporate Directors / Heads of Service / Managers 
 

The effective eradication of fraud starts with managers. It is the responsibility of all Council 

managers to ensure that they manage the risk of fraud within their respective work areas.  

 

Managers are expected to be fully conversant with fraud risks (internal and external) relevant 

to their service areas. Some services will be predominantly at risk of attack from external 

sources, for example, Council Tax.  

 

To promote staff awareness and ensure that all suspected or reported irregularities are 

immediately referred to Internal Audit. To ensure that there are mechanisms in place within 

their service areas to assess the risk of fraud, corruption and theft and to reduce these risks 

by implementing strong internal controls.   

 

  

205



APPENDIX A 

Annex 3 

Corporate Policies 
 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy / Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy 
Sets out the Council’s commitment to reducing opportunities for fraud and corruption across 
all council services and taking the strongest possible action against those who seek to defraud 
the Council. Includes guidance on what to do if an employee suspects fraud. (Lead: Chief 
Internal Auditor) 
 

Anti-Bribery Policy  
Sets out the Council’s commitment to the prevention, deterrence and detection of bribery and 
to raise awareness with relevant officers linking with the Codes of Conduct etc. (Lead: Director 
of Governance) 
 

Money Laundering Policy  
Sets out the Council’s commitment to ensuring compliance with the requirements of the 
Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 and the Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of 
Funds Regulations 2017on Money Laundering. (Lead: Chief Internal Auditor) 
 

Whistleblowing Policy  
In accordance with the Public Disclosure Act 1998 (as amended by the Enterprise and 
Regulatory Reform Act 2013), sets out how workers can raise serious or sensitive concerns 
about other members of staff, suppliers, or people who provide services with protection from 
harassment, victimisation or bullying as a result of them raising concerns. (Lead: Director of 
Governance) 
 

Council Tax and Business Rates: Sanction and Prosecution Policy 
Sets out the Council’s approach to seeking redress / sanction against those who seek to 
defraud the Council in relation to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme. (Lead: Chief Internal 
Auditor) 
 

Blue Badge, Parking Permits and Visitor Parking Permits: Sanction and Prosecution 
Policy 
Sets out the Council’s approach to seeking redress / sanction against those who seek to 
defraud the Council in relation to parking permits and blue badges. (Lead: Chief Internal 
Auditor) 
 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Policy  
Sets out rules and procedures for undertaking and gaining authorisation for covert 
surveillance in accordance with the RIPA Act 2000 (as amended by the Protection of 
Freedoms Act 2012) and compliant with Human Rights & Data Protection Legislation. (Lead: 
Compliance Manager; Governance) 
 

ICT Security Policy 
Sets out the Council’s approach to monitoring and protection of ICT equipment and data 
integrity (Lead: ICT Client Lead) 
 

 

206



APPENDIX B 

 

 

 

Introduction 

 

Peterborough City Council (PCC) is forecast to spend £146.89m in 2018 / 2019. 
 
The Council both commissions and provides a wide range of services to individuals and 
households, working with a range of many other private and public and voluntary sector 
organisations. 
 
The size and nature of our services, as with any other large organisation, mean that there is 
an ever-present risk of loss due to fraud and corruption, from sources both internal and 
external. 
 

The Council takes a responsible, long term view of the need to continuously develop anti-fraud 

initiatives and maintain its culture of anti-fraud awareness. 

 

Policy Statement 

 

PCC is committed to protecting the public funds that it administers and consequently it will not 

tolerate any abuse of its services. It is determined to prevent, deter and detect all forms of 

fraud, bribery and corruption committed against it, whether that be internal or from outside the 

Council. 

 

PCC is determined that the culture and tone of the organisation is one of honesty and rigorous 

opposition to fraud, bribery and corruption. Thus, it is committed to ensuring all of its business 

is conducted in an open, honest, equitable and fair manner, and is accountable to all its 

stakeholders.  

 

It will not tolerate fraud or corruption committed, or attempted, by its councillors, employees, 

suppliers, contractors or service users and will take all necessary steps to investigate 

allegations of fraud or corruption and pursue sanctions available in each case, such as 

removal from office, dismissal and / or prosecution and the recovery of Council assets and 

funds. 

 

The measures adopted by PCC in its commitment to the prevention, deterrence and detection 

of fraud, bribery and corruption are set out in detail in documents listed at the end of the policy. 

  

Fraud and Corruption 

 

Fraud 

 

 

Anti-Fraud and Corruption 

Policy 

207



APPENDIX B 

 

The Fraud Act 2006 is used for the criminal prosecution of fraud offences. The definition also 

applies to fraud in non-criminal disciplinary matters and the definition applies to both. The 

Fraud Act created a single offence of fraud which can be committed in three separate ways: - 

 

 False representation.   

 Failure to disclose information where there is a legal duty to do so.  

 Abuse of position.  
 

For the purpose of this document fraud is defined as "the intentional distortion of financial 

statements or other records by persons internal or external to the organisation which is carried 

out to conceal the misappropriation of assets or otherwise for gain." Fraud has moved away 

from the concept of the deceit of another to the dishonest intent of the fraudster to make a 

gain or cause a loss or risk of a loss. Thus, the arena of fraud is far more reaching than the 

simple crime of theft. 

 

Theft 

 

Theft is the act of stealing any property belonging to the Council or which has been entrusted 

to it (i.e. client funds), including cash, equipment, vehicles or data. Theft does not necessarily 

require fraud to be committed. Theft can also include the stealing of property belonging to 

another whilst on PCC property. 

 

Bribery and Corruption 

 

The Bribery Act 2010 came into force on 1 July 2011 and created offences of: 

 

 Accepting a bribe 

 Bribery of another person 

 Bribery of a foreign official, and 

 Failure to prevent bribery. 
 

Corruption is seen as “the offering, giving, soliciting or acceptance of an inducement or reward 

for performing an act, or failing to perform an act, designed to influence official action or 

decision making”. 

 

Money Laundering 

 

Money laundering is the process by which criminals attempt to 'recycle' the proceeds of their 

criminal activities in order to conceal its origins and ownership and which leaves them with 

money that cannot be traced back.   

 

Reporting, Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 

 

All employees, its partners, suppliers, contractors and elected Members have a duty to report 

any fraudulent, or perceived fraudulent activity which may impact on the Council financially 

and / or reputationally. 

 

In normal cases it will be Internal Audit and Investigations that will undertake or direct the 

investigation. Matters of a criminal nature will be referred to the Police.  

 

208



APPENDIX B 

 

Monitoring Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 

 

The Audit Committee, through its Terms of Reference, has the responsibility for monitoring 

the delivery of the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy and Strategy through the annual report 

on investigations. 

 

Further Information  

 

Further information on Council policy can be found in the following documents:   

 

 Codes of Conduct (Councillors and Officers); 

 Whistleblowing Policy; 

 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy; 

 Anti-Bribery Policy; 

 Money Laundering Policy; 

 Financial Regulations; 

 Contract Procedure Rules;  

 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA).   
 

 

 

 

 

 

Responsible Officer: Chief Internal Auditor 

Date: February 2018  

 

 

 

209



This page is intentionally left blank

210



APPENDIX C 

 

 

Introduction 

 

The Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer) 

Regulations 2017 (MLR 2017) came into force in June 2017 and, for offences committed after 

26 June 2017, replace the Money Laundering Regulations 2007. 

 

The MLR 2017 and the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (‘POCA’) impact on certain areas of local 

authority business and require local authorities to establish internal procedures to prevent the 

use of their services for money laundering. 

 

Scope of the Policy 

 

This Policy applies to all employees (including agency staff) of the Council and elected 

Members, and aims to maintain the high standards of conduct which currently exist within the 

Council by preventing criminal activity through money laundering. The Policy sets out the 

procedures which must be followed (for example the reporting of suspicions of money 

laundering activity) to enable the Council to comply with its legal obligations.  

 

What is Money Laundering? 

 

Money laundering offences include: 

  

 Concealing, disguising, converting, transferring criminal property or removing it from 

the UK (section 327 POCA); 

 Entering into or becoming concerned in an arrangement which you know or suspect 

facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by or on behalf 

of another person (section 328 POCA);  

 Acquiring, using or possessing criminal property (section 329 POCA); 

 Investing the proceeds of crime into other financial products or the acquisition of 

property / assets; or 

 Tipping off a person(s) who is suspected of being involved in money laundering is such 

a way as to reduce the likelihood of or prejudice of an investigation. 

 

Although the term “money laundering” is generally used to describe activities of organised 

crime, for most people it will involve a suspicion that someone they know, or know of, is 

benefiting financially from dishonest activities. 

 

Potentially any member of staff could be caught by the money laundering provisions if they 

suspect money laundering and either become involved with it in some way, do nothing about 

it, or tip off anyone attempting to launder funds. Failure to report money laundering is an 

offence. 

 

Anti Money Laundering Policy 

211



APPENDIX C 

 

The Guidance Note gives practical examples of money laundering, to aid understanding. This 

Policy and Procedure sets out how any concerns should be raised. It is important that 

employees in areas of money laundering risk are familiar with their legal responsibilities as 

criminal sanctions may be imposed for failure to comply with legislative requirements. Failure 

by a member of staff to comply with the procedures set out in this Policy could also lead to 

disciplinary action. 

 

Whilst the risk to the Council of contravening the legislation is low, it is extremely important 

that all employees are familiar with their legal responsibilities; serious criminal sanctions may 

be imposed for breaches of the legislation.  

 

Legislation 

 

The main UK legislation covering anti-money laundering and terrorist financing is: 

  

 Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (as amended by the Serious Organised Crime and Police 

Act 2005); 

 Terrorism Act 2000 (as amended by the Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001); 

and 

 Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Fuds (Information on the 

Payer) Regulations 2017 

 

Our Responsibilities 

 

The main requirements of the legislation are: 

 

 To appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO); 

 Maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances; 

 Implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money laundering; and 

 Maintain record keeping procedures. 

 

Providing the Council does not undertake activities regulated under the Financial Services and 

Markets Act 2000, the offences of failure to disclose and tipping off do not apply. However, 

the Council and its employees and Members remain subject to the remainder of the offences 

and the full provisions of the Terrorism Act 2000. 

 

The Terrorism Act 2000 made it an offence of money laundering to become concerned in an 

arrangement relating to the retention or control of property likely to be used for the purpose of 

terrorism, or resulting from acts of terrorism. 

 

Potentially very heavy penalties (unlimited fines and imprisonment of up to 14 years) can be 

handed down to those who are convicted of one of the offences above. 

 

The regulations require the Council to appoint a Nominated Officer as the Money Laundering 

Reporting Officer: The officer nominated to: 

 

 Receive internal suspicious transactions reports (known as disclosures) from within 

the Council; 

 Deciding whether these should be reported to the National Crime Agency; and 

212



APPENDIX C 

 If appropriate, making such reports to the National Crime Agency, is 

 

Fiona McMillan, Interim Director Law and Governance 

Tel No.:  01733 452361 

Email: fiona.mcmillan@peterborough.gov.uk 

 

Not all of the Council’s business is “relevant” for the purposes of the legislation. The areas of 

council business which are relevant include: 

 

 Dealing in, managing and administering investments; 

 Accountancy services and tax advice; 

 Audit services; 

 Legal services involving finance and property; 

 Conveyancing work - sale of property and land. The provision of services in relation to 

the formation, operation or management of a company or a trust; and 

 Dealing in goods of any description by way of business (including dealing as an 

auctioneer) wherever a transaction involves accepting a total cash payment. 

 

A cash payment of £10,000 or more should not be accepted without seeking advice or 

approval from the Interim Director Law and Governance / Service Director Financial Services 

/ Chief Internal Auditor as set out in Financial Regulations. 

 

The safest way to ensure compliance with the law is to apply them to all areas of work 

undertaken by the Council. The legislation applies to all staff, but awareness raising will be 

targeted at staff in highest risk areas. 

 

Reporting to the Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) 

 

Where you know or suspect that money laundering activity is taking / has taken place, or you 

become concerned that your involvement in a matter may amount to facilitating the acquisition, 

disguising, converting, possessing or retention of criminal property (a prohibited act) you must 

disclose this as soon as practicable to the MLRO. The disclosure should be on or before the 

activity. There must be good reason if it is reported afterwards. 

 

The Disclosure Report must include as much detail as possible, for example: 

 

 Full details of all the people involved 

 Full details of your / their involvement 

 

If you are concerned that your involvement in the transaction would amount to a prohibited 

act, then your report must include all relevant details, as you will need consent from the 

National Crime Agency (NCA), via the MLRO, to take any further part in the transaction.  

 

You should therefore make it clear in the report whether there are any deadlines which make 

the matter more urgent, for example, a completion date or court deadline. 

 

Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions that may be 

given to you. 

 

213

mailto:fiona.mcmillan@peterborough.gov.uk


APPENDIX C 

 Do not make any further enquiries into the matter yourself: any necessary investigation 

will be undertaken by National Crime Agency (NCA); 

 Co-operate with MLRO and the authorities during any subsequent money laundering 

investigation; 

 Don’t voice any suspicions to the person(s) whom you suspect of money laundering, 

even if the NCA has given consent for the transaction to proceed. This could constitute 

a tipping off offence; 

 Don’t make any reference on a client file or record, to a report having been made to 

the MLRO in case of a client exercising their subject access rights. The MLRO will 

keep the appropriate records in a confidential manner. 

 

Consideration of the disclosure by the Money Laundering Reporting Officer 

 

Upon receipt of a disclosure report, the MLRO will note the date the report is received and 

acknowledge receipt of it. They should also advise you of the timescale within which a 

response can be expected.  

 

The MLRO will consider the report and any other available internal information that might be 

relevant and make other enquiries as necessary to determine whether a report to NCA is 

required. The MLRO may also need to discuss the report with you.  

 

Once the MLRO has evaluated the report and any other relevant information, a timely 

determination must be made as to whether:  

 

 there is actual or suspected money laundering taking place; or 

 there are reasonable grounds to know or suspect that is the case; and 

 Whether consent needs to be sought from NCA for a particular transaction to proceed. 

 

A report must be made as soon as practicable to the NCA by the MLRO. The report may not 

be immediately made to NCA if there is a genuine reason not to do so. For example, legal 

professional privilege may apply and be a genuine reason for not disclosing the information to 

the NCA immediately. 

 

Where the MLRO suspects money laundering but has a reasonable excuse for non-disclosure, 

then a note must be made in the Money Laundering reporting format accordingly; consent can 

then immediately be given for any ongoing or imminent transactions to proceed. 

 

In cases where legal professional privilege may apply, the MLRO must liaise with the legal 

adviser to decide whether there is a reasonable excuse for not reporting the matter to NCA. 

 

Where consent is required from NCA for a transaction to proceed, then the transaction(s) in 

question must not be undertaken or completed until NCA has specifically given consent, or 

there is deemed consent through the expiration of the relevant time limits without objection 

from NCA.  

 

Where the MLRO concludes that there are no reasonable grounds to suspect money 

laundering then the record shall be marked accordingly and consent given for any ongoing or 

imminent transaction(s) to proceed. 

 

214



APPENDIX C 

All disclosure reports referred to the MLRO and reports made by them to the NCA must be 

retained by the MLRO in a secure manner for a minimum of five years. 

 

The MLRO commits a criminal offence if they fail to report a disclosure made to them, to the 

NCA. 

 

Client Identification Procedure (Due Diligence) 

 

When dealing with financial transactions, employees must take steps to identify a citizen and 

check that they are who they say they are. This will mean obtaining identification documents. 

 

Where the Council is carrying out relevant business (accountancy and financial functions, 

audit services and financial, company and property transactions of legal services) and: 

 

 forms an ongoing business relationship with a client; or 

 carries out an occasional transaction in excess of £10,000; or 

 suspects money laundering or terrorist financing; or 

 Doubts the reliability or adequacy of documents, data or information previously 

obtained for the purposes of identification or verification. 

 

Then the Client Identification Procedure must be followed before any business is undertaken 

for that client. Please note that unlike the reporting procedure, the client identification 

procedure is restricted to those operating ‘relevant businesses. 

 

Satisfactory evidence of the identity of the prospective client must be obtained as soon as 

practicable after instructions are received. This might involve:  

 

 checking the company website; 

 confirming the nature of the business and directors with Companies House; or 

 confirming the identity of the key contact within the company 

 

If there is any doubt about a citizen’s identity then do not continue to deal with them until you 

are sure. 

 

In certain circumstances enhanced citizen due diligence must be carried out for example 

where: 

 

 The citizen has not been physically present for identification; 

 The citizen is a politically exposed person (an individual who at any time in the 

preceding year has held a prominent public function outside of the UK, and EU or 

international institution / body, their immediate family members or close associates); 

 There is a beneficial owner who is not the citizen with which you are dealing. A 

beneficial owner is any individual who: holds more than 25% of the shares, voting rights 

or interest in a company, partnership or trust. 

 

Enhanced citizen due diligence could include any additional documentation, data or 

information that will confirm the citizen’s identity and / or the source of the funds to be used in 

the business relationship/ transaction. If you believe that enhanced citizen due diligence is 

required then you must consult the MLRO prior to carrying it out. 

 

215



APPENDIX C 

If satisfactory evidence of identity is not obtained at the outset of the matter then the business 

relationship or one off transaction(s) cannot proceed any further. 

 

The requirement for the citizen identification procedure, or due diligence, applies immediately 

for new customers and should be applied on a risk sensitive basis for existing customers. 

Ongoing citizen due diligence must also be carried out during the life of a business relationship 

but should be proportionate to the risk of money laundering and terrorist funding, based on 

the officer’s knowledge of the citizen and a regular scrutiny of the transactions involved. 

 

Record Keeping Procedures 

 

Each department of the Council conducting relevant business must maintain records of: 

 

 client identification evidence obtained; and 

 Details of all relevant business transactions carried out for clients for at least five years. 

 

This is so that they may be used as evidence in any subsequent investigation by the authorities 

into money laundering. 

 

The precise nature of the records is not prescribed by law, but must be capable of providing 

an audit trail during any subsequent investigation, for example distinguishing the client and 

the relevant transaction and recording in what form any funds were received or paid. In 

practice, the business units of the Council will be routinely making records of work carried out 

for clients in the course of normal business and these should suffice in this regard. All records 

must be kept in compliance with the Data Protection Act 1998. 

 

Training 

 

In support of the policy and procedure, the Council will: 

 

 Make all staff aware of the requirements and obligations placed on the Council and on 

themselves as individuals by the anti-money laundering legislation; 

 Give targeted training to those most likely to encounter money laundering; 

 Prepare guidance notes to assist staff in the operation of this policy; 

 Make the Policy, guidance and reporting form available to officers and members on 

the intranet; and 

 Issue regular reminders to staff on the requirements of the Anti-Money Laundering 

Policy adopted by the council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

216



APPENDIX C 

Help and Advice 

 

Should you have any concerns whatsoever regarding any transaction then you should contact 

the MLRO. Other contacts in Internal Audit available to discuss any suspicions are: 

 

Steve Crabtree, Chief Internal Auditor 

Tel No.: 01733 384557 

Email: steve.crabtree@peterborough.gov.uk 

 

Julie Taylor, Group Auditor 

Tel No.: 01733 384559 

Email: Julie.taylor@peterborough.gov.uk 

 

Louise Cooke, Group Auditor 

Tel No.: 01733 384558 

Email: louise.cooke@peterborough.gov.uk  

 

 

 

 

Responsible Officer: Chief Internal Auditor 

Date: February 2018 

 

Version Control 1.02 

Next Review: February 2019 

217

mailto:steve.crabtree@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.taylor@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:louise.cooke@peterborough.gov.uk


APPENDIX C 

Annex 1 

ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING GUIDANCE 

 

Introduction 

 

Money laundering legislation implemented by the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 and the Money 

Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Fuds (Information on the Payer) Regulations 

2017 requires the Council to establish procedures designed to prevent the use of its services 

for money laundering. 

 

The law is intended to prevent money from illegal activities such as drug dealing from being 

‘laundered’ and turned into legitimate finance. Money laundering might also be used to hide 

the financing of terrorism or other criminal activities. 

 

What is Money Laundering? 

 

Money laundering is the disguising of the source of criminal money, either in cash, paper or 

electronic form. This may be in order to conceal that the money has originated from crime, or 

it may be to conceal the source of money that is to be used in the pursuit of future crime. 

Money Laundering can be complex and involve several transactions. 

 

How to make a disclosure report 

 

Where you know or suspect that money-laundering activity is taking / has taken place it must 

be disclosed immediately to the Money Laundering Reporting Officer. The disclosure should 

be on or before the activity. There must be good reasons if it is reported afterwards.  

 

If you prefer, you can first discuss your suspicions with the named officers below. 

 

Contacts are: 

 Money Laundering Reporting Officer – Fiona McMillan, Interim Director of Law and 

Governance 

 Pete Carpenter, Service Director Financial Services 

 Steve Crabtree, Chief Internal Auditor 

 Julie Taylor, Group Auditor 

 Louise Cooke, Group Auditor 

 

No discussions should take place with colleagues other than your manager as confidentiality 

is paramount. You will be informed if a report is to be sent to the National Crime Agency and 

advised on what to do next. Please see the Council’s Anti-Money Laundering Policy for more 

information. 

 

Any Council employee, could contravene the money laundering legislation if they become 

aware of, or suspect the existence of criminal ‘property’, and continue to be involved in the 

matter without reporting their concerns. 

 

If an employee has a concern they should ask questions or seek further information to allay 

any suspicions they may have. Enquiries can be made of the individual to establish whether 

or not there is an innocent explanation before deciding whether or not to make a disclosure 

218



APPENDIX C 

report. If you continue to be suspicious you should make a report to the Council’s nominated 

officer. 

 

The suspected money launderer must not be informed that the matter is being reported. 

 

Once a report has been made to the Council’s nominated officer or if you suspect that a report 

has been made, the potential offence of “Tipping Off” arises. Tipping Off is where someone 

may prejudice an investigation by giving information to a person suspected of money 

laundering. 

 

How you might recognise money laundering and what checks you must do 

 

Carry out appropriate checks to satisfy yourself of the company’s or citizen’s ID. Additional 

care must be taken when the person is not physically present.  

 

Satisfy yourself as to the source of the funds and the owner of them. Ask yourself “Given my 

knowledge of this person, is it plausible that they can pay this amount, for this service, by this 

means?” 

 

Ongoing Monitoring 

 

Once you have verified the identity of the citizen (or company) you will still need to monitor 

activity throughout the relationship and obtain updated documents when necessary. Records 

must be kept of citizen identification and business transactions for at least 5 years after the 

transaction or end of the business relationship. All records must be kept in accordance with 

the Data Protection Act. 

 

Examples of potential money laundering 

 

Example 1: Any large cash transaction should alert suspicion. 

 A business looks to pay its business rates with a payment in cash of £10,000 and the 

balance by bank transfer. 

 Financial Regulations do not allow deposits of cash in excess of £10,000 to be 

accepted, unless approval has been given by the Service Director Financial Services. 

Any large cash transactions should arouse suspicion. 

 

Example 2: An offer is made for a parcel of land, by a developer, which is far in excess 

of its value. 

 

Example 3: There is an unexplained significant overpayment which the person then 

requests is paid back to them, or a transaction is cancelled and refund requested. 

 Payments should always be paid back to the account from which they came. Look to 

see if there is a pattern of similar transactions. 

 

Example 4: Liabilities are repeatedly met by payment from an unconnected 3rd party. 

 

Other behaviour that may arouse suspicion: 

 If information about the client reveals criminality or association with criminality; 

219



APPENDIX C 

 If there is more than one Solicitor / Conveyancer used in the sale or purchase of a 

property or land or if there is an unexplained and unusual geographic use of a solicitor 

in relation to a property’s location; 

 If the Buyer or Seller’s financial profile does not fit, particularly in relation to property 

transactions. 

 If there are over complicated or poor financial systems; 

 Any odd or secretive behaviour; 

 Illogical involvement of an unconnected third party; 

 A large transaction split into smaller ones without apparent reason (other than perhaps 

to avoid identity checks) 

 

 

220



APPENDIX D 

 

 

Blue Badges 

 
Peterborough City Council provides parking concessions to people who have been issued with 
a Disabled Parking Badge, under the national Blue Badge scheme. Blue Badges are issued 
in accordance with the Department for Transport Guidance, to people with a permanent and 
substantial disability that impacts on their mobility. 
 
The scheme provides a significant financial benefit when compared with paid for parking. Due 
to this financial benefit, Peterborough City Council does experience an element of fraud within 
the scheme which we will investigate. The investigation of Blue Badge misuse and fraud is a 
serious matter and as such, may result in the sanctioning of those persons, who have abused 
the Blue Badge scheme to gain a financial advantage. 
 
By adopting and enforcing this Policy, Peterborough City Council makes the statement that it 
will not accept any abuse of the Blue Badge scheme. This will act as a deterrent against Blue 
Badge misuse and fraud. In making decisions as to whether criminal proceedings should be 
brought against individuals, Peterborough City Council will always consider whether there is 
sufficient evidence for there to be a reasonable prospect of conviction, if the matter was taken 
to Court and will also consider if it is in the public interest. 
 
The Disabled Persons’ Parking Badge Scheme (“the Scheme”) was introduced in 1972, under 
Section 21 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970. The Scheme provides a 
national arrangement of on-street parking concessions and car parks for severely disabled 
people. The disabled persons Blue Badge is recognised throughout the European Union. 
 
It is the responsibility of Peterborough City Council to ensure that only people satisfying the 
required criteria are issued with a Blue Badge. Individuals sign a declaration on the application 
form stating that the information provided is correct. In addition, individuals can automatically 
qualify for a Blue Badge if they have higher rate mobility for Disability Living Allowance or 
Personal Independence Payments and they will be required to provide a copy of the award 
letter as proof. 
 

Fraud and Misuse of a Blue Badge 

 
There are several ways that a Blue Badge can be used fraudulently or misused: 
 

 Using a Blue Badge that has expired or is no longer valid; 

 Misuse of a valid Blue Badge by a non-badge holder; 

 Using a Blue Badge that has been reported as lost or stolen; 

 Using a forged, copied / scanned or amended Blue Badge; 

 Using a Blue Badge that is obtained through submission of false or misleading 
information on application; or 

 Using a Blue Badge when the holder is no longer eligible as the medical condition 
or mobility has improved. 

 

Blue Badges, Parking Permits 

and Visitor Parking Permits:  

Sanction and Prosecution Policy 

221



APPENDIX D 

Where an investigation reveals that the misuse of a Blue Badge appears to have occurred due 
to a mistake then the badge holder will be provided with details of the correct use and other 
sanctions will be considered if appropriate. 
 

Blue Badge holders have a duty to return a badge if: 

 

 The badge expires; 

 The badge holder is no longer eligible; 

 It is a replacement badge for one that is lost or stolen and the original is found / 
recovered (in this case the original badge should be returned so that it can be officially 
destroyed); 

 The badge is so damaged / faded that the details are not clear; 

 Where the badge holder dies, it is the responsibility of the next of kin to return the 
badge. 

 

Resident and Visitor Parking Permits 

 
A resident parking permit allows residents to park their vehicles in a resident’s bay in the street 
or zone near to where they live. However, a permit does not guarantee that a parking space 
will always be available. To ensure the scheme is as fair as possible permits are issued at the 
discretion of the Council. There may be restrictions in certain areas / streets / zones. 
 
Visitor parking permits provide access to residential parking bays, subject to their availability. 
It is necessary for anybody using a visitor parking permit, to park a vehicle, to be visiting a 
person who resides within the restricted parking area. 
 

Legislation 

 
The Council may pursue criminal proceedings under the following legislation: 

 Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 section 117 

 Fraud Act 2006 – Sections 1, 2, 3, 6 or 7 
 

Prosecution 

 
When considering the suitability of a case for prosecution, PCC will apply two tests, the 
evidential test and the public interest test (see above) 
 
Circumstances where it may be deemed to be in the public interest to prosecute 
 
The following is not an exhaustive list and each case will be judged on its own merits: 
 

 The fraud or misuse was calculated and proven to be deliberate; 

 The person has previously committed other similar fraud offences; 

 There has been a breach of trust; 

 The case involved collusion or conspiracy; 

 The person was the ringleader or has organised or initiated the Blue Badge fraud; 

 A warning letter has previously been issued to the person for previous misuse of a 
Blue Badge; or 

 Where the person fails to attend an interview under caution we may proceed to 
prosecution. 

 
 
 

222



APPENDIX D 

Circumstances where it may be deemed not to be in the public interest to prosecute 
 
The following is not an exhaustive list and each case will be judged on its own merits: 
 

 The age or physical or mental health of a person is such that the additional stress 
incurred by a prosecution would incur an unacceptable risk; 

 Where the person suffers chronic ill health, this will normally be supported by 
independent medical evidence, where appropriate; 

 For the purposes of this policy a person’s age will be considered along with the other 
relevant information when deciding whether to apply a sanction; or 

 There has been an inexcusable time delay, which may prejudice the case. 
 

Interviews under Caution 

 
A person will be invited to attend an interview under caution in all cases where the evidence 
has been collected that suggests an offence has been committed and sanction action should 
be considered in line with this policy. This will allow the person to provide explanations for their 
actions and provide Peterborough City Council with information relevant to both the evidential 
and public interest tests referred to above. 
 
If a person chooses not to attend an interview under caution or declines to answer questions 
regarding the alleged offence, then Peterborough City Council will decide on the evidence 
available the most appropriate course of action which includes referral for prosecution. 
 
In all cases which involve employees of the Council, investigations will also follow the Councils 
Code of Conduct which could lead to appropriate disciplinary action. 
 

Warning Letters 

 
In circumstances where there is sufficient evidence, but it is not in the public interest to 
prosecute, Peterborough City Council will issue a warning letter. Such circumstances may 
include: 
 

 Where the offence was committed by mistake; or 

 Where the person committing the offence would be eligible for a blue badge in their 
own right if they applied 

 
This is not an exhaustive list and each case will be judged on its own merits.  
 

Publicity 

 

The Council intends to positively promote this policy as well as the outcome of any 
prosecutions, which will deter others from fraudulent activity. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Draft: Version 1.04 

February 2018 

  

223



APPENDIX D 

Annex 1 
 

Definition of Fraud 

 
Fraud is a wrongful or criminal deception intended to result in financial or person gain: 
 

 Makes a false statement; 

 Produces a false document; and / or 

 Fails to promptly notify of a relevant change in circumstances which the person knows 
will affect the discount / exemption / relief / support they are entitled to / or are in receipt 
of. 

 

Culture 

 

The Council has a Compliance Team which is part of Internal Audit within the Resources 
Department. The team consists of two investigating officers and is line managed by the Chief 
Internal Auditor. 
 
Cases of suspected fraud can be referred to the team by e-mail 
(fraud@peterborough.gov.uk) they can also be made on-line via the Council’s website. They 
can also be made by letter. In a similar vein this can be used for reporting of any other 
suspected fraud. Employee investigations are also covered by the team and follow the 
Employees Code of Conduct and the Disciplinary Policy. There is a dedicated fraud hotline 
01733 452250 which can be used by either staff members or the general public. Outside office 
hours there is an answerphone service attached to this number. 
 

Prevention, Detection and Investigation 

 

The Team will investigate allegations of fraud to a criminal standard, i.e. evidence is collated 
and alleged offenders formally interviewed in accordance with the Police & Criminal Evidence 
Act 1984 / the Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996. A case will only be deemed 
suitable for prosecution if it meets the requirements of the Code for Crown Prosecutors. There 
are two main requirements – The Evidential Test and The Public Interest Test. 
 
Prosecution cases are passed to an in-house Litigation Lawyer. If it case is to be passed to 
the Police for them to investigate, the case is referred to the Director of Governance. 
 

Evidential Test 

 

The prosecuting authority must be satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to provide a 
‘realistic prospect of conviction’ on each charge. Consideration should be given to what the 
defendant’s defence may be and how it is likely to affect the prospects of conviction. 
 
A realistic prospect of conviction is an objective test based solely upon the prosecuting 
authority’s assessment of the evidence and any information that the authority has about the 
defence that the subject of the allegation may put forward. The authority must then decide 
whether, if properly directed in accordance with law, a jury (or magistrate) is more likely to 
convict than acquit a defendant of the charge(s) against them. When deciding if there is 
sufficient evidence to prosecute the authority will consider: 
 

• Can the evidence be used in court? 

224

mailto:fraud@peterborough.gov.uk


APPENDIX D 

• Is it likely that the evidence will be excluded by the court? (For example, is it likely it 
may be excluded due to the way that it was obtained?) 

• Is the evidence hearsay? If so, is the court likely to allow it to be represented under 
any of the exceptions which permit such evidence to given in court? 

• Does the evidence relate to the bad character of the suspect? If so, is the court likely 
to allow it to be presented? 

• Is the evidence reliable? 
• Does the suspect have a creditable explanation for their actions? 
• Is there evidence which might support or detract from the reliability of a confession? Is 

its reliability affected by factors such as the suspect’s level of understanding? 
• Is the identification of the suspect likely to be questioned? 
• Are there concerns over the accuracy, reliability or credibility of any of the evidence of 

any witness? 
 

Public Interest Test 

 

When the prosecuting authority has deemed that the case has sufficient evidence to provide 
a realistic prospect of conviction it must then consider if it is in the ‘public interest’ for the legal 
action to progress. Every case is different and many will have mitigating aspects which will 
influence the authority’s decision to either take legal action or refrain from instigating legal 
proceedings. 
 
The public interest test requires prosecutors to consider wider factors tending for or against 
prosecution, for example the relative seriousness of the offence. Each case will be considered 
on its own merits by common public interest factors tending against prosecution may be: 
 

 The customer’s mental or physical health would deter the authority from taking further 
action. 

 The investigation process contains unexplained long delays. 

 The customer’s family circumstances or adverse recent events may deter the authority 
from taking the person to court. 

225



This page is intentionally left blank

226



APPENDIX E 

 

Council Tax Support Scheme 

 

Council Tax is a tax on the occupation of a domestic property. It is a system of local taxation 
used to part fund the services provided by local government. The primary legislation for 
Council Tax is the Local Government Finance Act 1992. Operationally, the governing 
regulations are the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992. 
 
Tax payers can apply for various exemptions, discounts and reductions. They are dependent 
upon the circumstances of the tax payer / the people living in the household and with some 
being dependent upon the property. It is necessary for Local Authorities to regulate the 
discounts and reductions to ensure that they are only awarded under the circumstances to 
which they are eligible to be received. 
 
Council Tax Support Scheme is a means tested Council Tax discount. It is intended to help 
people on low incomes meet their Council Tax costs. The primary legislation is the Local 
Government Finance Act 2012. Operationally the governing regulations are: 
 

 For those who have reached the qualifying age for Pension Credit it is the Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 For working age claimants, local authorities have been given the power to design their 
own schemes and accompanying rules. 

 
Local Authorities need to guard against fraudulent applications for Council Tax Support to 
ensure that only tax payers eligible to receive support with their Council Tax liability actually 
receive assistance. 
 

Single Person Discounts 

 

Single person discounts of 25% are available where there is only one adult living within the 
property. Circumstance changes should be notified in the correct way to ensure correct 
charges can be levied. 
 

Business Rates 

 

Business Rates are a tax on the occupation of non-domestic property. It is a system of local 
taxation used to part fund the services provided by local government. The primary legislation 
for Business Rates is the Local Government Finance Act 1988. Operationally, the governing 
regulations are the Non-Domestic Rating (Collection and Enforcement) (Local Lists) 
Regulations 1989. 
 
Tax payers can apply for various exemptions and reliefs. It is necessary for Local Authorities 
to robustly address the growing issue of Business Rates avoidance and evasion. Examples of 
business rate fraud include: 
 

 Not declaring a new business premise 

 Not declaring that a property is being used for business purposes 

Council Tax and Business Rates:  

Sanction and Prosecution Policy 

227



APPENDIX E 

 Failure to inform the Council that a business has moved into a property 

 Falsely stating that a property is no longer in use when it still is 

 Falsely claiming a reduction or relief 
 

Prosecution 

 

The most appropriate sanction action will be applied in each case, on their merits. This could 
be in the form of criminal court prosecutions or financial penalties (fines) as an alternative to 
prosecution. 
 
The most appropriate sanction action will be considered by reference to: 
 

 The severity of the offence; 

 The value and duration of the overpayment; 

 The circumstances of the offender; and 

 The public interest test  (See Annex A) 
 

Alternatives to Prosecution 

 

Council Tax Support 
 
Council Tax Support came into existence on 1st April 2013 and replaced Council Tax Benefit. 
Council Tax Benefit was a fully subsidised scheme administered by Local Authorities on behalf 
of the Department for Work & Pensions. Council Tax Support is a discount awarded against 
the annual Council Tax liability, by Local Authorities, created by the Local Government 
Finance Act 2012. 
 
Under amendments to Local Government legislation there are occasions when there is an 
option to consider financial / administrative penalties as an alternative to prosecution. 
 
Section 11 of the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) 
(England) Regulations 2013, introduced financial / administrative penalties as alternatives to 
prosecution in Council Tax Support cases. The penalty amounts to 50% of the gross 
overpayment (with a minimum of £100, up to a maximum of £1,000) and can be offered if the 
following conditions are met: 
 

• There is a recoverable overpayment or excess award of Council Tax Support as 
defined by the relevant legislation; 

• The cause of the overpayment is attributed to an act or omission on the part of the 
defendant; 

• There are grounds for instituting criminal proceedings for an offence relating to the 
overpayment upon which the penalty is based; 

• The person offered such a penalty has the ability to repay it within a reasonable 
timeframe and the imposition of such a penalty will not overburden them if they have 
existing priority debts; and 

• A failure on the part of the customer to accept a Financial / Administrative Penalty will 
result in the case proceeding to prosecution. 

 
Financial / Administrative penalties should not be confused with civil penalties which can be 
imposed in addition to any administrative penalty or legal action. 
 
Single Person Discount 
 

228



APPENDIX E 

Schedule 3 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 allows Councils to impose a civil 
penalty of £70 in cases were a resident fails, without a reasonable excuse, to supply 
information (or negligently supplies incorrect information) which affects their liability or 
entitlement to a council tax discount or exemption. This is in addition to the recovery of the 
associated discount. 
 

Publicity 

 

The Council intends to positively promote this policy as well as the outcome of any 
prosecutions, which will deter others from fraudulent activity. 

 
 
 

Draft: Version 1.05 
February 2018 

 

  

229



APPENDIX E 

Annex 1 
 
Definition of Fraud 

 
Fraud is a wrongful or criminal deception intended to result in financial or personal gain: 
 

 Makes a false statement; 

 Produces a false document; and / or 

 Fails to promptly notify of a relevant change in circumstances which the person knows 
will affect the discount / exemption / relief / support they are entitled to / or are in receipt 
of. 

 
Most local taxation fraud offences are prosecuted under the Fraud Act 2006: 
 

• Section 2 – fraud by false representation 
• Section 3 – fraud by failing to disclose information. 

 

Council Tax Support fraud offences can also be prosecuted under section 14(3) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. 
 

Culture 

 

The Council has a Compliance Team which is part of Internal Audit within the Resources 
Department. The team consists of two investigating officers and is line managed by the Chief 
Internal Audit. 
 
Cases of suspected Council Tax fraud can be referred to the team by e-mail 
(fraud@peterborough.gov.uk) they can also be made on-line via the Council’s website. They 
can also be made by letter. In a similar vein this can be used for reporting of any other 
suspected fraud. Employee investigations are also covered by the team and follow the 
Employees Code of Conduct and the Disciplinary Code. There is a dedicated fraud hotline 
01733 452250 which can be used by either staff members or the general public. Outside office 
hours there is an answerphone service attached to this number. 
 
Cases of suspected Housing Benefit fraud are now investigated by the Department for Work 
& Pensions. Local authorities no longer have any powers to either investigate allegations of 
Housing Benefit fraud or to prosecute instances of proven Housing Benefit fraud. Benefit fraud 
allegations can be reported on the Department for Work and Pensions National Benefit Fraud 
Hotline (0800 854 440) or via www.gov.uk/report-benefit-fraud. 
 

Prevention, Detection and Investigation 

 

The Team will investigate allegations of fraud to a criminal standard, i.e. evidence is collated 
and alleged offenders formally interviewed in accordance with the Police & Criminal Evidence 
Act 1984 / the Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996. A case will only be deemed 
suitable for prosecution if it meets the requirements of the Code for Crown Prosecutors. There 
are two main requirements – The Evidential Test and The Public Interest Test. 
 
Prosecution cases are passed to an in-house Litigation Lawyer. If the case is to be passed to 
the Police for them to investigate, the case is referred to the Director of Governance. 
 

Evidential Test 

230

mailto:fraud@peterborough.gov.uk


APPENDIX E 

 

The prosecuting authority must be satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to provide a 
‘realistic prospect of conviction’ on each charge. Consideration should be given to what the 
defendant’s defence may be and how it is likely to affect the prospects of conviction. 
 
A realistic prospect of conviction is an objective test based solely upon the prosecuting 
authority’s assessment of the evidence and any information that the authority has about the 
defence that the subject of the allegation may put forward. The authority must then decide 
whether, if properly directed in accordance with law, a jury (or magistrate) is more likely to 
convict than acquit a defendant of the charge(s) against them. 
 
When deciding if there is sufficient evidence to prosecute the authority will consider: 
 

• Can the evidence be used in court? 
• Is it likely that the evidence will be excluded by the court? (For example, is it likely it 

may be excluded due to the way that it was obtained?) 
• Is the evidence hearsay? If so, is the court likely to allow it to be represented under 

any of the exceptions which permit such evidence to given in court? 
• Does the evidence relate to the bad character of the suspect? If so, is the court likely 

to allow it to be presented? 
• Is the evidence reliable? 
• Does the suspect have a creditable explanation for their actions? 
• Is there evidence which might support or detract from the reliability of a confession? Is 

its reliability affected by factors such as the suspect’s level of understanding? 
• Is the identification of the suspect likely to be questioned? 
• Are there concerns over the accuracy, reliability or credibility of any of the evidence of 

any witness? 
 

Public Interest Test 

 

When the prosecuting authority has deemed that the case has sufficient evidence to provide 
a realistic prospect of conviction it must then consider if it is in the ‘public interest’ for the legal 
action to progress. Every case is different and many will have mitigating aspects which will 
influence the authority’s decision to either take legal action or refrain from instigating legal 
proceedings. 
 
The public interest test requires prosecutors to consider wider factors tending for or against 
prosecution, for example the relative seriousness of the offence. Some common public interest 
factors tending against prosecution may be: 
 

 The customer’s mental or physical health would deter the authority from taking further 
action; 

 The customer has repaid the discount / exemption in its entirety (balanced with the 
seriousness of the offence); 

 It can be established that part or all of the original discount / exemption was awarded 
in error.  It is established whether it is an official error at the start of an investigation – 
if it was official error then we would not undertake an interview under caution. If part of 
it was official error but part was customer fraud then consideration would be given to 
prosecuting the fraudulent element depending upon the amount; 

 The investigation process contains unexplained long delays; 
 The customer’s family circumstances or adverse recent events may deter the authority 

from taking the person to court. 
 
 

231



This page is intentionally left blank

232



2016-19 Checklist 

A local authority is self-regulating in respect of counter fraud. It should aim to show that it 
undertakes realistic self-assessment and has identified and understands the major risks. 
It should acknowledge the problems and put in place plans which can demonstrate that it is 
taking action with visible outcomes. It should aim to create a transparent process and report 
the results to the corporate management team and those charged with governance. 

You are encouraged to use this checklist to measure your counter fraud and corruption 
culture and response.

 c The local authority has made a proper assessment of 
its fraud and corruption risks, has an action plan to deal 
with them and regularly reports to its senior Board and 
its members.

 c The local authority has undertaken an assessment 
against the risks in Protecting the Public Purse: Fighting 
Fraud Against Local Government (2014) and has also 
undertaken horizon scanning of future potential fraud 
and corruption risks. 

 c There is an annual report to the audit committee, or 
equivalent detailed assessment, to compare against 
Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally (FFCL) 2016 and 
this checklist. 

 c There is a counter fraud and corruption strategy 
applying to all aspects of the local authority’s business 
which has been communicated throughout the 
local authority and acknowledged by those charged 
with governance. 

 c The local authority has arrangements in place that are 
designed to promote and ensure probity and propriety 
in the conduct of its business.

 c The risks of fraud and corruption are specifically 
considered in the local authority’s overall risk 
management process.

 c Counter fraud staff are consulted to fraud-proof new 
policies, strategies and initiatives across departments 
and this is reported upon to committee.

 c Successful cases of proven fraud/corruption are routinely 
publicised to raise awareness. 

 c The local authority has put in place arrangements to 
prevent and detect fraud and corruption and a 
mechanism for ensuring that this is effective and is 
reported to committee. 

 c The local authority has put in place arrangements for 
monitoring compliance with standards of conduct across 
the local authority covering: 

–  codes of conduct including behaviour for counter 
fraud, anti-bribery and corruption 

– register of interests 

– register of gifts and hospitality. 

 c The local authority undertakes recruitment vetting 
of staff prior to employment by risk assessing posts 
and undertaking the checks recommended in FFCL 
2016 to prevent potentially dishonest employees from 
being appointed. 

 c Members and staff are aware of the need to make 
appropriate disclosures of gifts, hospitality and business. 
This is checked by auditors and reported to committee. 

 c There is a programme of work to ensure a strong counter 
fraud culture across all departments and delivery agents 
led by counter fraud experts. 

 c There is an independent whistle-blowing policy which 
is monitored for take-up and can show that suspicions 
have been acted upon without internal pressure.

Supported by:

CIPFA COUNTER 
FRAUD CENTRE

CIPFA COUNTER 
FRAUD CENTRE

233



2016-19 Checklist 

 c Contractors and third parties sign up to the whistle-
blowing policy and there is evidence of this. There 
should be no discrimination against whistle-blowers.

 c Fraud resources are assessed proportionately to the risk 
the local authority faces and are adequately resourced.

 c There is an annual fraud plan which is agreed by 
committee and reflects resources mapped to risks and 
arrangements for reporting outcomes. This plan covers 
all areas of the local authority’s business and includes 
activities undertaken by contractors and third parties 
or voluntary sector activities.

 c Statistics are kept and reported by the fraud team which 
cover all areas of activity and outcomes. 

 c Fraud officers have unfettered access to premises 
and documents for the purposes of counter 
fraud investigation. 

 c There is a programme to publicise fraud and corruption 
cases internally and externally which is positive and 
endorsed by the council’s communication team. 

 c All allegations of fraud and corruption are risk assessed. 

 c The fraud and corruption response plan covers all areas 
of counter fraud work: 

– prevention 

– detection 

– investigation 

– sanctions 

– redress. 

 c The fraud response plan is linked to the audit plan and 
is communicated to senior management and members. 

 c Asset recovery and civil recovery is considered in 
all cases.

 c There is a zero tolerance approach to fraud and 
corruption which is always reported to committee.

 c There is a programme of proactive counter fraud work 
which covers risks identified in assessment. 

 c The fraud team works jointly with other enforcement 
agencies and encourages a corporate approach and  
co-location of enforcement activity. 

 c The local authority shares data across its own 
departments and between other enforcement agencies. 

 c Prevention measures and projects are undertaken using 
data analytics where possible. 

 c The local authority actively takes part in the National 
Fraud Initiative (NFI) and promptly takes action arising 
from it. 

 c There are professionally trained and accredited staff for 
counter fraud work. If auditors undertake counter fraud 
work they too must be trained in this area. 

 c The counter fraud team has adequate knowledge in all 
areas of the local authority or is trained in these areas. 

 c The counter fraud team has access (through partnership/
other local authorities/or funds to buy in) to specialist 
staff for: 

– surveillance 

– computer forensics

 – asset recovery 

– financial investigations. 

 c Weaknesses revealed by instances of proven fraud 
and corruption are scrutinised carefully and fed back 
to departments to fraud proof systems.

Good Practice Bank

Visit: www.cipfa.org/fightingfraudlocally to register 
for free access to the Fighting Fraud and Corruption 
Locally online resources.

Sharing your good practice

Email: counterfraudcentre@cipfa.org to share your 
examples of recent prosecutions, campaigns or tactics 
with other local authorities via the Good Practice Bank.

Supported by:

CIPFA COUNTER 
FRAUD CENTRE

CIPFA COUNTER 
FRAUD CENTRE

234



Summary Report 2017

fraud and
 corruption tracker

235



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 2

Contents
3 Foreword 

5 Introduction

8 Recommendations 

9 Main Types of Fraud

 – Council tax 

 – Housing 

 – Disabled parking (Blue Badge)

 – Adult social care

13 Other Types of Fraud

 – Business rates

 – Insurance

 – Procurement 

 – Welfare assistance and no recourse to public funds 

 – Payroll, expenses, recruitment and pensions

 – Economic and voluntary sector (grant fraud)

 – Manipulation of data (financial or non-financial) and mandate fraud 

16 Serious and Organised Crime

16 Whistleblowing

17 Counter Fraud Resources 

18 Sanctions 

19 Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 

20 Acknowledgements

21 Appendix 1: Estimates and Fraud Types 

22 Appendix 2: Research Methodology

236



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 3

Foreword
Public sector organisations around the UK are clearly committed to fighting fraud and corruption. Through the 
implementation of initiatives and collaboration with new partners, the public sector understands the importance of 
counter fraud activity and the contribution it makes to organisations’ resilience. The success of counter fraud activities is 
more than about saving money but covers both the reputational and moral risk for an organisation.  

The CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker (CFaCT) survey is part of that story and provides a picture of fraudulent activity in 
local government and identifies actions that are being taken to combat it. 

Supported by organisations such as the National Audit Office (NAO), the National Crime Agency (NCA) and the Local 
Government Association (LGA), CIPFA draws on the expertise of those within the profession to deliver this annual survey 
which enables practitioners to focus on trends and emerging risks.

Understanding emerging risks allows authorities to develop appropriate strategies and deploy adequate resources to 
support the fight against fraud and corruption. This year’s survey has shown that adult social care fraud has evolved from 
an emerging risk to one with which many local authorities are now actively engaged.

This report, which summarises the findings of the most recent CFaCT, not only raises awareness of fraud prevention, 
detection and deterrence across local government, but  will also enable organisations from across the wider public sector 
to benchmark their responsiveness against others facing similar risks. 

This report will:

 � help organisations understand where fraud losses could be occurring 

 � provide a guide to the value of detected and prevented fraud loss

 � help senior leaders understand the value of counter fraud activity

 � assist operational staff to develop pro-active counter fraud plans.

 
The survey was supported by: 

237



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 4

The CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre 
The CIPFA Counter Fraud Centre (CCFC), launched in July 2014, was created to fill the gap in the UK counter fraud arena 
following the closure of the National Fraud Authority (NFA) and the Audit Commission, and the subsequent transfer of 
benefit investigations to the Single Fraud Investigation Service (SFIS), run by the Department for Work and Pensions 
(DWP). The CCFC leads and co-ordinates the fight against fraud and corruption across public services by providing a one-
stop-shop for thought leadership, counter fraud tools, resources and training.

CIPFA COUNTER 
FRAUD CENTRE

238



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 5

Introduction
CIPFA recognises that each pound lost to fraud represents a loss to the public purse and reduces 
the ability of the public sector to provide services to people who need them. According to the 
Annual Fraud Indicator 2013, which provides the last set of government sanctioned estimates, 
fraud costs the public sector at least £20.6bn annually and of this total, £2.1bn is specifically in 
local government.

Fraud continues to pose a major financial threat to local 
authorities and working with partners such as the LGA 
and the Home Office, we are seeing an emerging picture 
of resilience and innovation within a sector that is aware 
of the difficulties it faces and is finding solutions to 
the challenges. 

The third CFaCT was carried out in May 2017 and 
provides a national picture of fraud, bribery and 
corruption in local government. It also shows how the 
sector is dealing with the challenges and helps identify 
the actions that the sector needs to take to reduce the 
threat posed by fraudulent activity.

The CFaCT draws on the experience of practitioners 
and the support and expertise of key stakeholders to 
show the changing shape of the fraud landscape. It 
received a spread of results from across all regions 
and local authorities, enabling us to estimate the total 
figures for fraud across English, Welsh and Scottish 
local authorities.

Response Rate

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

OtherDistrictsUnitaryMetsLondonCounties

CIPFA estimates that across local authorities more 
than 75,000 frauds have been detected or prevented in 
2016/17 with a total value of £336.2m. The number of 
fraud cases investigated or prevented dropped in 2017, 
but the average value per fraud increased from £3,400 to 
£4,500; the reason for this could be that local authorities 
are focusing on cases with a higher financial value. 

The CFaCT also revealed the following:

 � procurement, adult social care and council tax single 
person discount are perceived as the three greatest 
fraud risk areas 

 � adult social care fraud has shown the largest 
growth in the past year, with an estimated £5.6m 
investigated compared with £3.0m in 2016

 � the highest number of investigations related to 
council tax fraud (76%) with a value of £25.5m

 � the highest value area of fraud is housing with an 
estimated total of £263.4m

 � 38% of organisations who responded have a 
dedicated counter fraud service. 

 

239



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 6

Estimated value of fraud detected

Detected fraud by estimated volume

Housing frauds
£263.4m

Council tax frauds
£25.5m

Business rates
£7m

No recourse to public funds
£6.9m

Other types of fraud
£33.4m

Council tax frauds
76%

Disabled parking concession
8%

Business rates
1%

Housing frauds 
8%

Other types of fraud
7%

240



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 7

Cyber crime has a high profile in the media and poses 
a growing challenge to a sector becoming more digital 
in terms of service delivery. The threat calls on the 
shared expertise of fraud and IT teams and it is often 
unclear who holds responsibility. Respondents to 
the CFaCT 2017 reported that only three fraud teams 
(2.3%) were responsible for cyber risk, whereas 106 
(80%) reported that IT or the chief information officer 
held responsibility.

When we started the survey in 2014, three quarters of 
respondents told us that cyber risk was not included in 
the corporate plan. This year we see that over half the 
respondents had carried out a cyber risk assessment in 
the previous 12 months.

A number of themes and challenges have emerged over 
the three years that CIPFA has carried out this survey, 
and these include the following:

 � housing has the highest value of all fraud types

 � council tax fraud has seen the highest volume 
of cases

 � local authorities benefit from looking forward, 
preparing for and understanding emerging risks in 
order to find effective solutions 

 � barriers to effective data sharing have consistently 
been stated as impacting on fraud prevention 
and investigation

 � insufficient capacity and a lack of effective fraud risk 
assessment have proved to be challenges.

In the past three years fraud teams have operated 
within increasingly restricted budgets while the frauds 
they look to uncover become more sophisticated. From 
the figures and responses in the report, fraud teams 
are responding with positivity and a professional 
commitment to these challenges. The CFaCT shows that 
the sector is focusing on certain fraud areas, combining 
skills and resources and developing shared services. 

This report highlights:   

 � the types of fraud as identified in the CFaCT 2017

 � how the fraud and corruption landscape is changing

 � what monetary value is lost through fraudulent 
activity

 � how counter fraud activity and prevention improves 
the public sector budget

 � what threats and risks are emerging 

 � what is being done to prevent fraud.   

241



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 8

Recommendations
CIPFA recommends that organisations:

 � ensure that cyber security is integral to any new 
strategy or policy decision, reflecting the National 
Cyber Security Strategy 2016 to 2021

 � continue to be vigilant and raise awareness of fraud 
within adult social care

 � have a strong counter fraud leadership that 
understands the importance of involving counter 
fraud practitioners when devising policy and strategy

 � continue to maximise opportunities to share data 
and to explore innovative use of data within the law

 � communicate clearly both internally and externally 
the role of the fraud team and the importance of the 
role for both financial and reputational benefit.

242



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 9

Main Types of Fraud 
CIPFA has identified the main types of fraud based on the volume of investigations or the value 
of the financial loss. According to the survey results there are four main areas:

1. council tax 

2. housing 

3. disabled parking (Blue Badge)

4. adult social care.

Council tax
Council tax fraud has always been the largest reported 
issue and this is the same in 2017. Council tax is levied 
on domestic properties and collected by district and 
unitary authorities in England and Wales and levying 
authorities in Scotland. As the revenue forms part of the 
income for local authorities, there is a clear correlation 
between council tax fraud and a reduction in the 
available budget.

Council tax fraud is split into three areas: 

1. council tax single person discount (SPD) – eg where 
the council tax payer falsely claims to be an eligible 
single occupier

2. council tax reduction (CTR) support – eg where the 
council tax payer falsifies household income to 
qualify for support

3. other types of council tax fraud – eg claims for 
exemptions or discounts to which the council tax 
payer has no entitlement.

Traditionally an area of high volume/low value, council 
tax represents the highest number of fraud cases 
reported by local authorities (76%). However, the total 
value of the fraud, estimated at £25.5m, only accounts 
for 7.6% of the estimated value of all detected fraud. 

Estimated council tax fraud 

Volume Value

SPD 50,136 £19.5m

CTR 6,326 £4.8m

Other 674 £1.1m

Total 57,136 £25.5m

When asked about the perceived highest fraud risk areas, 
SPD was third behind procurement and adult social care. 

2
Procurement

£
£

£

3
Single person discount

1
Adult social care

Perceived highest risk areas

243



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 10

Housing and tenancy fraud
Housing and tenancy fraud takes a number of 
forms including: 

 � illegal subletting for profit

 � providing false information to gain a tenancy

 � wrongful tenancy assignment and succession

 � failing to use the property as the principal home

 � right to buy fraud, for example where circumstances 
have been misrepresented to qualify for a discount.

Housing is expensive in many parts of the country, the 
South East in particular, and therefore a low number of 
cases produces a high value in terms of fraud. However, 
councils record the income lost to housing fraud 
according to different values, ranging from a notional 
cost of replacing a property to the average cost for 
keeping a family in bed and breakfast accommodation 
for a year. The National Fraud Initiative (NFI) has 
historically used a figure of £18,000 to reflect the cost 
of homeless accommodation over one year, however, 
this year the NFI has increased that notional figure 
to £93,000. 

The lack of a standard approach makes valuing housing 
fraud difficult and the approaches vary not only between 
regions but also between councils. To give some idea of 
the growth in this area this report has taken the cases 
reported over the last two years and estimated a figure 
for all local authorities. Using this methodology, the 
estimated total value of housing fraud is £263.4m. The 
number of cases of right to buy fraud has fallen since the 
2016 survey but the value has risen to £112m. 

Right to buy is the scheme that allows tenants who have 
lived in their properties for a qualifying period the right 
to purchase the property at a discount. As housing has 
become increasingly expensive, especially in London, 
the value of this type of fraud has seen a rapid increase. 
The loss is higher in London than in other parts of the 
country, with an average value per case of £97,000 
against £81,000 for the rest of the UK. 

Estimated housing fraud 

Type of fraud Volume Value

Right to buy 1,284 £111.6m

Illegal subletting 1,829 £78.5m

Other* 2,825 £73.3m

Total 5,938 £263.4m

*Other includes tenancy frauds that are neither right to buy 
nor illegal subletting, and may include succession fraud and 
false applications.

1,284
the estimated number of  

right to buy cases investigated  
or prevented during 2016/17

£263.4m: 

the estimated total value of housing 
fraud investigated during 2016/17

£111.6m
Right to buy

Sublet

Other

£78.5m

£73.3m

Estimated housing fraud

244



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 11

Disabled parking (Blue Badge) 
The Blue Badge is a Europe-wide permit scheme 
that gives parking concessions to people with sight 
impairments or severe walking difficulties. It is locally 
administered and allows permit holders to park nearer 
to their destination. Fraud from the misuse of the Blue 
Badge has decreased since we started the survey. In 
2015/16 the estimated number of cases was 7,078, and 
in 2016/17 this decreased dramatically to 5,751. 

There is no standard way to calculate the value of this 
type of fraud and some authorities, for example in 
London, place a higher value on the loss than others and 
invest in more counter fraud resource.

The cost of parking in London results in a higher value to 
case ratio. From the survey responses we estimate a total 
of 1,396 cases for London authorities with a total loss 
value of £3.0m, whereas the estimate for the rest of the 

UK is 4,355 cases with a total value less than half that of 
London at £1.4m.  

In the event that Blue Badge misuse is identified, it is 
often prosecuted and the individual is fined (which is 
paid to the court). Costs are awarded to the prosecuting 
authority but these may not meet the full cost of the 
investigation and prosecution. It is possible that because 
costs may not be fully redeemed, authorities have 
little incentive to focus attention on this fraud type. 
Prosecution, where successful, may serve as a warning 
and a reflection of public interest.

Estimated Blue Badge fraud 

Volume Value

5,751 £4.3m

Blue Badge prosecution

After an investigation by Warrington Borough Council’s counter fraud team, the council prosecuted a resident 
for using a Blue Badge which did not belong to him, and had in fact expired, to park in designated disabled 
parking spaces. 

The court fined the man £69 in respect of four offences, charged him a victim surcharge of £30, £120 in penalty 
charge notices and ordered him to pay £100 in court costs.

This case illustrates that any money returned to the council would not be sufficient to cover the investigation and 
prosecution costs, but taking the case to court would serve to raise awareness and potentially deter others. 

 
 

£3m
London

£1.4m
rest of the UK

Value of Blue Badge fraud
in London v rest of UK

245



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 12

Adult social care
There has been a rise in the number of fraud cases 
identified in adult social care and the value of the loss 
has started to increase. This is a trend that we have 
seen emerging over the last few surveys. In 2015/16 the 
average value of loss specifically for adult social care was 
below £10,000 but in 2016/17 we see a rise in value to 
around £13,000.

Adult social care fraud can happen in a number of ways 
but the increase in personal budgets gives a greater 
opportunity for misuse. 

Investigations cover cases where:

 � direct payments were not being used to pay for the 
care of the vulnerable adult

 � care workers were claiming money for time they 
had not worked or were spending the allocated 
budget inappropriately.

Over the past few years many local authorities have 
funded training and introduced robust controls to 
mitigate the risk of fraud within personal budgets. 

This year’s survey also highlighted the links between 
adult social care fraud and insider fraud. Five percent 
of adult social care frauds investigated by respondents 
involved an authority employee.

Estimated adult social care fraud

Type of fraud Volume Value

Adult social care  
personal budget

264 £2.8m

Adult social care (other)* 182 £2.8m

Total 446 £5.6m

*Other includes internal fraud or identity fraud.

Fraud by abuse of position

The counter fraud team at Essex County Council was contacted by a social worker who, after conducting a routine 
monitoring review, considered that the service user (Ms B) may be paying a relative living at the same address to 
provide support for her care needs. This had not been agreed by the service area, and was contrary to council policy 
on employment of personal assistants.

The team identified that Ms B, who was also a social worker employed by the council, had not been paying a carer for 
many years. Ms B had been receiving direct payments to cover care needs since 2002 and had submitted quarterly 
returns to evidence spend but this had stopped in 2007, despite being chased. At interview, Ms B advised that she 
had not spent the direct payment since 2007 but would not provide bank statements to evidence this. Payments 
from Essex County Council from April 2007 to the date of the suspension amounted to nearly £47,000. 

Ms B had just sold her house and was in the process of buying another property. A cheque was returned to the council 
for £46,887.90.

Ms B was dismissed from the council following disciplinary procedures and the case was referred to the Health 
Care and Professions Council (HCPC). An HCPC hearing resulted in a caution being placed on her registration for 
three years.

The case was also referred to Essex Police, who confirmed that Ms B had regularly used the direct payment as 
her personal monies. As a result Ms B was charged with theft of £46,887.90 and pleaded guilty to the charge. She 
received a suspended 16 month sentence, costs of £340 and a six month curfew.

246



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 13

Other Types of Fraud
Fraud covers a substantial number of areas and within organisations these vary in importance. 
This part of the report looks at the responses to some of these that did not appear as major 
types of fraud within the national picture but are important to individual organisations. Our 
results looked at the following fraud types in this category:

 � business rates

 � insurance

 � procurement 

 � welfare assistance and no recourse to public funds

 � payroll, expenses, recruitment and pensions

 � economic and voluntary sector (grant fraud)

 � manipulation of data (financial or non-financial) and mandate fraud. 

Business rates 
Business rates have received considerable publicity and 
are a key cost for those who have to pay the tax. There is 
also the political sensitivity felt by politicians wanting 
to maximise an environment for economic growth and 
business development.

Business rate fraud is not a transparent landscape for the 
fraud investigator, with legislation making it difficult to 
differentiate between evasion and avoidance. Business 
rate fraud can include the falsification of circumstances 
to gain exemptions and discounts. 

Business rates represented 0.5% of the total number 
of frauds reported in 2015/16 and had risen to 0.9% in 
2016/17. The estimated total value of the fraud loss has 
increased from £4.8m in 2015/16 to £7.0m in 2016/17. 

Estimated business rate fraud 

Volume Value

662 £7.0m

Insurance fraud 
This fraud includes any false insurance claim made 
against an organisation or an organisation’s insurers. 
Within the insurance fraud category, there were six cases 
of organised crime. 

Authorities should ensure that counter fraud measures 
within their own insurance claims processes are fit for 
purpose and that there is a clear route for investigation 
into alleged frauds.

The total estimated value of loss in 2016/17 is £5.1m 
– a decrease from £7.0m in 2015/16. The number of 
frauds detected or prevented fell but the average value 
increased to £13,800.

Considerable work has been done in the area of 
insurance fraud and insurance companies are working 
with organisations to develop new ways to identify fraud 
and abuse within the system. 

Estimated insurance claim fraud 

Volume Value

371 £5.1m

247



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 14

Procurement fraud
Procurement fraud can occur throughout the 
procurement cycle, from purchasing through to the 
service delivered and payments. In last year’s survey 
procurement was perceived as one of the greatest fraud 
risks, with housing procurement being of particular 
concern. The number of procurement fraud cases 
reported in 2015/16 was five times more than in 2014/15.

In 2016/17 there were an estimated 197 prevented 
or detected frauds with an estimated value of £6.2m, 
compared with 427 cases in 2015/16 with a total value 
of £5.7m; this drop in the number of cases but increase 
in value could indicate that higher level frauds are being 
discovered. However, procurement fraud takes place 
in a constantly changing environment and can occur 
anywhere throughout the procurement cycle. There 
can be sizeable difficulties in measuring the value of 
procurement fraud since it is seldom the total value of 
the contract but an element of the contract involved. The 
value of the loss, especially post award, can be as hard to 
measure but equally significant.

Estimates suggest that nearly 40% of all fraud 
committed against local authorities concerns abuse 
of the procurement cycle.1 The London Borough of 
Hackney’s innovative approach to this problem was to 
create a multifaceted and specialist procurement team 
within the audit and anti-fraud division. This has allowed 
the authority to carry out complex and often lengthy 
investigations which have resulted in cost savings as well 
as greater assurance across the organisation. 

The Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally Strategy 
2016–2019 recommends that organisations create a 
procurement fraud map and define the stages at which 
procurement fraud can happen in a local authority. This 
would highlight low, medium and high potential risks 
and inform risk awareness training for the future.

The Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) is working 
with the public sector to identify areas of higher risk 
within procurement. The CMA has produced a free online 
tool that studies the data fed in against bidder behaviour 
and price patterns. It then flags areas where fraud could 
be a possibility and should be investigated. 

Estimated procurement fraud 

Volume Value

197 £6.2m

For more information see also Managing the Risk of 
Procurement Fraud (CIPFA/LGA, 2015).

 
Welfare assistance and no recourse to 
public funds 
Local welfare assistance was set up to help the poorest 
residents to deal with short-term costs caused by fire, 
flood or injury. The assistance is not a statutory duty 
and with money being limited many authorities have 
cut the service dramatically or dropped it completely. 
Awards are discretionary and may come as either a crisis 
payment or some form of support payment. 

In 2016, the estimated number of cases was 610 but this 
has declined in the past year to an estimated 103.   

While ‘no recourse to public funds’ fraud presents a 
significant fraud risk to local authorities, it is primarily 
to be found in London, southeast England and larger 
metropolitan boroughs. London had 90% of reported 
cases in this year’s survey. This type of fraud includes 
claimants using false documents to obtain benefits. 

Over the past 12 months the number of cases in this 
area has increased, rising from 255 in 2015/16 to 342 
in 2016/17. However, the average value of the fraud has 
fallen to £20,000, resulting in an overall decrease in total 
loss from £8.2m to £6.9m.

Estimated fraud in welfare assistance and no 
recourse to public funds 

Type of fraud Volume Value

Welfare assistance 103 £0.3m

No recourse to 
public funds

342 £6.9m

 
 

342
Number of cases

No recourse to public funds

£20,000
Average value

1 www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/managing-risk-procurement-13a.pdf

248



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 15

Economic and voluntary sector 
(grant fraud)
This type of fraud relates to the false application or 
payment of grants or financial support to any person and 
any type of agency or organisation. As funds become 
more limited for this type of support it is even more 
important for fraud teams to be aware of the risks within 
this area. 

Although only 17 actual cases of grant fraud were 
reported in the 2017 survey, the average value of loss 
was £39,000 per fraud. 

 
Payroll, expenses, recruitment 
and pensions
If we combine all the estimated results for these 
four areas the total value of the fraud loss is an 
estimated £2.1m. 

It can be very difficult, however, to measure the cost of 
these frauds because the implications for some do not 
necessarily carry a monetary value, such as reputational 
damage or investigating the motives behind the fraud. 
As a result some organisations can be less keen to 
investigate or report investigations in these areas. 

Employees and those working inside an authority can 
abuse council processes for financial gain. Respondents 
reported that 40% of payroll fraud cases investigated or 
prevented during the year involved insider fraud.

Recruitment fraud is an interesting area and often one 
where it is difficult to establish a value of fraud loss. It 
would be impossible to put a price on the damage that 
could be inflicted on an organisation if it were to employ 
a member of staff who had falsified their qualifications. 
Without a strong risk assessment and additional 
investigation, an appointment may be made that would 
have considerable adverse implications.

 
40%  
of payroll cases involved 
insider fraud

Estimated payroll, expenses, recruitment and 
pension fraud

Type of fraud Volume Value

Payroll 248 £1.0m

Expenses 75 £0.1m

Recruitment 46 £0.2m

Pension 228 £0.8m

Total 597 £2.1m

Manipulation of data (financial or  
non-financial) and mandate fraud 
The fraud most commonly carried out within the 
manipulation of data category relates to employees 
changing data in order to show a better performance 
than actually occurred or staff taking data from 
the organisation.

Action Fraud states that:

Mandate fraud is when someone gets you to change a 
direct debit, standing order or bank transfer mandate, 
by purporting to be an organisation you make regular 
payments to, for example a subscription or membership 
organisation or your business supplier.

CIPFA estimates that across the UK manipulation of data 
fraud has more than doubled from 24 in 2015/16 to 57 in 
2016/17. Mandate fraud has also increased from 188 in 
2015/16 to 325 in 2016/17. 

Procedures must be in place to ensure that staff are 
aware of this type of fraud and act accordingly by 
checking information. Advice from organisations such as 
Action Fraud can help to ensure that the risk is reduced, 
but from the results of our survey organisations are 
clearly still experiencing loss. Removing data may not 
result in financial loss but can result in reputational 
damage. Mandate fraud may also not be reported 
because of reputational repercussions.

90% 

the percentage of respondents who 
have a counter fraud plan in place

249



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 16

Serious and organised crime
This year’s survey again included a question (requested by the Home Office) on serious and 
organised crime in order to help establish how it is being tackled by local authorities. 

Organised crime groups are often involved in 
complicated and large-scale fraudulent activities which 
cross more than one boundary. Such activities demand 
considerable resources to investigate and require 
organisations to co-operate in order to successfully bring 
criminals to justice.

The CFaCT 2017 identified 26 cases of serious and 
organised crime, and the responses indicate that 
organisations share a great deal of data both internally 
and externally. In addition, of the organisations that 
responded, 23% identified serious and organised crime 
risks within their organisation’s risk register.

91% 
the percentage of respondents 
who share data externally

Whistleblowing
Whistleblowing was strongly evidenced again this year, with 60% of organisations surveyed 
saying that they annually reviewed their whistleblowing arrangements in line with the 
PAS 1998:2008 Whistleblowing Arrangements Code of Practice. 

Of those questioned 85% confirmed that staff and the 
public had access to a helpdesk and 72% said that the 
helpline conformed to the PAS 1998:2008.

Respondents reported a total of 686 whistleblowing 
cases, made in line with PAS 1998:2008. This represents 
disclosures in all areas, not just with regard to suspected 
fraudulent behaviours. Effective whistleblowing allows 

staff or the public to raise concerns about a criminal 
offence, miscarriage of justice or dangers to health 
and safety in a structured and defined way. It can 
enable teams to uncover significant frauds that may 
otherwise have gone undiscovered. Organisations should 
therefore ensure that whistleblowing processes are 
reviewed regularly.

250



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 17

Counter Fraud Resources 
Increased delivery with reduced resources is the context in which fraud teams are operating. 
It is therefore unsurprising that the proportion using a shared service has increased from 10% 
to 14%. This approach has gained popularity in some areas as a method of allowing smaller 
organisations to provide a service that is both resilient and cost effective. 

For those organisations that are not opting to run shared 
services, the CFaCT 2017 showed a flatlining of counter 
fraud staff resources until 2019. This position would 
appear to be a change of intention from 2015, when some 
respondents had hoped to increase their staff numbers. 
We did however see a slight increase in the number of 
organisations which have qualified financial investigators 
available in-house, from 27% in 2016 to 34% in 2017, but 
fraud services continue to be stretched. 

Hertfordshire shared counter fraud service 

In 2015, six councils in Hertfordshire, including the county council, established a shared service to improve the 
prevention of fraud and corruption. At the centre of the plan was the requirement to have a more robust and resilient 
service where data was exchanged and best practice shared. The commercial nature of the service also required a 
return on investment and the opportunity to create new income streams. 

The combined service has provided flexibility and a significant return on investment for those involved, and the 
reduction in duplication across common policy approaches has resulted in a more efficient use of resources.  

While it is not essential for all organisations to have 
a dedicated counter fraud function, CIPFA continues 
to reinforce the importance of organisations having 
a fraud response plan that enables allegations of 
fraud to be investigated effectively by skilled and 
professional investigators.

251



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 18

Sanctions
The CFaCT 2017 allows us to explore the sanctions being used and indicates the following: 

 � 614 prosecutions were completed in 2016/17, and of the prosecutions, 22 involved insider  
 fraud – all 22 cases were found guilty

 � there was an average of four prosecutions per survey respondent

 � the share of other sanctions used increased from 45% to 53% from 2016 to 2017

 � the share of cautions as a proportion of all sanctions dropped from 22% to 9% between   
 2016 and 2017.

Outcome of sanctions

Prosecutions
26%

Cautions
9%

Other 
sanctions 
53%

Disciplinary
outcomes

12%

The chart indicates that:

 � prosecutions include both in-house and 
CPS prosecutions

 � cautions relate to a verbal warning given in 
circumstances where there is enough evidence to 
prosecute, but it is felt that it is not in the public 
interest to do so in that instance

 � disciplinary outcomes relate to the number of 
instances where as a result of an investigation 
by a fraud team disciplinary action is 
undertaken, or where a subject resigns during the 
disciplinary process

 � other sanctions include the imposition of fines or 
other penalties by the organisation.

252



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 19

Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally
The Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally Strategy 2016–2019 (FFCL) was developed by local 
authorities and counter fraud experts and is the definitive guide for local authority leaders, chief 
executives, finance directors and all those with governance responsibilities. 

The strategy is available for councils to use freely so 
that everyone can benefit from shared good practice. 
It provides advice on how to lead and communicate 
counter fraud and corruption activity for the greatest 
impact as well as covering resource management and 
investment in counter fraud operations. 

As in previous surveys, the FFCL Board put forward 
specific statements to be included to help measure the 
effectiveness of the initiatives in the strategy and the 
responses are reflected in the diagram below. The more 
confident respondants are about the way fraud is dealt 
with in their organisation the higher they marked the 
statement, low scores are at the centre of the diagram.

Counter fraud controls by country

(a) New policies
and initiatives

(h) Staff

(g) Training

(f) Sanctions

(e) Counter fraud activity

(d) Counter fraud plan

(b) Continual review

(c) Fraud recording 
and reporting

England Scotland Wales

Over the past three years, local authorities have 
identified capacity, data sharing and fraud risk 
management as issues that need to be addressed in 
order to effectively tackle fraud and corruption. The 
FFCL’s 34-point checklist is a good starting point as 
it provides a comprehensive framework to address 
these concerns.

The FFCL Strategy recommends that:

There is an annual fraud plan which is agreed by 
committee and reflects resources mapped to risks and 
arrangements for reporting outcomes. This plan covers 
all areas of the local authority’s business and includes 
activities undertaken by contractors and third parties or 
voluntary sector activities.

By producing a plan and having resources that are 
agreed by the leadership team, management is able 
to see gaps in capacity and identify areas of risk which 
enables them to make effective strategic decisions. 

In fact, an area of improvement has been the rise in 
organisations that have a counter fraud and corruption 
plan. Last year, 11% did not have a plan or did not know 
if they had one, and only 62% had the plan approved in 
the last 12 months. Of those who responded to this year’s 
survey, 90% have a counter fraud and corruption plan 
in place (10% did not know) and 74% had carried out a 
corporate fraud assessment in the last 12 months. Some 
respondents reported that an assessment was pending. 

When did you last have your counter fraud and 
corruption plan approved?

2016/17 
59%

Don’t know
10%

2014/15
1%

2015/16
23%

Earlier
7%

253



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 20

Acknowledgements
CIPFA would like to thank all the organisations that completed the survey along with those that 
helped by distributing the survey or contributing case studies, including:

 � Association of Local Authority Treasurers

 � FFCL board 

 � Gary Coote, London Borough of Hillingdon

 � Home Office 

 � Kate Bridge, Competition and Markets Authority

 � Luan Quirke, Wirral Council

 � Local Government Association

 � Nick Jennings, Hertfordshire County Council

 � Patrick Saunders-Wright, London Borough of Hackney 

 � Peter Tanton, Essex County Council

 � Public Concern at Work

 � Solace

254



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 21

Appendix 1: Estimates and Fraud Types 
The table below shows the types of fraud reported in the survey, the estimated number of 
cases reported during 2016/17 and an estimate of the total value of these fraud cases. The 
methodology used in the estimation is described in Appendix 2. 

Types of fraud Fraud cases Value Average

Council tax 57,136 £25.5m £400

Housing 5,939 £263.4m £44,300

Disabled parking concession (Blue Badge) 5,751 £4.3m £800

Business rates 662 £7.0m £10,600

Adult social care 446 £5.6m £12,500

Insurance claims 371 £5.1m £13,800

No recourse to public funds 342 £6.9m £20,200

Mandate 325 £1.7m £5,200

Schools (excluding transport) 258 £0.5m £2,000 

Payroll 248 £1.0m £4,100

Pensions 228 £0.8m £3,400

Procurement 197 £6.2m £31,300

Debt 142 £0.3m £2,400

Welfare assistance 103 £0.3m £3,000

Expenses 75 £0.1m £1,900

Children’s social care 59 £0.8m £13,800

Manipulation of data 57 na na

Recruitment 46 £0.2m £3,700

Economic and voluntary sector support 39 £1.5m £38,800

School transport 19 £0.2m £12,300

Investments 0 £0.0m na

Other 2,768 £4.7m £1,700

Total 75,212 £336.2m £4,500

255



CIPFA Fraud and Corruption Tracker Survey Report 2017 22

Appendix 2: Research Methodology
This year’s CFaCT results are based on responses from 133 English, Welsh and Scottish local 
authorities. With this response rate, we are able to calculate an estimated total volume and 
value of fraud for all local authorities in England, Wales and Scotland. 

For all non-responding authorities, missing values are 
calculated according to the size of the authority. For 
each type of fraud, an appropriate measure of authority 
size applicable to that authority has been selected. 
For example, local authority housing stock is used as 
the basis for the estimation of housing frauds. From 
the responses, the number of cases per unit of the size 
measure is calculated and used to estimate the missing 
values. Then, for each missing authority, the estimated 
number of cases is multiplied by the average value 
per case provided by respondents to give an estimated 
total value. 

As an illustration, if the number of housing frauds per 
house is 0.01 and a missing authority has 1,000 houses 
in its housing stock, we estimate the number of frauds 
as 10. If the average value per case is £100,000, then 
the total estimated value of fraud for that authority is 
£1.0m. The figures that are presented in this report are 
estimated according to this methodology. The 2015/16 
estimates have also been restated for the purpose 
of comparison.

256



2017/10

Registered office: 
77 Mansell Street, London E1 8AN 

T: +44 (0)20 7543 5600  F: +44 (0)20 7543 5700 
www.cipfa.org

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.  
Registered with the Charity Commissioners of England and Wales No 231060

257



This page is intentionally left blank

258



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 12

26 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Fiona McMillan, Interim Director of Law and Governance
Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Seaton, Cabinet Member Resources

Contact Officer(s): Dan Kalley, Senior Democratic Services Officer Tel. 296334

ANNUAL AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Fiona McMillan, Interim Director Law and 
Governance

Deadline date: N/A

     It is recommended that Audit Committee approve the draft Annual Audit Committee Report for 
submission to Council as shown in Appendix 1.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to Audit Committee in line with the agreed Work Programme for the 
Municipal Year 2017 / 2018.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The Audit Committee has been in operation since Annual Council in May 2006 (first meeting 
June 2006). The Committee has a wide ranging remit that underpins the Council's        

governance processes by providing independent challenge and assurance of the 
adequacy    of risk management, internal control including internal audit, anti-fraud and the 
financial reporting framework. These are shown in its terms of reference.

2.2 This report is for the Audit Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 2.2.1.16

To consider the Council’s arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing necessary 
actions to ensure compliance with best practice.

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 The attached Draft Annual Report has been produced (Appendix 1). The report shows:

● Background to the Committee, its roles, responsibilities and membership;

● An overview and coverage of its remit including Internal Audit, Accounts and Financial 
Management, External Audit, Risk Management, Control Assurance, Corporate Governance, 

259



and Fraud and Irregularities; and

● Training provided to ensure that suitable challenge and scrutiny is adopted.

4.2 Members are advised that following the conclusion of this meeting the items discussed will be 
included in the Annual Report for completeness.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 None required

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 Publication of the report will enable the public to gain an insight into the role of the Committee 
and will ensure that the Committee can continue to progress and develop in the future. The City 
Council continues to evolve its Audit Committee in line with best practice to provide effective 
challenge to the governance arrangements adopted.

6.2 Subject to approval by Audit Committee, it is intended to present the report to Council for noting 
as part of the Committee’s annual update in order to demonstrate the work carried out to improve 
the governance arrangements across the Council.

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 To seek endorsement from Members that the Committee is delivering against its terms of 
reference and provided effective challenge to the organisation

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 None

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 None.

Legal Implications

9.2 None

Equalities Implications

9.3 None

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 The Councils Constitution

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
11. APPENDICES

11.1 Appendix A - Draft Audit Committee Annual Report

260



APPENDIX 1

(DRAFT) ANNUAL REPORT FROM
THE CHAIRMAN OF AUDIT COMMITTEE

2017 / 2018

Assurance

Governance

Accountability

Risk Management

Independence

261



AUDIT COMMITTEE: ANNUAL REPORT 2017 / 2018

INTRODUCTION

MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS

KEY ACTIVITIES AND TRAINING DURING THE MUNICIPAL YEAR

PLANS FOR 2018 / 2019

262



FOREWORD FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF AUDIT COMMITTEE

I am pleased to provide the Audit Committee's Annual Report for the municipal year 2017 / 2018.  The Council 
is requested to note the work carried out by the Audit Committee in improving the governance arrangements 
across the Council. 

The report shows how the Audit Committee has continued to make a positive contribution to the Council's 
governance and control environments. These cover all aspects, such as internal control; risk management; 
internal audit; anti-fraud; external audit; and financial reporting. In addition, it also covers the remit of 
Member standards.

I would like to take this opportunity to give thanks to Committee Members and Officers for their contribution 
in supporting the Audit Committee’s work during the year and my role as Chairman. Audit Committee 
Members have supported and challenged officers to ensure our risk, control and governance processes are 
effective and transparent. Officers have presented well-prepared reports and taken on suggestions to make 
sure the benefits of this Committee are passed onto our citizens. 

Going forward, 2018 / 2019 will be a testing time for all Councils with the resources available becoming more 
important. How we risk manage our priorities, resources and partnerships will be vital, notwithstanding the 
risk of fraud. The Audit Committee holds a unique position to challenge and scrutinise the activities of the 
Council, with the support of Officers and my fellow Councillors, long may this continue. 

INTRODUCTION

This is the 10th annual report produced by Peterborough City Council's Audit Committee. It is produced in 
accordance with latest best practice1 and shows that the Council is committed to working as an exemplary 
organisation, operating the highest standards of governance. This report demonstrates how the Audit 
Committee has successfully fulfilled its terms of reference and has endeavoured to improve the Council's 
governance and control environments.

The Audit Committee was established by the City Council at its meeting in May 2006. Following its first year 
of operation, the membership was reduced from 10 to 7 members.  The Membership had increased to 8 in 
2015/16, but has since reduced from 2016/17 to 7.

The purpose of the Audit Committee is to provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk 
management framework and the associated control environment, independent scrutiny of the authority's 
financial and non-financial performance to the extent that it affects the Authority's exposure to risks and 
weakens the control environment, and to oversee the financial reporting process.

The key benefits of an Audit Committee can be seen as:

● Raising greater awareness of the need for internal control and the implementation of both internal 
and external audit recommendations;

● Increasing public confidence in the objectivity and fairness of financial and other reporting;
● Reinforcing the importance and independence of internal and external audit and similar review 

processes; and
● Providing additional assurance through a process of independent and objective review.

The Terms of Reference for the Audit Committee can be found at Annex A of this report.

1 Best practice as contained in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) document "A Toolkit 
for Local Authority Audit Committees"

263



This report sets out the work undertaken by the Audit Committee for 2017 / 2018 and specifically highlights 
those areas where its scrutiny and review process has made a difference to performance. The Audit 
Committee has overseen good progress in all areas under its supervision.

Audit Committee members have had the opportunity to attend the Ernst & Young training conferences 
offered to Audit Committee Members across the East of England region.

MEMBERSHIP AND MEETINGS

During 2016 / 2017, the Audit Committee met on the following dates:

● 26 June 2017
● 25 September 2017 
● 20 November 2017
● 12 February 2018
● 26 March 2018

There is a cross representation of all parties in accordance with the make-up of the Council. The members 
for 2017 / 2018 were (excluding substitutes):
Table 1: Audit Committee Membership 2017 / 2018 as at 26 March 2018:

Conservative Peterborough 
Independent Forum

Liberal Democrats Labour

Aitken (Chair)
Over (Vice Chair)
Bull

Sharp Shaheed S Nawaz
Mahabadi

Senior officers from the Council are also present, including the Interim Director of Law and Governance, 
Interim Corporate Director Resources, Service Director Financial Services, Chief Internal Auditor and the Head 
of Resilience. Dependent on the subject matter on the agendas, other officers will attend in addition to 
external representation from the Councils' External Auditors. 

KEY ACTIVITIES AND TRAINING DURING THE MUNICIPAL YEAR

Background

The Audit Committee's original terms of reference covers 7 main areas:

- Internal Audit
- Internal Control and Corporate Governance
- Annual Accounts
- Risk management
- External Audit
- Counter Fraud and Irregularities
- Members Code of Conduct

264



Internal Audit

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

2.2.1.1 To consider the annual report and opinion of the Corporate Director Resources and a summary 
of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of assurance it can give over the 
council's corporate governance arrangements. 

2.2.1.2 To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested. 

2.2.1.3 To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of the providers of internal 
audit services. 

2.2.1.4 To consider a report from internal audit on agreed recommendations not implemented within 
a reasonable timescale 

2.2.1.9 To commission work from internal and external audit. 

2.2.1.15 To consider the council's arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing necessary 
actions to ensure compliance with best practice. 

26 June 2017

● Capital and Treasury Outturn Report. The report is submitted each year, as part of the financial 
reporting cycle. The purpose of the report was for the Audit Committee to consider the 2016/17 
capital outturn and adherence to prudential indicators.

● Annual Audit Opinion. Internal Audit produces an Annual Audit Plan which forms the basis of their 
audit activity. Progress is noted throughout the year and an independent annual report is produced 
highlighting assurances obtained across the organisation as well as any misgivings into the 
effectiveness of controls. The report also sets out the teams’ performance. Where standards have 
not been maintained across the Council, Audit Committee are provided with Executive Summaries of 
Audit reports for further scrutiny. Internal Audit concluded that they were able to provide reasonable 
assurance based on the work reviewed in the year.

20 November 2017

● Internal Audit Mid-Year Opinion. The Audit Committee received a half year progress report 
highlighting internal audit performance against targets and quality assurance results to enable it to 
review and comment on the work and performance of internal audit. Any areas reviewed which are 
considered to be weak or requiring attention following Internal Audit activity can result in officers 
from across the Council being held to account. 

12 February 2018

 Internal Audit Plan 2018/19 Planning Approach and emerging themes. The Audit Committee noted 
the proposed work for internal audit in 2018/19

Internal Control and Corporate Governance

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

2.2.1.1 To consider the annual report and opinion of the Corporate Director Resources and a 

265



summary of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of assurance it can give 
over the council's corporate governance arrangements. 

2.2.1.5 To consider the external auditor's annual letter, relevant reports, and the report to those 
charged with governance. 

Regulatory Framework 

2.2.1.10 To maintain an overview of the Council's constitution in respect of contract procedure rules, 
and Financial Regulations. 

2.2.1.11 To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive or a Director, or any Council body. 

2.2.1.14 To oversee the production of the authority's Annual Governance Statement and to 
recommend its adoption. 

2.2.1.15 To consider the council's arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing necessary 
actions to ensure compliance with best practice. 

  
26 June 2017

● Draft Annual Governance Statement. A key role of the Audit Committee is to oversee the Authority’s 
control environment and its associated system of internal controls and assurance processes. The 
Audit Committee must satisfy itself that the Authority’s assurance statements, in particular the 
Annual Governance Statement, properly reflect the risk environment and any actions needed to 
improve it. This is done through receiving and scrutinising reports on the relevant areas and calling 
officers to account where necessary.

● Audit Committee reviewed the draft Annual Governance Statement on 26 June 2017. The Committee 
agreed to final changes to the Statement prior to its inclusion in the Statement of Accounts.

● Updates to the Constitution. The Audit Committee received a report on updates to the Council’s 
constitution, following referral from the Member, Officer Working Group (now Governance Board). 
The report sought the Committee’s views on proposed amendments and updates to the Council’s 
constitution, including Regulatory Committee Functions, Standing Orders, and Petitions Scheme. 
Members requested that the call-in for Planning Applications was less harsh and re-worded before 
being submitted to Council for approval.

25 September 2017

 Treasury Management Mid-Year update. The Committee received an update on the Treasury 
Management. In addition the Committee also noted the approval of use of loans within the officer’s 
delegation scheme.

20 November 2017

 Consultation on 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy. The Committee were provided a draft 
narrative of the Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19 to for comment and input on Treasury 
Management policies before receipt of a completed revised version in February 2018 once the 
Capital Programme for the next 10 years is agreed.

● Use of Consultants. Following the review of consultants used by the Council in 2010 it was 
recommended and agreed that Audit Committee would monitor progress. The Committee received 
an update in November 2016. Following the update members agreed to raise items of interest in 

266



relation to the hourly payment rate of consultants with the Service Director Financial who would 
provide further feedback.  

12 February 2018

 Consultation on 2018/19 Treasury Management Strategy. The Audit Committee received a more 
finalised version of the Treasury Management Strategy that was to be presented to Full Council in 
March 2018. The Audit Committee noted and approved the strategy.

 Consultation on 2018/19 Asset Management Strategy. The Audit Committee received a report on the 
Asset Investment Strategy. The Committee approved the strategy before approval at Full Council in 
March 2018.

 Uncollectable Debts in excess of £10,000. The Audit Committee noted the uncollectable debts and 
welcomed more frequent reports in the future.

Annual Accounts

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

Accounts 

2.2.1.16 To review the annual statement of accounts, specifically, to consider whether appropriate 
accounting policies have been followed and whether there are concerns arising from the 
financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of the council. 

2.2.1.17 To consider the external auditors report to those charged with governance on issues arising 
from the audit of the accounts. 

26 June 2017

● Draft Statement of Accounts for the Year ended 31 March 2017. The Audit Committee reviewed and 
the Statement of Account on 26 June 2017 prior to its submission to the external auditors for audit. 
The Committee reviewed and commented on the Statement of Accounts prior to the Chief Finance 
Officer’s (Sec 151 Officer) certification by the 30 June 2017. 

25 September 2017

● Following scrutiny by External Audit, the Audit of Statement of Accounts and Report to those charged 
with Governance was submitted to the Audit Committee.  The Committee received and approved the 
“Report to those charged with governance (ISA260) 2016/17 Audit” from Ernst & Young LLP, the 
Council’s external auditors; and received and approved the audited Statement of Accounts 2016/17.

20 November 2017

● Impact of changed Statutory deadline for approval of statement of accounts. The Committee agreed 
and noted the change of date to sign off the statement of accounts had moved to May 31. This means 
that the Audit Committee meeting in June 2018 will now be held in July 2018.

Risk Management

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

267



Regulatory Framework 

2.2.1.12 To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate 
governance in the council. 

20 November 2017

● Risk Management Strategic Risk.  Audit Committee received a report of the strategic risks impact on 
the Council and the mitigating actions to address these.  At the meeting the Committee were 
informed that a new working group was being headed by the Corporate Director Growth and 
Regeneration.

External Audit 

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

2.2.1.5 To consider the external auditor's annual letter, relevant reports, and the report to those 
charged with governance. 

2.2.1.6 To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor. 

2.2.1.7 To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives value for 
money. 

2.2.1.8 To liaise with the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) over the appointment of the 
council's external auditor. 

2.2.1.9 To commission work from internal and external audit. 

26 June 2017

● Audit Fees 2016/17. The Audit Committee considered the proposed Audit Fees for 2017/18. The 
Audit Committee noted and commented on the proposed fees in keeping with previous years fees.

● Ernst & Young Verbal update. The Audit Committee received a short update on the work of the 
external auditors. The Committee noted the planned work for the year 2017/18.

25 September 2017

● Response to Public Sector Audit Appointments Proposal to Ernst & Young as external auditors for 5 
years from 2018/19. The Committee were asked to confirm the appointment of Ernst & Young as 
external auditors for a period of five years from 2018/19.

20 November 2017

 Ernst & Young Annual Audit Letter for year end 31 March 2017. The Committee received a report 
on the annual findings letter of the external auditors.

 Ernst & Young progress report. The Audit Committee noted the progress made by the external 
auditors for the year 2017/18.

12 February 2018

● External Audit Plan for end March 2018. The Audit Committee received a report outlining the Audit 

268



Plan for Ernst and Young for end of March 2018. Members noted the report and agreed to the 
work carried out.

 Certification of claims and returns annual report. Audit Committee scrutinised and endorsed the 
Annual Audit and Inspection Letter in respect of 2016 / 2017 and Annual Grant Claims Certification. 

Counter Fraud & Irregularities

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

Regulatory Framework 

2.2.1.13 To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate 
governance in the council. 

26 June 2017

● Fraud and Investigations Team Annual Report. Audit Committee received an annual report 
highlighting counter fraud and irregularity work over the previous year. The Committee’s review of 
the work and performance of the counter fraud team showed strong support and interest and 
requested to be provided with regular updates in terms of team resources. 

26 June 2016 / 22 September 2016 / 21 November 2016 / 27 March 2017

● Use of Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA). At its meeting held on 24 March 2014, 
Audit Committee considered and agreed an alternative reporting mechanism which introduced a 
standing information item on each Audit Committee agenda in respect of the Use of Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA).  This meant that only when the RIPA power was utilised by PCC 
would there be a report presented to Audit Committee.  To date there has been no RIPA use to report 
to Audit Committee. Ultimately, this change in reporting mechanism has permitted the Committee 
to work more efficiently and has avoided the presentation of repetitive reports.

12 February 2018

 Use of Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA). The Committee noted that RIPA had been 
used for surveillance cameras at a known fly-tipping point. The Committee noted that nothing had 
been filmed during the surveillance period.

2.2.1 Terms of Reference 

Regulatory Framework 

2.2.1.1
0
To maintain an overview of the Council’s constitution with the exception of those matters 
under the remit of the Executive or a regulatory committee.

Member Code of Conduct

2.2.1.18 Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors and co-opted members;

2.2.1.19 Assisting the Councillors and co-opted members to observe the Code of Conduct;

2.2.1.20 Advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Code of Conduct;

2.2.1.21 Monitoring the operation of the Code of Conduct;

269



2.2.1.22 Advising, training or arranging to train Councillors and co-opted members on matters relating to 
  the Code of Conduct

 

2.2.2 Terms of Reference of the Hearing Panel (Sub-committee to the Audit Committee)

The Hearings Panel is a sub-committee of the Audit Committee. The Panel has the following 
functions:

1) When matters are referred by the Monitoring Officer granting dispensations to Councillors and 
co-opted members allowing them to (a) participate in the debate and / or (b) vote on any 
matter in which they have a disclosable pecuniary interest;

2) On matters being referred by the Monitoring Officer deciding whether complaints concerning 
members should be investigated;

3) Hearing complaints that have been referred to them by the Monitoring Officer pursuant to the 
Complaints procedure;

4) The agreement of relevant procedures for the undertaking of its functions, when appropriate 
to be included within the Constitution

Code of Conduct Complaints

During the Civic year 2017/18 there were seven Council and one Parish council complaints received under 
the code of conduct.

Training

Throughout the year, the provision of ongoing training to Members has been the cornerstone of developing 
Members (new and existing). During the year, officers provided presentations on:

● The preparation and scrutiny of the Statement of Accounts and the impact of International Financial 
Reporting Standards on these;

● General overview of the committee covering Information Governance; Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act (RIPA); Risk Management; Code of Conduct; and Whistleblowing.

● Ernst and Young have run two conferences for Audit Committee Members across the East of England 
regions.

 
In addition, members have access to a committee handbook which provides additional support / information.
 
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS AND PLANS FOR 2018 / 2019

Overall, the Audit Committee want to continue to develop and build on our current achievements. For 2018 
/ 2019 and this will involve:

● Continuing to drive up standards of corporate governance;
● Continuing to equip existing and any new Members to fulfil the Audit Committee’s responsibilities 

by providing or facilitating training on all aspects of the Audit Committee's remit;
● Assisting and supporting officers to promote the work of the Audit Committee and the roles of 

internal audit, external audit and risk management;
● Supporting the continued production of high quality and compliant statutory accounts;
● Helping to further increase awareness within the Council of its governance arrangements, with 

particular emphasis on information and tackling fraud and corruption; and
● Providing effective challenge to officers, raising awareness for sound internal control arrangements 

and giving assurance to the Authority that its control arrangements are sound.

270



Annex A
2.2 AUDIT COMMITTEE: TERMS OF REFERENCE2

 

2.2.1  Terms of Reference

2.2.1.1  To consider the annual report and opinion of the Corporate Director Resources and a summary 
of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of assurance it can give over the 
Council's corporate governance arrangements.

2.2.1.2   To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested.

2.2.1.3   To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of the providers of internal 
audit services.

2.2.1.4   To consider a report from internal audit on agreed recommendations not implemented within a 
reasonable timescale.

2.2.1.5  To consider the external auditor's annual letter, relevant reports, and the report to those charged 
with governance.

2.2.1.6   To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.

2.2.1.7   To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives value for 
money.

2.2.1.8   To liaise with the Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) over the appointment of the 
council's external auditor.

2.2.1.9   To commission work from internal and external audit.

 

Regulatory Framework 

2.2.1.10 To maintain an overview of the Council’s constitution with the exception of those matters 
under the remit of the Executive or a regulatory committee.

2.2.1.11 To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive or a Director, or any Council body.

2.2.1.12 To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate 
governance in the council.

2.2.1.13 To monitor Council policies on "raising concerns at work" and the anti-fraud and anti-
corruption strategy and the Council's complaints process.

2.2.1.14 To oversee the production of the authority's Statement on Internal Control and to recommend 
its adoption.

2.2.1.15 To consider the Council's arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing necessary 
actions to ensure compliance with best practice.

Accounts

2.2.1.16 To review the annual statement of accounts, specifically, to consider whether appropriate 
accounting policies have been followed and whether there are concerns arising from the 
financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of the council.

2.2.1.17 To consider the external auditors report to those charged with governance on issues arising 
from the audit of the accounts.

2 (Source: Constitution: Part 3, Delegations Section 2 - Regulatory Committee functions. Approved Annual Council) 

271



 

        Member Code of Conduct

2.2.1.18 Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors and co-opted members;

2.2.1.19 Assisting the Councillors and co-opted members to observe the Code of Conduct;

2.2.1.20 Advising the Council on the adoption or revision of the Code of Conduct;

2.2.1.21 Monitoring the operation of the Code of Conduct;

2.2.1.22 Advising, training or arranging to train Councillors and co-opted members on matters relating to 
the Code of Conduct

2.2.2 Terms of Reference of the Hearing Panel (Sub-committee to the Audit Committee)

The Hearings Panel is a sub-committee of the Audit Committee. The Panel has the following 
functions:

1) When matters are referred by the Monitoring Officer granting dispensations to Councillors and 
co-opted members allowing them to (a) participate in the debate and / or (b) vote on any matter 
in which they have a disclosable pecuniary interest;

2) On matters being referred by the Monitoring Officer deciding whether complaints concerning 
members should be investigated;

3) Hearing complaints that have been referred to them by the Monitoring Officer pursuant to the 
Complaints procedure;

4) The agreement of relevant procedures for the undertaking of its functions, when appropriate to 
be included within the Constitution

272



AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 15

26 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Councillor Aitken, Chair of Audit Committee
Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Seaton, Resources Portfolio Holder

Contact Officer(s): Dan Kalley, Senior Democratic Services Officer Tel. 296334

FEEDBACK REPORT

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S

     It is recommended that Audit Committee:

1. Note the Feedback Report and work completed since the last meeting

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This is a standard report to Audit Committee which forms part of its agreed work programme.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 This standard report provides feedback on items considered or questions asked at previous 
meetings of the Committee. It also provides an update on any specific matters which are of 
interest to the Committee or where Committee have asked to be kept informed of progress.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

3.1 There are none.

Legal Implications

3.2 There are none.

Equalities Implications

3.3 There are none.

4. APPENDICES

4.1 Appendix A - Feedback report

273



This page is intentionally left blank

274



APPENDIX A
AUDIT COMMITTEE: RECORD OF ACTION TAKEN

MUNICIPAL YEAR: MAY 2017 - APRIL 2018

AGENDA ITEM ACTION ARISING OFFICER 
RESPONSIBLE

ACTION TAKEN ACTION 
RAISED

SIGN OFF 
DATE

Consultation on 
2018/19 Treasury 
Management 
Strategy

Members of the Audit Committee to be invited to sit 
on any Capital Review Group once it was expanded 
further than the present Officer base.

Peter Carpenter Members to be 
informed once group 
is ready to be 
established

TBC

Use of Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers 
Act 2000 (RIPA)

To ascertain the cost of using RIPA and cameras for 
the fly-tipping investigation.

Ben Stevenson To be circulated to 
members

Before next 
meeting

275



T
his page is intentionally left blank

276


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 12 February 2018
	4 External Audit Progress Report
	EY Audit Progress Report March 2018

	5 Sector Update (2018 Q1 Audit Committee Briefing)
	Q1 2018 ACB LG with key question print final

	6 Changes to Constitution
	Appendix 1A - Part 5 Section 9 - Petition Scheme
	Appendix 1B - Petition Debate Flow Chart
	Item 6 - Appendix 2 - Part 4 Section 1 - Council Standing Orders
	Item 6 - Appendix 3 - Part 5 Section 11 - Combined Authority Questioning Protocol
	Item 6 - Appendix 4 - Part 5 Section 3 - Member Officer Protocols

	7 Consultant, Interim and Agency Worker Policy
	Key changes within the revised Consultant, Interim and Agency Worker Policy
	Consultant, Interim and Agency Worker Policy FINAL DRAFT
	Item 7 - Appendix A - Engagement of a Consultant
	Item 7 - Appendix B - Agency Worker

	8 Risk Management - Strategic Risks
	Item 8 - Appendix A - RISK Management Board - Terms of Reference - JAN 2018

	9 Internal Audit Strategy, Charter and Audit Plan
	Item 9 - APP A Audit Charter
	Item 9 - IA Plans - APP B Code of Ethics
	Item 9 - IA Plans - APP C Strategy
	Item 9 - IA Plans - APP D Plan

	10 Review of Committee Effectiveness
	Item 10 - APP A Key Attributes
	Item 10 - APP B Compliance Assessment (1)
	Item 10 - APP C Knowledge and Skills Framework (1)

	11 Counter Fraud Policies
	Item 11 - APP A AFC Strategy v1.03 (1)
	Item 11 - APP B AFC Policy
	Item 11 - APP C Money Laundering Policy v1.02 (1)
	Item 11 - APP D Sanction & Prosecution Policy-Blue Badges & Parking Permits FINAL
	Item 11 - APP E Sanction & Prosecution Policy-Council Tax & Business Rates
	Item 11 - APP F Checklist
	Item 11 -  APP G CIPFA Report 2017

	12 Annual Audit Committee Report
	Chairman Annual Report 1718 Appendix 1

	15 Feedback Report
	Item 15 - Feedback report - appendix A.doc




